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EXPLORING THE BALANCE BETWEEN
INCREASED CREDIT AVAILABILITY
AND PRUDENT LENDING STANDARDS

Wednesday, March 25, 2009

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES,
Washington, D.C.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:05 a.m., in room
2128, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Barney Frank [chair-
man of the committee] presiding.

Members present: Representatives Frank, Gutierrez, Watt, Sher-
man, Moore of Kansas, Baca, Scott, Green, Cleaver, Ellison, Klein,
Wilson, Perlmutter, Foster, Speier, Driehaus, Kosmas, Himes;
Bachus, Castle, Manzullo, Jones, Biggert, Neugebauer, Bachmann,
Marchant, Posey, Paulsen, and Lance.

The CHAIRMAN. The hearing will come to order.

Members of this committee, as well as other Members of Con-
gress, have been urging people in the banking system to increase
the volume of loans. We hear from some of our constituents that
they are not able to get loans that they think would be very helpful
economically. And as obvious as we have said, the economy doesn’t
recover until the credit system does.

Essentially, we have had a situation in which borrowers have
complained about some of the banks. Banks have in turn com-
plained about the regulators and we are here in one room sequen-
tially. I would hope that our friends on the regulatory panel will
be able to stay themselves, or through staff, hear what some of the
bankers have said. And I assume they have read the testimony.

You know, I don’t think there’s a matter of ill will. I call it the
“mixed message” hearing, because I think it is. We do tell the regu-
lators two things: one, tell people to make loans; and, two, tell peo-
ple not to make loans. Now, they’re not supposed to be the same
loans, but there is this tension here. And it’s a particularly exacer-
bated tension now, because I think in normal times, the role of reg-
ulators is to make sure that bad loans aren’t made or to minimize
the likelihood. But, we’re not in a normal time now. We're in a time
where there is a clear problem making good loans. So it is impor-
tant that the ongoing important safety and soundness is the role
of the regulators, and diminishing the number of imprudent loans
coexists with the importance of making sure that loans are made
that should be made.

Now, part of the mixed message issue—and that is why Mr.
Kroeker is here from the SEC—has to do with the effect of mark-
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to-market accounting. We do not want to be post-cyclical, but we
also have that potential with regard, for instance, to assessments
at the FDIC. Now, some of that is inevitable. If more banks fail,
then the assessments go up. But if the assessments go up, some of
the banks, small banks, have less ability to lend.

It would be nice if we could simply abolish one or the other of
the conflicting objectives. We can’t. They are both important. So
what we then have to do is to make sure they are done in coordina-
tion with each other, and in particular with regard to the question
of lending standards, that we avoid the potential of there being
compartmentalization, in which some parts of the agencies are urg-
ing people to lend, and other parts are urging them not to. We need
to make sure that the same people are aware of the importance of
both of those.

We had a hearing in general on mark-to-market. It is of par-
ticular relevance, obviously, to banks, particularly to banks that
are holding securities long-term. We had a special problem brought
to our attention regarding mark-to-market with a couple of the
Federal Home Loan Bank regents. So we want to be able to ad-
dress that as well, and as I said, the purpose here is to make sure
that we can increase loans in an atmosphere of security and sound-
ness. And, I think, most importantly, demonstrate that those two
objectives are not in fact in conflict, but that they go together, that
we are capable of a sound banking system that produces an appro-
priate flow of credit without endangering the safety of the system.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Alabama.

Mr. BAcHUS. Thank you. I am going to yield to the gentleman
from Delaware.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Delaware is recognized for
1% minutes.

Mr. CASTLE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for your
opening statement, with which I agree. And, I agree that we need
to be careful about giving mixed messages, especially to our small-
er banks.

I recently heard, in fact it was yesterday, from a bank in my
State which has heard firsthand from leaders at the Federal Re-
serve encouraging them to continue lending, but they indicated in
real practice as regulators come around, they are actually being
discouraged from doing so for capital reasons, or whatever it may
be.

I am particularly interested in helping banks in my State—I am
from Delaware—get the word out that they are open for business
and able to lend to responsible borrowers. I think a lot of this issue
is local. We need to handle it that way. We need to be extremely
careful in our efforts here in assisting these institutions on one
hand, and then putting restrictions on their ability to conduct their
business with the other hand. And I think that applies to some of
the things we are doing in Congress as well, I might add.

Ultimately, I believe that this committee, Congress, and the Ad-
ministration share the goal of doing everything possible to restore
economic health, and this cannot be done without our financial in-
stitutions. We are all in this together, and I think we need to work
on it. I yield back the balance of my time.
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The CHAIRMAN. Next, I would take the gentleman from Florida,
Mr. Posey, for 1%2 minutes.

Mr. Posey. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. And if you
don’t mind, I would just like to echo a little bit of your comments
that you made when you opened. Many borrowers are having their
credit severely restricted, not because of any past history they had
or failure to repay it, and you know, really obvious apparent or
greatly increased risk, we would see to the lender. We are talking
about, you know, auto dealers throughout the country.

We are talking about the attractions industry, which is very im-
portant in our part of the country. We are talking about people’s
personal lines of credit, not just business models that rely on these
business loans, but personal lines of credit being apparently arbi-
trarily reduced that are putting people in an unintended lurch. And
I understand there is an uncertainty in the market until we get
this thing road-mapped out. And there is a way to measure and put
accountability into recovery program.

But, I hope in your remarks as you address here today that you
will address these issues and what you think needs to be done to
loosen that credit up. I have heard the numbers, that sitting on an
extra $800 billion, a lot of bail-out money has not been used. It’s
sitting there, and I can understand that if I was on the sidelines
and I was uncertain as to how I might be injured in this policy or
by this policy, I might be just a little bit reluctant to be any less
liquid than absolutely necessary. But, nonetheless, it’s incumbent
on us as the chairman mentioned, to do something to loosen that
market up, because it exacerbates the problem.

It doesn’t help the economy. It doesn’t help the problem; and, ul-
timately, it doesn’t help the bankers. I mean, I know you don’t
make any money if you’re not using it to make money. And so that
goes for our businesses and our families back home. So I would ap-
preciate it if when you make your presentations, you would each
be kind of enough to touch on that so we don’t need to ask for writ-
ten responses from you later.

Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Alabama.

Mr. BacHus. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman, I think my major concern is the same as Mr. Cas-
tle and others have expressed, and that I have heard from many
constituents who are current on their loans but have had their
lines of credit cut or their fees increased, or their interest rates.

Today’s hearing, I hope, will help us understand why this is hap-
pening. Their bankers are on occasion saying that the regulators
are encouraging them to pull these loans back. In one instance I
have heard of a businessman in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, who had
never defaulted on a loan, and had done business with a bank for
30 years. He was not behind on any of his payments, yet he was
told that he was going to have to reduce his line of credit by either
10 or 20 percent.

We hear this almost on a weekly basis. These people have not
defaulted, and what that does is it causes further disruption, be-
cause they have to go out some time and liquidate properties or as-
sets at a loss. And there is actually a growing anger from these
same people; and, this is Main Street, that they see our Federal
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Government spending billions and hundreds of billions of dollars
through the Fed and the Treasury to bail out or intervene on be-
half of some of our too-large-to-fail institutions.

And this really, I think, makes a lot of us angry and frustrated,
that at the same time as we see our government and our Federal
agencies intervening to prop up some of our too-big-to-fail institu-
tions, because we are told there is a systemic threat to our econ-
omy—their having bank loans who are current or lines of credit
who are current, or even interest rates increased when they are
current—and they are not failing. And, let me tell you there is a
systemic risk, because that is occurring every day across America
in almost every town.

There is also a growing perception, I think much of it justified,
that the larger institutions are being favored over the smaller insti-
tutions. Chairman Frank and I were some of the first who proposed
the capital injections. At the time we did that, we said we wanted
it to go to healthy institutions. We wanted the focus to be on re-
warding those institutions that had not endangered the economy,
were not at risk.

We wanted our healthy institutions to participate, not just failing
institutions or institutions that were having extreme liquidity prob-
lems. The capital injection program, I think, has been tremen-
dously biased against our smaller institutions. At the same time we
are giving money to AIG, or giving money to a large institution be-
cause it’s having solvency problems, we are telling our smaller in-
stitutions that they are not stable enough to receive money.

Now, the large institutions get it because they are failing. The
smaller institutions, which are better off and sometimes are being
told that they cannot get the money, or small institutions which
are not failing are still waiting in line. We started with the largest
institutions and we are still moving down. And what I am hearing
is that some of that money is still being kept back, because it may
be needed on an ad hoc basis to save some large institution. When
it seems to me like the regulators are finding reasons to say no to
our smaller institutions and our regional banks, I believe it is time
for the Federal regulators to turn a lot of their attention to helping
our regional or small institutions when 95 percent of the effort is
made on a few, too-big-to-fail institutions and also mark-to-market.
I am very interested in that.

That doesn’t require government funding or government inter-
vention. I hear every day from small, medium-sized, and large
banks, and even executives of large insurance companies, the big-
gest insurance companies in this country, that it is a problem. And
I hope the regulators will continue to work with us and the SEC
to get FASB to give the relief that all of us have recommended to
them.

Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN. Thank you.

And, like you said, they had one particular issue. Several of us
were in Massachusetts on Monday on a similar-type hearing. We
heard about it a couple of nights ago. It is in Massachusetts, New
York, and some other places. We have the mutual savings bank
form; and, to date, there is not even a term sheet for them to be
able to get funding. And if you have seen this morning’s “Wash-
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ington Post,” Business Section, there is a picture of me showing
something to Secretary Geithner. It is a memo saying that it really
is important that the term sheet be out from mutual savings
banks, and we believe that will be happening soon.

With that, we will proceed now with our panel, and we will begin
with a frequent and always welcome witness who has always been
very cooperative, and someone who brings her own private banking
experience to her current position as a member of the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve. And I think for fans of
“Doonesbury,” it’s always interesting when we introduce Governor
Duke.

[laughter]

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH A. DUKE, GOV-
ERNOR, BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE
SYSTEM

Ms. DUKE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus, and members of the
committee, I am pleased to be here today to discuss several issues
related to the state of the banking system. As you are all well
aware, the Federal Reserve is taking significant steps to improve
financial market conditions and has worked with the Treasury and
other bank and thrift supervisors to address issues at U.S. banking
organizations.

We remain attentive to the need for banks to remain in sound
financial condition, while at the same time to continue lending pru-
dently to creditworthy borrowers. Indeed, the shutdown of most
securitization markets and the evaporation of many types of non-
bank credit make it that much important right now for the U.S.
banking system to be able to carry out the credit intermediation
function.

Recent data confirm severe strains on parts of the U.S. banking
system. During 2008, profitability measures at U.S. commercial
banks and bank holding companies deteriorated dramatically. In-
deed, commercial banks posted a substantial, aggregate loss for the
fourth quarter of 2008, the first time this has happened since the
late 1980’s. This loss in large part reflected write-downs on trading
assets, high goodwill impairment charges, and, most significantly,
increased loan loss provisions.

With respect to overall credit conditions, past experience has
shown that borrowing by households and nonfinancial businesses
has tended to slow during economic downturns. However, in the
current case, the slow down in private sector debt growth during
the past year has been much more pronounced than in previous
downturns, not just for high mortgage debt, but also consumer debt
and debt of the business sector.

In terms of direct lending by banks, Federal Reserve data show
that total bank loans and leases increased modestly in 2008 below
the higher pace of growth seen in both 2006 and 2007. Addition-
ally, the Federal Reserve Senior Loan Officer Opinion Survey on
Banking Practices has shown that banks have been tightening
lending standards over the past 18 months.

The most recent survey data also show the demand for loans for
businesses and households continue to weaken on balance. Despite
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the numerous changes to the financial landscape during the past
half-century, such as the large increase in the flow of credit coming
from non-bank sources, banks remain vital financial inter-
mediaries. In addition to direct lending, banks supply credit indi-
rectly by providing back-up liquidity and credit support to other fi-
nancial institutions and conduits that also intermediate credit
flows.

In terms of direct bank lending, much of the increase last year
likely reflected households and businesses drawing down existing
lines of credit rather than extensions of loans to new customers.
Some of these draw-downs by households and businesses were pre-
cipitated by the freeze-up of the securitization markets.

The Federal Reserve has responded forcefully to the financial
and economic crisis on many fronts. In addition to monetary policy
easing, the Federal Reserve has initiated a number of lending pro-
grams to revive financial markets and to help banks play their im-
portant role as financial intermediaries. Among these initiatives
are the purchase of large amounts of agency debt and mortgage-
backed securities; plans to purchase long-term Treasury securities;
other efforts including the Term Asset-backed Securities Loan Fa-
cility known as TALF to facilitate the extension of credit to house-
holds and small businesses; and, the Federal Reserve’s planned in-
volvement in the Treasury’s Public-Private Partnership Investment
Program, announced on Monday.

The Federal Reserve has also been active on the supervisory
front to bring about improvements in banks’ risk-management
practices. Liquidity and capital have been given special attention.
That said, we do realize that there must be an appropriate balance
between our supervisory actions and the promotion of credit avail-
ability to assist in the economic recovery. The Federal Reserve has
long-standing policies and procedures in place to help maintain
such a balance. We have also reiterated this message of balance in
recent interagency statements.

We have directed our examiners to be mindful of the procyclical
effects of excessive credit tightening and to encourage banks to
make economically viable loans, provided that such lending is
based on realistic asset valuations and a balanced assessment of
borrowers’ repayment capacities.

The U.S. banking industry is facing serious challenges. The Fed-
eral Reserve, working with other banking agencies, has acted and
will continue to act to ensure that the banking system remains safe
and sound and is able to meet the credit needs of our economy.

The challenge for regulators and other authorities is to support
prudent bank intermediation that helps restore the health of the
financial system and the economy as a whole. As we have commu-
nicated, we want banks to deploy capital and liquidity to make
credit available, but in a responsible way that avoids past mistakes
and does not create new ones.

Accordingly, we thank the committee for holding this hearing to
help clarify the U.S. banking agencies’ message that both safety
and soundness and credit availability are important in the current
environment.

I look forward to your questions.
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[The prepared statement of Governor Duke can be found on page
82 of the appendix.]

The CHAIRMAN. Thank you.

Mr. Gruenberg.

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE MARTIN J. GRUENBERG,
VICE CHAIRMAN, FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORA-
TION (FDIC)

Mr. GRUENBERG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify on behalf of the FDIC
on the balance between increased credit availability and prudent
lending standards.

The FDIC is very aware of the challenges faced by financial insti-
tutions and their customers during these difficult economic times.
Bankers and examiners know that prudent, responsible lending is
good business and benefits everyone. Adverse credit conditions
brought on by an ailing economy and stressed balance sheets, how-
ever, have created a difficult environment for both borrowers and
lenders. Resolving the current economic crisis will depend heavily
on creditworthy borrowers, both consumer and business, having ac-
cess to lending.

In response to these challenging circumstances, banks are clearly
taking more care in evaluating applications for credit. While this
more prudent approach to underwriting is appropriate, it should
not mean that creditworthy borrowers are denied loans. As bank
supervisors, we have a responsibility to assure our institutions,
regularly and clearly, that soundly structured and underwritten
loans are encouraged.

While aggregate lending activity for FDIC-insured institutions
fell in the fourth quarter of 2008, this decline was driven mostly
by the largest banks, which reported a 3.4 percent fall in loan bal-
ances. In contrast, lending activity at community banks with assets
under $1 billion actually increased by 1.5 percent.

Community banks are playing an important role in the current
stressful environment and appear to be benefiting from their reli-
ance on traditional core deposit funding and relationship lending.
Some have questioned whether bank supervisors are contributing
to adverse credit conditions by overreacting to current problems in
the economy and discouraging banks from making good loans.

The FDIC understands the critical role that credit availability
plays in the national economy and we balance these considerations
with prudential safety and soundness requirements. Over the past
year, through guidance, the examination process and other means,
we have sought to encourage banks to maintain the availability of
credit. We have also trained our examiners on how to properly
apply this guidance at the institutions we supervise and how to
conduct examinations and communicate their findings to bank
management without infringing on bank management’s day-to-day
decisionmaking and relationships with customers.

The FDIC has taken a number of recent actions specifically de-
signed to address concerns about credit availability. On November
12th of last year, we joined with the other Federal banking agen-
cies in issuing the “Interagency Statement on Meeting the Needs
of Creditworthy Borrowers.” The statement encourages banks to
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continue making loans in their markets, work with borrowers who
may be encountering difficulties, and pursue initiatives such as
loan modifications to prevent unnecessary foreclosures.

Recently, the FDIC hosted a roundtable discussion with banking
industry representatives and Federal and State bank regulators fo-
cusing on how they can work together to improve credit avail-
ability. One of the important points that came out of the session
was the need for ongoing dialogue between these groups as they
work toward a solution to the current financial crisis. Toward this
end, FDIC Chairman Bair announced last week that the FDIC is
creating a new, senior level office to expand community bank out-
reach, and plans to establish an advisory committee to address the
unique concerns of this segment of the banking community.

On January 12th of this year, the FDIC issued a Financial Insti-
tution Letter advising insured institutions that they should track
the use of their capital injections, liquidity support, and/or financ-
ing guarantees obtained through recent financial stability pro-
grams as part of a process for determining how these Federal pro-
grams improve the stability of the institution and contribute to
lending to the community. Internally at the FDIC, we have issued
guidance to our examiners for evaluating participating banks’ use
of funds received through the TARP Capital Purchase Program and
the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program. Examination guide-
lines for the new Public/Private Investment Fund will be forth-
coming.

Banks should be encouraged to make good loans, work with bor-
rowers who are experiencing difficulties whenever possible, avoid
unnecessary foreclosures, and continue to ensure that the credit
needs of their communities are fulfilled. In concert with other agen-
cies, the FDIC is employing a range of strategies to ensure that
credit continues to flow on sound terms to creditworthy borrowers.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify. I would be happy to an-
swer any questions.

[The prepared statement of Vice Chairman Gruenberg can be
found on page 97 of the appendix.]

The CHAIRMAN. Next, Mr. Polakoff.

STATEMENT OF SCOTT M. POLAKOFF, ACTING DIRECTOR,
OFFICE OF THRIFT SUPERVISION (OTS)

Mr. POLAKOFF. Good morning, Chairman Frank, Ranking Mem-
ber Bachus, and members of the committee.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify on behalf of OTS on
finding the right balance between ensuring safety and soundness
of U.S. financial institutions and ensuring that adequate credit is
available to creditworthy consumers and businesses.

Available credit and prudent lending are both critical to our Na-
tion and its economic wellbeing. Neither one can be sacrificed at
the expense of the other, so striking the proper balance is key. I
understand why executives of financial institutions feel they are re-
ceiving mixed messages from regulators.

We want our regulated institutions to lend, but we want them
to lend in a safe and sound manner.

I would like to make three points about why lending has de-
clined: number one, the need for prudent underwriting. During the
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recent housing boom, credit was extended to too many borrowers
who lacked the ability to repay their loans. For home mortgages,
some consumers received loans based on introductory teaser rates,
unfounded expectations that home prices would continue to sky-
rocket, inflated income figures, or other underwriting practices that
were not as prudent as they should have been. Given this recent
history, some tightening in credit is expected and needed.

Number two, the need for additional capital and loan loss re-
serves. Financial institutions are adding to their loan loss reserves
and augmenting capital to ensure an acceptable risk profile. These
actions strain an institution’s ability to lend, but they are nec-
essary due to a deterioration in asset quality and increases in de-
linquencies and charge-offs for mortgages, credit cards, and other
types of lending.

Number three, declines in consumer confidence and demand for
loans. Because of the recession, many consumers are reluctant to
borrow for homes, cars, or other major purchases. In large part,
they are hesitant to spend money on anything beyond daily neces-
sities. Also, rising job losses are making some would-be borrowers
unable to qualify for loans.

Steep slides in the stock market have reduced many consumers’
ability to make downpayments for home loans and drain con-
sumers’ financial strength. Dropping home prices are cutting into
home equity. In reaction to their declining financial net worth,
many consumers are trying to shore-up their finances by spending
less and saving more. Given these forces, the challenges ensuring
that the pendulum does not swing too far by restricting credit
availability to an unhealthy level, I would like to offer four sugges-
tions for easing the credit crunch:

Number one: Prioritize Federal assistance. Government pro-
grams such as TARP could prioritize assistance for institutions
that show a willingness to be active lenders. The OTS is already
collecting information from thrifts applying for TARP money on
how they plan to use the funds. As you know, the OTS makes
TARP recommendations to the Treasury Department. The Treasury
makes the final decision.

Number two: Explore ways to meet institutions’ liquidity needs.
Credit availability is key to the lending operations of banks and
thrifts. The Federal Government has already taken significant
steps to bolster liquidity through programs such as the Capital
Purchase Program under TARP, the Commercial Paper Funding
Facility, the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program, and the
Term Asset-backed Securities Loan Facility.

Number three: Use the power of supervisory guidance. For OTS-
regulated thrifts, total loan originations and purchases declined
about 11 percent from 2007 to 2008. However, several categories of
loans, such as consumer and commercial business loans, and non-
residential and multi-family mortgages increased during this pe-
riod. The OTS and the other Federal banking regulators issued an
“Inter-agency Statement on Meeting the Needs of Creditworthy
Borrowers” in November 2008. It may be too soon to judge the ef-
fectiveness of the statement.

And, number four: Employ countercyclical regulation. Regulators
should consider issuing requirements that are countercyclical, such
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as lowering loan to value ratios during economic upswings. Con-
versely, in difficult economic times, when home prices are not ap-
preciating, regulators could permit loan to value ratios to rise,
thereby making home loans available.

Also, regulators could require financial institutions to build their
capital and loan lost reserve during good economic times, making
them better positioned to make resources available for lending
when times are tough.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I look forward to answering your
questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Polakoff can be found on page
163 of the appendix.]

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Long?

STATEMENT OF TIMOTHY W. LONG, SENIOR DEPUTY COMP-
TROLLER, BANK SUPERVISION POLICY, AND CHIEF NA-
TIONAL BANK EXAMINER, OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
OF THE CURRENCY (0CC)

Mr. LoNG. Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus and mem-
bers of the committee, my name is Tim Long. I am the Senior Dep-
uty Comptroller for Bank Supervision Policy at the OCC. I appre-
ciate this opportunity to discuss the OCC’s role in ensuring banks
remain safe and sound, while at the same time meet the credit
needs of their communities and customers.

The last few months have underscored the importance of credit
availability and prudent lending to our Nation’s economy. Recent
actions to provide facilities and programs to help banks strengthen
their balance sheets and restore liquidity to various credit seg-
ments are important steps in restoring our banking system and we
support these initiatives.

Nonetheless, the current economic environment poses significant
challenges to banks and their loan customers that we and bankers
must address. As a bank examiner for nearly 30 years, I have expe-
rienced firsthand the importance of the dynamics between bankers
and examiners during periods of market and credit stress. One of
the most important lessons I have learned is the need to effectively
communicate with bankers about the problems facing their institu-
tions and how we expect them to confront those problems without
exacerbating the situation.

Delay or denial about conditions by bankers or regulators is not
an effective strategy. It only makes things worse. Against that
backdrop, here are some facts that bankers and regulators are fac-
ing today: First, asset quality in many bank loan portfolios is dete-
riorating. Non-performing loan levels are increasing. Borrowers
who could afford a loan when the economy is expanding are now
having problems repaying their loans. Increased levels of non-per-
forming loans will likely persist for some time before they work
through the banking system.

Second, bankers have appropriately become more selective in
their underwriting criteria for some types of loans. Where markets
are over-lent or borrowers overleveraged, this is both prudent and
appropriate.

Third, loan demand and loan growth have slowed. This is normal
in a recession. Consumers cut back on spending; businesses cut
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back on capital expenditures. What is profoundly different in this
cycle has been the complete shut-down of the securitization mar-
kets. Restoring these markets is a critical part of stabilizing and
revitalizing our financial system. Despite these obstacles, bankers
are making loans to creditworthy borrowers. The bankers I talk
with are committed to meeting the credit needs of their commu-
nities, and they recognize the critical role they play in the
wellbeing of our economy.

Simply put, banks have to lend money to make money. The
OCC’s mission is to ensure that national banks meet these needs
in a safe and sound manner. This requires a balance: supervise too
lightly, and some banks will make unsafe loans that can ultimately
cause them to fail; supervise too strictly, and some banks will be-
come too conservative and not make loans to creditworthy bor-
rowers.

We strive to get this balance right through strong and consistent
supervision. In the 1980’s, we waited too long to warn the industry
about excesses building up in the system which resulted in bankers
and regulators slamming on the brakes once the economy turned
down. Because of this lesson, we have taken a series of actions
starting as early as 2003 to alert bankers to the risks we were see-
ing and to direct them when needed to take corrective actions.

Today, our message to bankers is straightforward. Make loans
that you believe will be repaid, don’t make loans that are unlikely
to be repaid, and work constructively with borrowers who may be
facing difficulties with their obligations, but recognize repayment
problems and loans when you see them.

Contrary to some press reports, our examiners are not telling
bankers which loans to approve and which to deny. Rather, our
message to examiners is this: Take a balanced approach in your su-
pervision. Communicate concerns and expectations clearly and con-
sistently. Provide bankers a reasonable time to document and cor-
rect credit risk management weaknesses, but don’t hesitate to re-
quire corrective action when needed.

It is important to keep in mind that it is normal for our banks
to experience an increase in problem loan levels during economic
downturns. This should not preclude bankers from working with
borrowers to restructure or modify loans so foreclosure is avoidable
wherever possible.

When a workout is not feasible, and the bank is unlikely to be
repaid, examiners will direct bankers to have adequate reserves
and capital to absorb their loan losses. Finally, the reality is that
some community banks are so overextended in relation to capital
and reserves, the management needs to reduce the bank’s expo-
sures and concentrations to ensure the long-term viability of the
bank. In all of these cases, our goal is to work constructively with
bankers so that they can have the financial strength to meet the
credit needs of their communities and borrowers.

Thank you, and I will be happy to answer any questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Long can be found on page 132
of the appendix.]

The CHAIRMAN. Next, Mr. Kroeker, thank you for coming back;
probably to repeat yourself and answer the same questions, but we
appreciate it.
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STATEMENT OF JAMES L. KROEKER, ACTING CHIEF
ACCOUNTANT, U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Mr. KROEKER. Thank you.

Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus, and members of the
committee, I am Jim Kroeker, acting Chief Accountant in the Office
of the Chief Accountant, which advises the Commission on account-
ing and auditing matters.

I am pleased to testify today on behalf of the Commission. There
could be no doubt about the urgency of these issues as we work in
the public interest to address the global economic crisis. Two weeks
ago, I had the privilege of testifying in front of Chairman Kanjorski
and Ranking Member Garrett, and other members of this commit-
tee’s Capital Markets Subcommittee.

Many of the members of the full committee also attended that
very constructive and productive meeting herein. A good number of
items that are the subject of your invitation today are best ad-
dressed by my knowledgeable fellow regulators with me at the
table; however, I did wish to highlight a few items in my written
testimony. First, the objective of financial reporting and its inter-
action with banking capital; and, second, to provide an update on
the efforts to improve fair value accounting.

As to the first, we reaffirmed in our study to you on mark-to-
market accounting that the primary objective of general purpose fi-
nancial reporting should be and is to provide information that is
useful to investors and creditors. Well, this appears to be a funda-
mental principal. It is also important to reflect on why this has
been the wise and longstanding practice and policy of Federal secu-
rities laws since their inception 75 years ago.

First, investors generally can and do make decisions on a current
basis, necessitating relevant and reliable information about finan-
cial values and their prospects. Second, investors generally do not
have the ability to otherwise obtain information in a format specific
to their own use. Therefore, in evaluating investment decisions, in-
vestors are dependent upon financial reporting provided by man-
agement.

The securities law provides for this public good through the gen-
eral purpose financial reporting that has long been considered a
benefit to the economy and society. However, once this information
is provided, users of this information can then process it as they
deem fit for their own specific needs. For example, a credit investor
may place less emphasis on short-term volatility than an equity in-
vestor needing to make an investment decision in the near future.

Likewise, bank regulators have the similar ability to take GAAP-
reported financial information and adjust it for determining how
best to establish capital requirements for safety and soundness
purposes. And they have done so where it’s been deemed appro-
priate in the past.

For example, unrealized gains and losses on debt securities held
as available for sale, which are included in GAAP-based equity,
generally do not impact regulatory capital. I give several additional
examples in my written testimony.

That being said, our study to you on mark-to-market accounting
included recommendations to include but not suspend fair value ac-
counting for financial reporting purposes. Consistent with our own
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efforts and what we heard from and what was reinforced by the
members of this committee, the FASB has acted diligently to use
their expertise as an independent standard setter to respond with
two sets of proposed amendments.

The amendments were proposed on March 17th, with a 15-day
comment period. They are expected to be finalized in early April
and effective for first quarter financial reporting. First quarter re-
porting would represent a timely response to two of our studies’
most significant recommendations, and we are encouraged that the
FASB has taken advantage of this opportunity to act.

The first set of amendments would provide additional guidance
on the measure of securities in illiquid markets, while the second
would revise the accounting for what is referred to as other than
temporary security impairments. These proposals are now an im-
portant public comment period, and I encourage every one affected
to carefully consider them and whether they address the most
pressing practice issues, while also maintaining and enhancing in-
formation available to investors.

This has been and remains my number one priority. We have
been proactively reaching out to investor groups, to the accounting
profession, fellow regulators, and to industries most affected by the
FASB’s proposed amendments. And, of course, we are, as always,
in constant contact with the FASB, whom I understand are also en-
gaged in active dialogue with impacted market participants.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear here today, and I would
be pleased to respond to any questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Kroeker can be found on page
125 of the appendix.]

The CHAIRMAN. I will begin with Mr. Gruenberg.

The assessment question is one, obviously, we are focused on. I
hope I can reassure people to some extent. My understanding from
the Chair, Ms. Bair, and with the concurrence I know of the Board,
is if the Congress provides adequate additional lending authority so
that the FDIC will be well-positioned in the case of any unforeseen,
potential negatives, that the special assessment could be reduced
from the proposed 20 cents. Is that accurate?

Mr. GRUENBERG. Yes, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN. Well, do we know what levels we are talking
about?

Mr. GRUENBERG. We certainly can reduce them, we think per-
haps down to 10 basis points.

The CHAIRMAN. Secondly, then, and that’s very reassuring, the
other question about the assessments that comes particularly from
some of the community banks is whether or not some risk-based
factor should be included. Now, obviously, to the extent that we are
increasing deposit insurance, which I hope we will do permanently,
and I want to say now there has been some suggestion that the
Senate wanted to increase the deposit insurance temporarily, I
think that it is disruptive for planning. We ought to make it per-
manent. And I think everyone understands that requires some in-
crease in insurance as you are getting insured for more.

But, to the extent that we are talking about dealing with some
of the problems that came from the financial crisis, what is the cur-
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rent thinking of the FDIC on some kind of variation of the assess-
ment with the risk factor taken in?

Mr. GRUENBERG. Mr. Chairman, we do currently charge pre-
miums on a risk basis. We are looking for ways, if possible, to re-
spond, particularly to the community bank concerns. In the interim
final rule that we issued on the special assessment, we actually
asked for public comment on the possibility of imposing assess-
ments based on the assets of the institution rather than the depos-
its of the institution. That would have a consequence of shifting
some of the burden toward the larger institutions. We asked for
comment on that.

The CHAIRMAN. Let me go now to Mr. Gruenberg and to Mr.
Polakoff and Mr. Long, in particular, and maybe Governor Duke.

We have testimony that is going to come later, and sometimes I
think we should reverse the order, but let me quote now from the
American Banker’s Association representative, Mr. Wilson, on page
5, subhead, “In the face of a weak economy, it is critical that the
regulators not make things worse by applying overly conservative
standards.” And, he says at the bottom of page five, “We continue
to hear from bankers around the country—and those particularly
in areas where the economy is considerably stressed—that field ex-
aminers are being excessively hard on even the strongest banks in
the area.”

From the community bankers, on page 3 of the testimony of Mr.
Menzies, bottom of the page: “Community bankers are saying that
the field examiners are overzealous and unduly overreaching and
are, in some cases, second guessing bankers and professional, inde-
pendent appraisers, and demanding overly aggressive write-
downs.”

And a letter from a leading minority bank—and I do want to put
into the record a letter from the National Banker’s Association—
but a letter from a minority bank saying, “What bank regulators
will not tell the chairman in those hearings is that they have told
their examiners all across the country to be tough on banks.”

The “be tough” problem started in Washington, was told to the
regional staffs, and said, “Marching orders to examiners in the
field,” and quotes a December article from “The Wall Street Jour-
nal,” with which some of you may be familiar, by Damian Potter:
Headline, “Bank Examiners Are Told To Step Up Sanctions.”

Let me ask you to respond, all three. Let’s start with Mr. Long,
Mr. Polakoff, and Mr. Gruenberg, to the assertion by the represent-
ative bankers, and they are hearing, obviously, from their own con-
stituent members that there has been a toughening of the stand-
ards on the part of the examiners.

Mr. Long?

Mr. LoNG. Congressman, we hear those concerns, too. Over the
past several years, beginning in 2003 at the OCC, we began to talk
to our banks about a number of excessive risks that we were seeing
in the system. The risk has built up. I don’t think we have ever
gone into an economic downturn with the kind of concentrations in
commercial real estate-related credits in the community bank line
of business that we have now. And they are in some parts of the
country where the asset valuation has grown significantly.



15

There are some very heavy concentrations, so naturally our ex-
aminers are focusing on that during examinations. You have a situ-
ation in the economy.

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Long, are you saying that people may have
heard this but it’s inaccurate?

Mr. LoNG. We haven’t ordered our examiners to crack down on
banks, but they are obviously more sensitive to problem assets and
loan portfolios.

The CHAIRMAN. All right, but Mr. Polakoff, how would you re-
spond to that?

Mr. POLAKOFF. There is an element of truth in those statements.
Examiners are human beings. They’re going to react to the environ-
ment. They are going to react to bank failures. We have met with
the National Association of Home Builders. We had that group
meet with our regional directors. What we have to do here is im-
prove our communication in this area.

There are mixed messages on a number of different levels, Mr.
Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Gruenberg?

Mr. GRUENBERG. Mr. Chairman, we view this as a very serious
issue. You mentioned in your opening remarks that you need to try
to strike a balance between safety and soundness, and making
credit available. And we have spent a lot of time with our exam-
iners from the regional directors on down, trying to make clear the
need to really act with sensitivity on this issue, trying to strike this
balance and work closely with bankers. It is an ongoing challenge.

The CHAIRMAN. All right. Let me just say, and I have gone over
my time, but I assume that you are in regular contact; and, specifi-
cally I would hope that there would be, maybe even today, we get
a break, some conversation about this. Because these are fairly spe-
cific assertions and finding out where they come from, there are a
large number of people to control.

Let me just close with this. To some extent, we have been part
of the problem, and it is fair to say that public officials, public em-
ployees, are worried that maybe if a bad loan went through and
they didn’t catch it, they would be unduly criticized and more
prone to that sometimes.

We want to send a message that as far as the Congress is con-
cerned, we think that while there is always a problem with bad
loans, there is a very great problem with not enough good loans
right now. And I do want to give people some reassurance, both
your agencies and the employees who work for you, that this is not
a time when, I think, you have to worry about excessive criticism
if a certain number of the loans go bad. There will be more focus
on getting good ones to go forward.

Mr. Bachus.

I'm sorry. Mr. Marchant?

Mr. MARCHANT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think one of the big
mixed messages that the public is getting is they're picking up the
newspaper and they’re reading that the Federal Reserve is putting
a trillion dollars of liquidity into the system, into the banking sys-
tem.

And they’re hearing that there’s TARP money going into each of
the banks. They’re thinking that because of all this money that’s
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going into the banks and the TARP money going into the banks,
that there surely must be money available at the bank that they
can borrow.

I don’t think they realize that most of this money is going to the
loan loss reserve and to rebuild the capital reserves. And if any-
thing, the TARP money, by paying 5 percent on the TARP money,
money that costs 5 percent—5 percent is more than the bank’s cost
of funds right now.

So their best customers, the customers that your examiners like
to see when they come in and crack the books, actually are paying
3 to 3.5 percent on their loans. They are prime plus 1 or 2.

So any TARP money used to make a loan to their absolute best
customer will be made at a loan value that is less than the cost
of funds.

So obviously the TARP money, while I believe the Congress felt
like that is what the money was going to do, to be put in the sys-
tem to make more liquidity, it hasn’t ended up doing that.

And when that public reads that the Fed is putting liquidity into
the system, I think the message they think is that there is more
money available to borrow. But what the customers in my district
are finding out is that they are facing rising interest rates.

A lot of the prime borrowers are going back in to renegotiate a
line of credit that they have done for 20 years, and they’re finding
out that instead of having a prime plus 1 or 2 now, there’s a floor
being put on the amount of the loan that can go down. And in most
instances, that floor is now 5 percent.

They are the best customers of the bank. And the reasons that
are being given are: We have this special assessment coming. Our
bank is not going to be profitable next year, because of these spe-
cial assessments.

The other thing that has happened is that there is a definite re-
striction in the amounts that these lines of credits can grow. So de
facto, if a business is doing well and can expand, they’re not going
to be able to expand their credit line. And most bankers are not
expanding credit lines.

And then, of course, you have the customers who are going in
and finding that their HELOC loans they’re having, they’re getting
letters in the mail that say that their line has been cut; they’re get-
ting letters from the credit card companies that are saying the
same things. I know that this hearing is not about that.

And they’re getting extra demands on their collateral.

So there are mixed signals that are coming out. I believe sin-
cerely that everyone at this panel today is doing exactly what you
feel like is the best thing to do for the system.

The borrower does not understand the interplay of all of these
things. And frankly, this Congressman does not understand the
interplay many times, and does not understand what the benefit to
the system is if the headline is that a trillion dollars has been put
into the system by the Fed, but my constituents don’t find that to
be of any benefit to them whatsoever, when they go to the bank
and want to borrow money.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mrs. MALONEY. [presiding] Thank you. The Chair recognizes her-
self for 5 minutes, and I welcome all the panelists. I would like to
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ask Governor Duke, whom I understand has experience as an on-
line banker in commercial banking, do you believe that the Federal
Government could or should have taken different actions in the fall
or more recently to ensure that credit would be more available?

I believe all of us are hearing the same story when we go to the
caucus meetings, when we talk to our colleagues on both sides of
the aisle, that the credit is just not out there; we need to get the
liquidity moving.

I'm hearing particularly commercial credit has absolutely dried
up; it’s very hard to get loans. How effective do you believe that
the TALF program and the Public-Private Investment Program will
be in opening up credit and allowing financial institutions to lend
money?

And also last night, I was reading a report where banks used to
provide 60 percent of the credit in our country, and now are pro-
viding roughly 20 percent, and it has been picked up by other
forms of credit.

Just your comments in general on these questions. Thank you.

Ms. DUKE. Mrs. Maloney, thank you.

As you know, I was a banker and a community banker for nearly
30 years, and so I'm well aware of the tension that exists between
bankers and bank examiners, as well as lenders and borrowers.

I think, to your first question, I do believe, I honestly believe that
the Federal Government has made every response we can think of
to make, in particularly the Federal Reserve, in order to ensure
that lending is continuing to take place. And I think if we had not
done that, that the circumstances would be substantially worse.

Provision of liquidity to banks is critically important in order
that they have the funds to lend. The capital that we put into the
banks not only strengthens the banks, but also strengthens them
in the minds of others who would provide liquidity. And it’s the li-
quidity that really gets lent forward on to borrowers.

In addition to that, you’re right that the banking system percent-
age of the credit that was extended has dropped. It dropped to
about 30-some percent, anyway below 40 percent, although if you
add back the securitization that banks did, they were still probably
facilitating more than 40 percent of the credit, going into this re-
cent episode.

And so the TALF is really designed to restart securitization mar-
kets. And what we have found in our Fed facilities, first with those
that were directed at commercial paper, was that by creating a fa-
cility dto support commercial paper, gradually that market im-
proved.

Now, the first version of the TALF is directed at consumer loans,
student loans, and small business loans. And, we had the first
issuance of TALF, which is $8 billion. It may not sound like a lot
in the context of trillions and trillions of dollars, but that is more
than had been done in the last 4 months.

These are difficult times, they're difficult times for bank exam-
iners, they're difficult times for bankers. I think at the end of the
day, probably the best thing we can do is everything that we're
doing to improve financial conditions.

A lot of the reasons lines get cut is because collateral values have
dropped. So if we could put a floor under housing, anything we can
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do to support mortgage lending and housing will tend to put a floor
on the value of housing, and then that stops the value of the collat-
eral from dropping.

Same thing with commercial real estate, and we’re hearing the
same things that you hear on commercial real estate. The
securitization market for commercial real estate loans has com-
pletely shut down. In addition to new commercial real estate, there
are also a number of commercial real estate loans that are cur-
rently up for renewal. And, we need to provide for the renewal of
those. So we are looking at commercial real estate as part of the
TALF in the next version.

But again, commercial real estate values are tied to the cash
flows of the businesses that operate out of that commercial real es-
tate, and so to the extent that business is down, that retail sales
are down, that attendance is down in hospitality areas, that’s going
to tend to reduce the value of that collateral, and reduce the ability
of those owners to borrow and to expand their businesses.

Mrs. MALONEY. Well, thank you. Could you comment briefly? My
time is almost up on the first auction of the Public-Private Invest-
ment Program. I understand that took place last week. Is that—

Ms. DUKE. It was the first issuance under the term asset—the
TALF, the Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility, which we
had actually been working on for about 4 months I believe. And
this one would cover student loans, credit card loans, small busi-
ness loans, and auto loans, and $8 billion was issued that was
TALF eligible.

Mrs. MALONEY. Okay. Thank you. My time has expired, and the
Chair recognizes—

Mr. BacHuUS. I am sorry, Madam Chairwoman, we are going go
on the order. I will give you the order.

Mrs. MALONEY. Okay.

Mr. BACHUS. Mr. Posey, and then I'll give you the list.

Mrs. MALONEY. Okay. Mr. Posey?

Mr. Posey. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman.

I hope that we would all agree that the best solution to the crisis
would be more private capital into the market. And just to save
time, can you shake your head “yes” if you agree?

And so we all agree. Wonderful.

Ms. Duke, are we still approving charters for anybody who want-
ed to start putting a new institution out there and putting more
private capital into the marketplace?

Ms. DUKE. I'm frankly not aware of how many charters the Fed-
eral Reserve has approved recently, but we are still approving
charters.

Mr. Posey. Okay. What is the timeline on something like that?

Ms. DUKE. I believe we respond to all applications that come in
within 60 days.

Mr. Posey. Whether up or down?

Ms. DUKE. But, I would like to check that, if I could, and get
back to you.

Mr. Posey. If you would. And the reason I ask that, you know,
we parlayed, our Nation did at one time have about 100 percent
of the commercial launchers to satellites, to do our communica-
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tions. And we parlayed that into about 5 percent of the world’s
commercial launches.

That was a pretty staggering loss. And we did that basically with
the help of, I think, one person, a range safety officer, who was
there longer than he should have been, who thought the only safe
launch was no launch.

So we overregulated and drove business to other countries and
we're suffering for it now.

That was the reason for my question. I mean, I'm familiar with
the instance of some business people who are successful bankers in
other areas, and they decided that they wanted to open a new
branch in a needy area of my district. And they have been ap-
proved by the State, but they can’t get a yes or no from the Federal
Government. And I'm not going to tell you who they are, because
I don’t want to say I'm pushing them or I'm not. But I'm puzzled
by their inability to get a response, a timely response, what I would
think would be a timely response from you: Yes or no?

If you're going to do it, do it. I mean, they have done other
banks. I don’t think there’s anything in their background that
would be fuzzy. I think they meet the requirements.

I will promise you the people in this community need another
bank, and I don’t know—I have never really met a banker in my
life who wanted to make a bad loan. I know that they have been
forced to make some bad loans by some external forces in the
past—and I blame, you know, Congress to a large extent for that—
but we heard earlier about our community banks.

I think on a scale of a side-by-side comparison to the larger ones,
they’re in a lot better shape. And I don’t think they have gotten
any of the relief money or any significant amount of relief money.

I would trust my community banks a whole lot better, just like
I trust local government a whole lot better than I do higher govern-
ment. You know, they’re closer to the people, they’re more respon-
sive, they're better managed. I mean just—

Anyway, I would appreciate it if you could look into it and find
out what the up and down time is, or the yes or no time. Because
I think that just like we parlayed the commercial launch business
into oblivion, we can do that with the financial market just as well.

And I sure would hate to see us do that.

Ms. DUKE. Congressman, if I could. There are actually two steps
to it: There is the charter, which could come through any agency;
and then there is also the ability to get insurance through the
FDIC.

Mr. POSEY. Yes, I understood it’s hung up at the FDIC.

Mr. GRUENBERG. Congressman, let me say, if there’s a particular
institution that you believe has had difficulty and hasn’t gotten a
response, please let us know, and we’ll look into it.

Mr. PoseEy. Well, I don’t want to interfere with the—I'm observ-
ing it and I'm puzzled by it, and I want to understand it a little
bit better. Because it doesn’t make a whole lot of sense to me at
this point.

Thank you very much for your indulgence, Madam Chairwoman.

Mr. WATT. [presiding] I will recognize myself for 5 minutes. We
seem to be playing musical chairs up here, but I think we will pro-
vide some continuity.
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Let me first thank the Chair in his absence for having this hear-
ing, because it really, this situation has kind of put us in a real
practical set of problems here, where we are on the one hand say-
ing, “Extend more credit,” and on the other hand, saying, “Be more
prudent.”

And what it has done for Members of Congress is interesting,
and that’s where I want to address my question to Mr. Polakoff at
the end of the description of the situation that I described, but I
want everybody else to try to be helpful to me in knowing how we
should be responding.

I have been on this committee more than 18 years now; I am
starting my 19th year. I can count on one hand the number of
times in the first 17 years that I got calls from constituents, saying,
“Would you intervene in a financial lending decision with a bank?”

Hardly a week passes now that I don’t get a call from somebody,
saying, “My loan was turned down, you all are putting all this
money into banks, and would you intervene with the bank and tell
them to approve my loan?”

That’s the situation that Members of Congress find themselves
in at this point.

Two examples quickly. A university that had historically for
years and years financed at the end of the year until the next tui-
tion payments came in, had their line of credit pulled and was told
in order to renew it, they had to pledge the entire campus, every
piece of real estate that they owned, just for a 60-day loan until
the next group of students came in and paid their tuition, so they
could pay the loan back.

Yesterday, I talked with a gentleman who had a commitment, or
a verbal commitment from his S&L—that’s why I'm addressing the
question to Mr. Polakoff—for a $400,000 loan to do a business
which would employ 25 people in my congressional district.

And he said, “Well, you know, maybe I can get away with
$200,000.” So he takes the $200,000, then he needs to go back and
get the other $200,000. In the meantime, they have merged with
a First Community Bank, he thinks out of West Virginia, nowhere
close to North Carolina, and the line of credit, the money that they
told him verbally he could get isn’t even available any more.

The problem we have is we can’t tell lenders what a commer-
cially prudent loan is, but they’re expecting us to, because the Fed-
eral Government has put all this money into banks—

And then to make matters worse, they waltz with this guy for
4 or 5 months, so that he can’t go and get a loan from anybody else.
So by the time they make a final decision, the business opportunity
is gone down the pike.

Now the question I have is: Under those circumstances, what are
we supposed to do? You are monitoring this as loans on a global
level. You say that loan volume is up, especially with community
banks.

But this is a problem for all of us, because everybody knows that
they have pulled back on the credit.

So, Mr. Polakoff, I have described my problem to you. I don’t
want to step over the line and start telling lenders when a loan is
commercially prudent or not. I don’t have that expertise.
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But I also have some obligation to try to be helpful to constitu-
ents in these situations. It’s not like getting a social security check,
where I can call up a governmental agent, and say, “What am I
supposed to do?”

Mr. POLAKOFF. Mr. Chairman, I don’t know if I have a good an-
swer for you on that one. It’s a tough situation.

Each institution has a loan policy, and it describes what sort of
loans it will make under what terms for what sort of borrowers.

I have yet to meet a banker who wants to turn down a good loan.
That’s the way they make money.

Mr. WATT. I just described one to you. They said it was a good
loan several weeks ago, and then all of a sudden they merged and
the new owners say, “Oh, no, no, we’re not making this loan.”

Mr. POLAKOFF. Each situation is different, sir. I mean it could be
that the merged institution has—

Mr. WATT. Does anybody else have any suggestions for me? Mr.
Polakoff can’t help me. What am I supposed to do in these situa-
tions?

[no response]

Who is next on your list? I guess nobody has a suggestion for
me?

Ms. DUKE. I will take one stab at it. I have been in that situa-
tion, and, so you may not find this very satisfactory, but the one
thing we are finding is that those that are increasing their loans
are banks that are looking at each individual deal one at a time,
and they are finding that they are increasing their business, not
because there’s a lot more loan demand, but they’re doing it be-
cause there are banks that are pulling out of specific types of lend-
ing. And so theyre finding that if they can go in and look at the
deal on its merits, there are some banks that are out there making
those loans.

Mr. WATT. My time is expired. Well, I'll let Mr. Gruenberg re-
spond. But maybe I should address it to the second panel, that has
some bankers on it. Maybe they will be able to help me.

Yes?

Mr. GRUENBERG. Just in regard to what you might say to a con-
stituent, the FDIC does have a call center, where if individuals are
having difficulties with their financial institution, and in some
sense feel that they have been treated unfairly or haven’t been
given a fair hearing, they do have the ability to call, and we do try
to follow-up on concerns that are raised.

Mr. WaTT. I thank you.

Mr. Jones is recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. JONES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I'm going to be repetitive to many of the questions that you have
been asked and many of the statements. But to piggyback on what
the chairman just was asking about his situation, Mr. Long, I'm
just going to read a subtitle to your comments, and then I'm going
to get to your point, and then hopefully maybe a question.

Regulators and examiners are taking a balanced approach, con-
sistent with safe and sound banking practices. Well, I would expect
that even in good times, but certainly in tough times, that makes
a lot of sense.
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About 5 weeks ago, I had the president and a CEO of a bank—
and I'm not going to say the name, because I think everybody
would have an idea, know who it was—to say the problem is that
the regulators, you're being told as Members of Congress, and cer-
tainly Mr. Obama, the new President, has said, you know, talk
money, we want to get some money out into Main Street, we want
to help businesses, we want to get them, you know, sound so that
they can expand, or whatever to keep their business running—but
this CEO and president said to me, “They’re telling us, the regu-
lators, don’t move so fast, hold back.”

And I think this is what some of the questions and concerns are
today.

I realize you have a tremendous responsibility, each and every
one of you. But this country right now is suffering on Main Street.
There’s no two ways about it, it has been said 100 times by other
people.

And when I have a CEO and president of a well-known bank—
I'm not going to say community, regional, or national—but a well-
known bank, come to a Member of Congress, and says, “You're
being told, yes we want to free up the credit, but when the regu-
lators come in, they’re saying, no, slow down.”

So therefore either—Mr. Long, you might have said it, or Mr.
Polakoff might have said it—that you need to do a better job. Be-
cause I think there is a serious problem.

Yesterday most of us in this Congress, not just the Banking
Committee, but most of us had members from home builders asso-
ciations from our States come to Members of Congress—and I had
two or three, they’re not even my constituents, they’re from Ra-
leigh, North Carolina, which is the capital of North Carolina—tell-
ing me that he has been told by his banker—and he said, “I could
get my banker to call you, Congressman, and tell you, that he is
being told not to make the loans.”

Now I’'m not going to question your integrity, because you're peo-
ple of high integrity, but there’s something missing in this program
right now. And if the truth is that you expect things to get a heck
of a lot worse before they get better, then say it.

Let’s be honest with these people, because they’re coming to us,
as Mr. Watt mentioned just a moment ago. The don’t understand,
they have been good stewards of their businesses, good stewards
with the banks, they’re paying back on time, and doing everything
they were asked to do.

But now they’re caught in a situation where many of them will
not be here a year from now, if the credit somehow does not get
back to Main Street, as the President has said many times.

I don’t know if I'm asking you a question or not. I guess I want
to comment, because I'm being repetitive, but I can’t help it, that’s
what I'm hearing. And it’s more frequent now than it was 4 months
ago, and I’'m afraid it’s going to be even more frequent 6 months
out than it is now.

If this is your policy—and I believe it—if this is your policy, can
you somehow—at least the bank examiners or the regulators un-
derstand that they are supposed to work with these people. And if
it’s a bad loan, say it’s a bad loan.
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But I think some of these people who are crying out here in Main
Street are pretty good customers who would meet the obligation.

That’s my statement. If you can figure a question out of that, and
anybody wants to respond to it, that will be fine.

Mr. LoNG. I will take a shot at it, Congressman. And they are
concerns that we hear too. There are a couple of things. In terms
of, do we think it’s going to get worse? I would tell you, from the
OCC’s standpoint, where we are in the cycle, I believe for many
community banks, it is going to get worse.

So we are definitely asking our examiners to have good commu-
nications with bank management and make sure that they're vigi-
lant, make sure that they have a good handle around the con-
centrations of credit, the amount of loans that they have to a cer-
tain—whether it be industry, developer or whatever.

It may be that being told to slow down could be appropriate, but
I would need some more information to address it specifically. It
may be that the banker or the regulators feel like that concentra-
tion level in total on that balance sheet is getting a little heavy and
they need to be a little more selective in terms of the risk.

It may be in terms of their underwriting, given the credit quality
of the borrowers and the stress that the borrowers are under, as
you know, Congressman, over the last 3, 4, or 5 years underwriting
standards got pretty loose. It was pretty easy to extend credit, and
it wasn’t that difficult to get a loan.

What is happening in the industry right now is a normal occur-
rence. Bankers tighten up, underwriting standards tighten. Loan
demand by good quality borrowers—as I said in my statement,
businesses aren’t expanding, they don’t have capital expenditures—
good quality loan demand is harder to come by.

But the examiners and the bankers hopefully are having good ro-
bust conversations around risk management issues, concentration
issues, underwriting issues, whether it be from an individual loan
or from a portfolio loan.

So the comments along those lines could very well be not: Slow
down, we don’t want you making good loans. It may be: Make sure
you have a good handle around the risk profile of your portfolio, be-
cause certain concentration levels, no matter how good they get,
when you get into an economic downturn, it doesn’t take much to
tip a bank over.

Mr. WATT. The gentleman’s time has expired.

Mr. Sherman is recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

You know, we’re all looking back nostalgically at this mythical
2007, when all worthy people got the credit they needed to realize
their dreams. And we all are asking, why can’t we return to that
Shangri-La?

I think we have to remember that back in 2007, I was getting
plenty of complaints from people who weren’t getting the loans
they wanted. They didn’t ask me to do anything about it, because
back in 2007, we had a capitalist economic system.

But also in 2007, the living standards were too loose, even
though the banks were in relatively, or thought they were in reac-
tively good shape. Today the banks are in bad shape, and every
borrower is in worse shape than they were back in 2007.
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The solution, or one of the solutions is to allow banks to make
loans even when the good bank examiner, a conservative bank ex-
aminer, says you need a 10 or 20 percent reserve against that loan
by having the banks have more capital.

I hope that you are pressing your banks to sell more stock, even
though at today’s depressed prices, they may not want to do it.

I want to address the mark-to-market rule, which I think is de-
pressing bank capital in just a second.

But I also want to mention the credit unions, who aren’t rep-
resented here. We as a Congress have prohibited almost all credit
unions from issuing subordinated debt. That is the way they could
have capital, where private investors could give the credit union
money, and then if the credit union made a few risky loans and it
didn’t work out so well, the investors would lose money, instead of
the taxpayer or the insurance system.

But we have prohibited issuing that subordinated debt, and I
think we should revisit that, maybe not as a permanent change in
the way that credit unions are run, but for the life of this economic
crisis.

Because for every time somebody has to say no to a
businessperson on a loan, hopefully there will be a credit union
that’s able to say yes, if it’s a good loan.

Governor Duke, I would like to ask you a question that’s iden-
tical to the question I asked Chairman Bernanke yesterday, be-
cause I liked his answer and I'm hoping that you give me the same
answer.

You may be familiar with Section 13-3 of the Federal Reserve
Act. That’s the one that says the Federal Reserve can loan money
in a time of economic exigency, but only on a fully secured basis.

And your Chairman yesterday said that he figures that means no
risk or as little risk as is possible in a financial situation, that was
equivalent to triple-A paper, not double-A, not single-A—Triple-A—
and that he would stand by that interpretation even if Wall Street
came to you a year from now and said, “My God, we need another
trillion or the sky is going to fall, and those idiots and populists
in Congress won’t pass the bill. So you have to step forward, avoid
all that democracy stuff, change your interpretation of Section 13-
3, and give us the money Congress won’t.”

Under that kind of pressure, would you give me the same answer
as Chairman Bernanke, and say, “13-3 is for triple-A paper?”

Ms. DUKE. Yes, sir, I would.

Mr. SHERMAN. That’s a great answer.

Mr. Kroeker, let’s talk a little bit about mark-to-market, because
my concern is that in the accounting standards that the standards
are written to embrace the verifiable and the unassailable, rather
than the relevant and the meaningful.

You have probably heard me talk about FASB II, where we as-
sume that all research programs are failures, because that’s easier
than figuring out which research programs were successful.

Likewise, it’s easier to look at computer screen and say that a
group of assets is worth 10 cents on the dollar, because that was
the last trade, rather than to evaluate what they’re likely to yield
to maturity, knowing that we’re going to have a bad economy at
least for a while.
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One of the principles of accounting is that two similar institu-
tions are going to face the same standards. But one bank may
make a bunch of loans for its own portfolio and not take the steps
for them to be sold off into the market.

And so they have a billion dollars of exposure to the widget in-
dustry, and you know, 22 different widget companies all in red
buildings.

And then another identical bank does a billion dollars worth of
loans to the widget companies also in red buildings, 22 of them,
and they take the steps to make those loans securitizable. As a
matter of fact, they bought this package of loans from somebody
across the country.

Why should 2 banks, both of which have a billion dollars of expo-
sure to 22 widget companies, be treated differently, based upon
whether it’s a securitized group or just a—

Mr. WATT. You have to wrap up your question, so he can answer
it.

Mr. SHERMAN. Yes.

Mr. WATT. And your time has expired.

Mr. KROEKER. We have recommended improvements in the
mark-to-market accounting rules. And to get to the specific ques-
tion, does it make sense, I think the FASB’s proposal on other than
temporary impairment seeks to at least in the income statement do
just that, to replicate the losses, the credit losses you would have
if these securities were in fact loans. That would be the credit loss
and the impairment that you would take through the income state-
ment.

That being said, when loans are packaged up in securities, they
often do differ from holding a whole loan; that is, theyre tranched
up. People take different risk portfolios out of the securitization,
they add derivatives or other things to the securitization vehicle.

So it is very difficult once you put the loans together and scram-
ble the egg, if you will, to unscramble that in the accounting.

Mr. WATT. If you need to elaborate on that, could you do it in
writing?

Did you get sufficient elaboration? Or not. You all can talk off
the record.

The gentleman’s time has expired.

Mr. Manzullo is recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. MANzULLO. Thank you.

I only wish that the first panel had been placed together with the
second panel. I would hope that you gentlemen and gentlelady
would stick around to listen to the second panel, because there is
a huge disconnect that is going on.

Mr. Polakoff, you said you have “yet to meet a banker who
turned down a good loan.” Well, there are two of them sitting be-
hind you. They’re both community bankers. Steve Wilson, LCNB
Bank, from Lebanon, Ohio; and Mike Menzies from Easton Bank
& Trust Company. And you could take a look at their testimonies.
Menzies says, “The current bank regulatory climate is causing
many community banks to unnecessarily restrict their lending ac-
tivities. Left unaddressed, certain field examination practices to
propose FDIC special assessment, mark-to-market, will prevent
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community banks from realizing their full potential as participants
in the rebuilding of our economy.”

That’s not only as to banks that receive TARP funds, but banks
that are doing it on their own dollar. And then also the testimony
of Steve Wilson from the LCNB Bank in Lebanon Ohio.

Now, these are the guys on the streets. And they might as well
be the bankers that I talk to back home. And you have to listen
to them. Because they’re under siege from the bank examiners. I
mean really under siege.

“Banks hear the message to continue to lend”—this is Mr. Wil-
son—"“to help stimulate the economy. Then they hear messages to
pull back, from field examiners that may apply overly conservative
standards, from FDIC premium assessment rules that penalize
banks that use the Federal Home Loan Bank advances for short-
term liquidity.”

I mean, you have to listen to them. And you have to, you know,
obviously listen to the people who work for you in the field.

And then, Mr. Long, you made the statement that businesses are
not expanding. That’s not true. I mean, I represent most of north-
ern Illinois, and we have over 2,500 factories, and they have been
hit. But you know what? A lot of those factories have some good
orders.

And banks are making the statement, they’re hearing from the
examiners, “Don’t loan to manufacturers.” That’s what your people
are telling them. Because, oh, you can’t trust the manufacturing
climate.

And you know what, you know what’s going on with these guys
that can’t expand? Those jobs are going to China.

I mean, this is—I guess—I'm not giving anybody heck. I mean,
I did that yesterday on my birthday, and my blood pressure can’t
take that much. But what I'm saying is, there is so much dis-
connect that’s going on here.

Mr. Long, have you ever accompanied one of your examiners to
the bank? Of course, that would be counterproductive because they
would see you there. But did you do any bank examinations your-
self? I think you have, haven’t you?

Mr. LoNG. I have been on this job for 30 years as a bank exam-
iner, for the first 23 of if in the field. Yes—

Mr. MANZULLO. Because I know that you have that experience
and I know you're very—

Mr. LoNG. And I have gone on exams as recently as less than
12 months ago. Yes, I go on exams.

Mr. MANZULLO. But I mean, there are—I want you to know there
are businesses that are expanding. I mean, really not a lot, but it
is happening.

Mr. LONG. Congressman, my written statement reflects more of
a general sense. During an economic recession—

Mr. MANZULLO. Oh, I believe you 100 percent—yes, sir.

Mr. LONG. —businesses pull back. I don’t mean that there aren’t
businesses that are expanding.

Mr. MANzZULLO. Right—

Mr. LONG. And I can tell you that at the OCC, our examiners are
not telling our bankers to not lend to manufacturers.
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Mr. MANZULLO. They are telling them. That’s what my bankers
are telling me. You need to get that out to them, because they may
be—I mean everybody is acting honestly—I mean everybody—with
integrity. There’s no dishonesty going on.

There’s a lot of disconnect that’s going on. Because the exam-
iners, you know, want to make sure they do the best job possible.
And under the circumstances, they believe in their heart that they
are doing that.

But I'm just saying that this is what we’re hearing from the
banks and also from the manufacturers.

Mr. LoNG. And Congressman, we hear that too, and I think it’s
a good point, and I think it’s a good purpose of this hearing, and
of the outreach that we do with the bankers.

I know that there is a fine line of when underwriting standards
gft too loose and banks are taking on too much risk, and the line
o —

Mr. MANZULLO. But we know—

Mr. LoNG. Examiners tell bankers—

Mr. MaNzZULLO. We know, Mr. Long, we know of business after
business that has never had a problem with their line of credit,
they’re being cut off on lines of credit. They’re throwing their arms
up in the air, and suffering.

But I know you’re going to look at it, because I know where your
heart is. And it is in the field with those people and the people who
want to borrow the money. And I appreciate that.

Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from California.

Mr. BAcA. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank you
for holding this hearing.

All of us realize that we are at a crisis right now and people are
losing their jobs. And you have to understand and put yourself in
the place of the people who are losing their jobs. And why are a
lot of them losing their jobs? A lot of them have not gotten the kind
of loans for the occupations where they are working, whether it is
a small business, whether it is even the State of California where
I have just talked to the secretary who says, “I'm going to have to
borrow X’ amount of dollars just to exist in our area.” You have
to put yourself in the place of an individual who is losing their job.

And right now it seems like there is a disconnect or a blaming
that goes back. Who is really at fault, is it the regulators or is the
bankers? I mean you guys are just throwing it back and forth to
one another, but the problem is that the loans aren’t going on in
the area. We would see the economy changing. And in California,
especially in my district where the majority of small businesses
aren’t getting their loans, and we are looking at automobile dealers
and others that can’t obtain a loan.

Why is it? You have to put yourselves in the faces of people who
have lost their jobs, people who aren’t able to provide those kind
of jobs for someone else. Put yourselves in that kind of situation
and say, how the hell am I going to make sure that people get the
kind of funding that will create the kind of job or how do we make
the State of California solvent to assure that they don’t have to
continue to borrow the money? Unless you, both of you guys, the
bankers and the regulators, do something.
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So whose fault is it? I want you to answer that. And more impor-
tantly, how do we fix it now? What is the remedy? What can we
do? What can you do to expedite the process and stop this blaming
one another? Any one of you want to tackle that?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Congressman, I hope it is not coming across that
we are blaming one another.

I think the regulators and the bankers typically have a good,
healthy relationship. There is no tension involved with that rela-
tionship. We all want the same thing, which is money to be lent.

Mr. BACA. When someone loses their job and they are not getting
a loan, that is tension where they are losing revenue, and we are
not picking up revenue. That is tension.

Mr. POLAKOFF. I'm not sure I'm understanding the question, but
indeed, an examiner would be very uncomfortable, rightfully so, if
money was lent to an unemployed individual who didn’t have the
capacity to repay the debt.

Mr. BACA. Anybody else want to tackle this?

Yes, we are at a crisis. Praise the Lord, we will say a prayer.

Mr. LoNG. I don’t have a lot to add. It is a natural tendency for
banks during downturns, particularly coming out of a period of
very loose credit, where they pull back, they protect the balance
sheet, they protect liquidity, and they protect capital and they
tighten the underwriting standards.

And Scott is absolutely right. I mean the fact that somebody lost
a job and they want to get a loan but the don’t have the repayment
ability, most bankers probably are not going to make that loan.

Mr. BACA. But there are a lot of them who do, even on the minor-
ity small businesses or the automobile dealers. I mean, they are
the last to get funded, first to get de-funded. It seems like here
again, even among minority dealerships who have really helped the
economy, are trying to get loans, can’t even get loans.

Mr. LoNG. I agree. I think the regulators and the bankers are
doing a better job this time of communicating with each other and
talking with each other, and I think it is important that we con-
tinue to do so.

And I think the banks are struggling with this too. I mean, they
do want to make good loans, but some of them have gone so far
out on the risk curve that they currently have a balance sheet full
of loans that are having problems, and they dont have a lot of ca-
pacity to—

Mr. BAcA. But those loans weren’t created here. It was those
that were created because we did it with some foreign countries
and others and all this money that has gone back there that we
can’t even recover because all of these bonuses that were there.

I'm sorry.

Ms. DUKE. I just want to point out we are very aware of the
problems with loans to small businesses in particular. One of the
functions of the Fed facility that just started up last week is that
it included floorplan loans for auto dealers in addition to auto loans
to consumers. And then we added to it very recently loans for busi-
ness equipment, and it also includes SBA loans.

In addition, I am reminded from my days as a banker that most
small business credit is frankly funded through home equity. A lot
of those loans are based on home equity, which again brings me
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back to anything that we can do to improve mortgage lending in
the housing market will also be helpful to small businesses.

Mr. BAcA. T hope we get an answer when, and hopefully we turn
this economy around. And we are all working together and I know
that we are all trying, but I think they need to say when is it going
to happen and how is it going to happen because every day that
we don’t provide assistance, that means some job is lost somewhere
because they are not able to attain the capital to operate.

Thank you. I yield back the balance of my time.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Delaware.

Mr. CASTLE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

As each of you knows, there has been a lot of discussion about
a systemic risk regulator in some form or another, both from the
Executive Branch and from within this committee. And I realize
that is not something that you necessarily focus on, but you all are
regulators, you are all familiar with the various financial institu-
tions which are out there.

I would be interested in your thoughts about a systemic risk reg-
ulator. And I'm not asking you to put together how it would be
done precisely but as to the effect of it in terms of the decision-
making that might have occurred in this case earlier in looking at
financial institutions and perhaps any credit type institutions in
this country, and what direction perhaps we should be looking.
This is still in an infant stage as far as Congress is concerned. So
Ilam interested in your views on the concept of a systemic risk reg-
ulator.

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, I will get started if it is acceptable.

We at OTS would support the notion of a systemic risk regulator.
We believe that term has three parts: One part of it is the receiver-
ship activity associated with that regulator; another part is the
ability to provide temporary liquidity assistance; and then the third
part is the functional regulation.

The functional regulation can be done in a couple of different
ways. It can be done in a prudential examination way, meaning the
systemic regulator has the responsibility to actually understand
the risk profile of individual institutions. It could be done in a
macro way, which means the systemic regulator has the responsi-
bility to assess the horizontal risk across a number of large institu-
tions, or it could be done in a product way, which means a systemic
regulator focuses instead on emerging products and what the sys-
temic risk would be associated with those.

So those are some critical issues for Congress to address, but the
notion of a systemic regulator makes complete sense to OTS.

Mr. CASTLE. Any other comments?

Ms. DUKE. I think we have talked a lot about systemic risk regu-
lation and, again, I feel like it is important that there is a broad
policy agenda. There should be oversight of the system as a whole,
not just oversight of the individual components or individual firms.
Some parts of it that we think are important are functional super-
vision and onsolidated supervision, such as we have for bank hold-
ing companies, and for companies that may not necessarily be bank
holding companies, in addition to systemic risk regulation.

There does need to be a resolution regime for systemically impor-
tant financial institutions, but I don’t know if that necessarily has
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to be held by the same entity that has responsibility for systemic
risk supervision. We think it is important that systemically impor-
tant payment systems, as well as firms, be supervised, that there
be attention paid to consumer and investor protection, and that
some authority have the express responsibility to monitor and ad-
dress systemic risk wherever it happens.

Places where this might have come to light would be places
where individual exposures in firms were identical to individual ex-
posures at other firms, so those two—if the risk of an event hap-
pened in one firm, it wouldn’t necessarily spill over to all firms. It
might also involve looking at particular products, and obviously the
mortgage-backed securities and the more complex securities would
be an example of that. A third example of a place where this might
have come into play would be in credit default swaps.

Mr. CASTLE. I think you said this, Governor Duke, but if we had
a systemic risk regulator, should we be looking at things like hedge
funds and investment banks and even corporations, insurance com-
panies, other entities beyond the banks which are very involved in
the credit markets today?

Ms. DUKE. I'm not certain—I think one of the things about sys-
temic risk is we have to look beyond individual firms. And I think
a systemic risk regulator would certainly want to gather informa-
tion from all participants in the financial markets while they might
not necessarily regulate specific firms and specific industries.

Mr. CASTLE. Thank you. Anybody else on that subject?

Let me ask you this question, Governor Duke. I mentioned this
earlier in the opening, many hours ago, that I know of a major fi-
nancial institution in my State that is told go out and extend cred-
it, make loans, or whatever. And yet when they have had the var-
ious regulators come in, they have had a much tighter view of it
saying, “You have to watch your capital, you have to be careful,”
whatever, discouraging—in their minds, at least, discouraging
loans to a degree.

Is there a communication issue here? Are we hearing something
different than is being said when these regulators are sent out on
the street?

Ms. DUKE. It is possible that there are some differences between
assessments of creditworthiness and factors that have to do with
the firm itself. Does the firm itself have enough liquidity to make
loans, does it have enough capital to make loans, does the firm
have concentrations in areas such as commercial real estate that
prevent it from expanding in that area in particular? But a lot of
it is communication.

So, in addition to the guidance that we put out there, I can tell
you that I personally went back before this hearing and looked at
my calendar, and in the last 2 weeks, I have met with our commu-
nity bank examiners for the system as a whole, with our New York
bank examiners, with two community groups, with two banker
groups, with a construction industry group, and with the Con-
ference of State Bank Supervisors.

So we are trying to have these conversations and really find out
what is happening on the ground and do what we can about it.

Mr. CASTLE. Thank you. I yield back, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Texas.
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Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I thank you for holding
the hearing and I thank the witnesses for appearing.

I ask that you provide some ocularity in one specific area, one
area. The question is, are creditworthy borrowers being denied
loans? Creditworthy. Now you define creditworthy in your minds,
but it is creditworthy borrowers that we want to talk about. The
empirical evidence as well as the anecdotal evidence seems to con-
note that they are not getting loans. Not all, but a good many, and
possibly too many given the current circumstances.

So let me start by finding or ascertaining whether or not you
agree that there are creditworthy borrowers who are not acquiring
loans. If you think that creditworthy borrowers are not acquiring
loans, would you kindly extend a hand into the air? This will help
me to know to whom I should speak. Okay, let’s note that we have
two persons, Ms. Duke and Mr. Polakoff, who have indicated that
creditworthy borrowers are not getting loans.

Let’s start with you, Mr. Long. You are a banker. Is it your con-
tention that all creditworthy borrowers are getting loans?

Mr. LoNG. Well, I'm not a banker, I'm a bank examiner, Con-
gressman.

Mr. GREEN. Excuse the misstatement.

Mr. LoNG. No, that is okay.

I don’t know the answer to it. I mean obviously with all the com-
munications we have and in talking to bankers, I have made it a
point over the last several months to talk to as many bankers as
I can and ask them point blank, “Are you making loans to credit-
worthy borrowers? Are you making credit available into the indus-
try?” And everybody I talk to is telling me, “Yes, we are.”

However, there are some bankers, some banks, that as I said
earlier have gone so far out on the risk curve and they are so load-
ed up on problem assets that they are maybe not able to lend into
the market as much—

Mr. GREEN. Is it your opinion that in this circumstance, then,
that some creditworthy borrowers may not be getting loans because
of the circumstance with the bank?

Mr. LoNG. Can I sit here and say that every creditworthy bor-
rower is getting a loan? I obviously can’t say that, but I don’t—

Mr. GREEN. I don’t want to talk about everyone. We are trying
to ascertain whether or not we have a significant number such that
it is becoming a part of the problem that we are trying to extricate
ourselves from.

Let me go on. If we conclude, as some have, that creditworthy
borrowers, many are not getting loans—what I would like to do is
get to the root of the problem. Is it because of capital requirements
or is it because of money that is not available within the bank to
lend? The capital requirements, the TARP money that the banks
received, generally speaking, was to capitalize the banks. That was
not money to lend, generally speaking. Is this a true statement? If
you agree that it is a true statement, raise your hand. Alright, ev-
erybody has agreed.

Now if that was not money to lend, the money that the bank
would lend will come from either money that it gets from overnight
circumstances or from various discount windows, true? If so, raise
your hand. You are going to have to participate, everyone. Okay,
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good, everyone agrees. Or it can come from monies that the banks
will have in their loan portfolios, which comes from deposits, true?

So the question is this. Is the problem one of being undercapital-
ized such that they can’t lend money from deposits or from the dis-
count windows, or is one of being capitalized properly, fully capital-
ized, and not having the money available from deposits? Do you fol-
low my question? If you do not, raise your hand and I will give it
to you again.

So if you would, Mr. Polakoff, give your commentary, please.

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, I think each situation is different,
but I don’t believe it is either a capital restriction nor do I believe
that it is a liquidity problem. I think that these are day-to-day de-
cisions that institutions are making as to where they want to be
on the risk spectrum given a number of different variables.

Mr. GREEN. Mr. Long.

Mr. LONG. The one thing I would add—and to agree with you in
terms of where maybe creditworthy borrowers aren’t getting cred-
it—until we get that securitization market opened up, clearly credit
is not flowing like it should. That is a huge problem that we have
to get fixed.

Mr. GREEN. So Mr. Long, you and I are having a kumbaya mo-
ment. We are in agreement with each other, because we agree that
there are some creditworthy borrowers, too many probably, who are
not getting loans, and we at least have one reason why.

Mr. LoNG. I think that there are creditworthy sectors that are
not getting access to credit because of the securitization market.

Mr. GREEN. My time has expired. I would dearly like to continue,
Mr. Long, but perhaps you and I can talk afterwards.

The CHAIRMAN. I'm going to go to Mr. Neugebauer.

Let me make an announcement. There are votes. We will prob-
ably be gone for about 40 minutes. When we return, the members
who are now here, who have not questioned this panel, will be al-
lowed to question this panel if they wish. We will then go to the
second panel.

So Mr. Neugebauer is going to go, and then we are going to
break. Mr. Cleaver, Mr. Perlmutter, Mr. Foster, Ms. Kosmas, and
Mr. Himes will be given priority to question this panel, and then
we will go on to the next panel. The minority has concurred in
that. The gentleman from Texas is recognized for 5 minutes, after
which we will break.

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

One of the things—and I don’t want to spend a lot of time on it
because I think the point has been made—we are hearing from a
lot of our constituents is that credit terms have changed. I have
been a loan officer, been on a loan committee, been a bank director,
I have borrowed a lot of money, and one of the things I know—and
I'm hearing, I think, things haven’t changed is when things are
good, everybody runs to loans secured by real estate. When things
go bad, everybody runs away from them.

And a number of the loans that I am hearing are getting either
renegotiated or are getting more scrutinized or in fact being asked
to be paid off for loans having to do with real estate. I think fun-
damentally sometimes that has to do with maybe regulators press-
ing that button. I hope that is not the case, because most of the
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time when we look at losses that banks take on in real estate, it
wasn’t because of the real estate necessarily, it was the capacity of
the borrowers. But I think sometimes real estate gets tainted as
the poisoned pill, particularly when we have a downturn.

But I want to go to the PPIP program. I guess that is what we
are calling it, PPIP. We heard yesterday or this week that Mr.
Geithner layed out that plan, and it puts FDIC as the 95 percent
guarantor of those obligations that are created. Then we also know
that the FDIC has issued a special assessment on banks, and it is
costing Texas banks nearly a billion dollars, right off the bottom
line, right off their capital structure, at a time when we are hear-
ing that banks are cutting back on their lending.

I guess the first question I have is, if the FDIC doesn’t have the
appropriate reserve funds now, why are we asking them to take on
additional responsibility?

Mr. GRUENBERG. Well, Congressman, the program that was an-
nounced on Monday is an effort to deal with the troubled assets on
the balance sheets of these institutions. Part of the purpose of the
program is to take those troubled assets off the balance sheets and
put those institutions in a better position to lend. So part of the
objective here is to respond to this issue of credit availability.

And that program is still in the process of development, but we
are trying to structure it in a way to keep it separate from the De-
posit Insurance Fund and have it separately supported by
collateralizing those guarantees with the assets that are purchased.
Also, fees will be charged for the guarantees, which will be an addi-
tional buffer. Furthermore, there will be private equity investment,
which would be an additional buffer. So we believe we can struc-
ture the program in way to separate it from the Deposit Insurance
Fund.

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. But you don’t currently have any money in
any fund for that purpose, so where are you going to get that
money from?

Mr. GRUENBERG. The collateralization of these guarantees will
come from the assets that would be purchased. That would be the
first line of protection.

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. But you don’t have a reserve for that cur-
rently?

Mr. GRUENBERG. Well no, once the purchase was made, the as-
sets would be available for collateral.

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. I understand the assets, but in other words,
if you are purchasing assets and you are making banks reserve for
loan losses and you are saying that you are taking bad assets—
those are your words, not mine—off of the books of banks with
some potential loss, they may be securitized, but the question—and
you said that you weren’t going to use any of the funds from the
other reserve—so where are you going to get money from this re-
serve? I mean, if you have losses, how would you pay them?

Mr. GRUENBERG. Well, if there was a default on the loan, we
would have the assets placed as collateral. There would be a num-
ber of funds established. Each fund would charge fees for the guar-
antee. They would also have the ability to build up a reserve fund
as an additional cushion, and there will be private equity invest-
ment in each of these funds as well.
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Mr. NEUGEBAUER. I get that. I still don’t see where you are going
to have any cushion to absorb those losses should those securities—

The second piece of it. It says, I believe, in Treasury Secretary
Geithner’s plan is that FDIC or the regulating entities will go in,
and I guess they will have to sit down with banks and maybe give
them permission to participate in this plan. Do you foresee FDIC
or any of the regulatory entities encouraging or making banks take
certain assets off their books and participating in this program?

Mr. GRUENBERG. I think the program is designed to be voluntary.
I think it will be done in conjunction with the primary Federal reg-
ulator as well as the institution.

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. I can see my time has expired, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN. We will return probably about 12:40.

[recess]

The CHAIRMAN. The committee will reconvene. Mr. Perlmutter is
here. I assumed he will be ready to go while we wait for Mr.
Kroeker, because that is mark-to-market, which you have already
been very explicit about. So, Mr. Perlmutter is recognized for 5
minutes.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Thanks, Mr. Chairman, and when Mr. Kroeker
returns I do have a question or two for him. But he and Mr.
Polakoff had a chance to hear me the other day on mark-to-market
and I appreciate both of you gentlemen returning. We have had a
lot of hearings in this subject, but just, you know, sort of to sum-
marize, we have lost a lot of capital from the securitization market.
Chairman Volcker said, you know, it was at a point where it was
70 percent of credit was coming from the capital markets, 30 per-
cent from the banking. We have lost a lot in the capital markets.

I think we determined the other day that we have lost a lot of
capital for lending and credit purposes because of mark-to-market,
legitimately so or not, you know, there’s been a lot of loss and Mr.
Long, you have been very honest and I appreciate your testimony
today that, you know, from a regulator, from an examiner’s point
of view, OCC is, you know, concerned about, you know, where we’re
going in the economy and wanting to make sure that the banks are
strong, as strong as they can be.

But, we really have had a dramatic contraction in capital. And
it is hitting hard. It is not anecdotes anymore. You heard from Mr.
Jones, you have heard from all of us, businesses, home builders,
restaurants, car dealers, who have been good borrowers, good busi-
ness people in the past, are being shut out of credit. They are.
Whether you’re hearing that from your examiners or not, they are.
That is happening.

And so, Governor Duke mentioned the Interagency Statement on
Meeting the Needs of Creditworthy Borrowers of November 12th,
and there is one sentence in here, I mean, a number of sentences
about making sure that credit is extended. I am reading from the
third or fourth paragraph, “The agencies have directed supervisory
staffs to be mindful of the procyclical affects of excessive tightening
of credit and to encourage banking organizations to practice eco-
nomically viable and appropriate lending activities.” So, there are
words in there that talk about prudence, but also about encour-
aging lending. I will start with you, Mr. Long, and then I want to



35

go to Mr. Kroeker on sort of the mark-to-market situation. Did you
guys get that memo?

Mr. LoNG. Yes, Congressman, actually, we participated in writ-
ing it.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Okay. So, in Colorado—

The CHAIRMAN. If the gentleman would yield. I do want to note,
for historical purposes, that a Member of Congress just asked peo-
ple if they had gotten the memo and there really was a memo.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. And this really does, back in November, recog-
nize the need to maintain, you know, and extend credit because we
have seen, you know, just a loss of demand, a loss of credit, at lev-
els we have never seen before, or at least not for many, many dec-
ades. And so, to a degree, we proceed with the prudent lending
practices, there still has to be a good look at the borrowers. And
my bankers and my borrowers are saying, the examiners are ques-
tioning concentration levels.

So, if you're a homebuilder, like Mr. Neugebauer was talking
about, and you want a new loan, even though you've been a good
customer, you're not going to get it because there’s too much con-
centration in real estate. Too much concentration for auto dealers
because that’s a distressed industry. Restaurants, commercial fa-
cilities, you know, retail outlets, what do you say? And then, an in-
crease of capital from 10 to 10 percent. So, theyre giving me spe-
cific requirements, or at least suggestions, by the examiner. When
an examiner makes a suggestion, you follow it. Am I wrong? Are
my guys way off?

Mr. LoNG. No, Congressman, they are not way off. But let me
put in some context because you raise a number of issues that I
want to address.

First of all, in the memo, we periodically get all 1,800 of our ex-
aminers on the phone and we walk them through, very specifically,
how we want them to treat various loan products, how we want
them to treat concentrations, how we want them to treat real es-
tate appraisals, all of that type of thing and what we do is try to
use lessons learned from the last time we went through this.

So, we do spend a lot of time with our examiners on the phone,
in person, through outreach and through memos to them trying to
strike that balance that I talk about in my written testimony. Sec-
ondly, the issues that you are hearing from your bankers, they are
real issues. These are real issues. We have a number of banks with
heavy concentrations of distressed assets and some of those banks
are going—

Mr. PERLMUTTER. But I think theyre in distressed sectors.
They’re not, sorry.

The CHAIRMAN. We can be more lax, sir, go ahead.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. As opposed to, I mean, these are performing
assets in a distressed sector as determined by you guys. That’s
what I'm hearing.

Mr. LoNG. Well, Congressman, if we have the time, I would like
to address one thing, because I hear this a lot. I hear that exam-
Xlegs are looking at current loans and classifying current loans.

nd I—

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Or not allowing the extension of the line of
credit. And with that, I'll shut up, Mr. Chairman.
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The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Long, do you want to finish for a bit, go
ahead. Mr. Long, do you have any, do you want to conclude, you
go ahead.

Mr. LoNG. Well, I guess the one thing I would say, I won’t take
a lot of time. There is a lot to talk around this performing, non-
performing issue and, if a loan is performing and it’s under reason-
able terms, an examiner will not classify that loan. But just be-
cause it’s current does not mean it’s performing and that’s a whole
long conversation and if you want to talk about that I would—

The CHAIRMAN. Well, I would ask you to elaborate a bit on that.
What do you mean, just because it’s current, it’s not performing?

Mr. LoNG. Well, if the loan is performing under reasonable re-
payment terms, an examiner won’t classify that loan. But what I
hear from bankers at times is, the loan was current but the exam-
iner classified it. Well, it may have been current, but it’s not nec-
essarily performing.

The CHAIRMAN. Well, yes, explain what would make a loan
where the payments were being made not performing?

Mr. LONG. We run into this a lot with commercial real estate. It
is normal practice in some sectors of commercial real estate lending
for the bank to fund an interest carry. And that’s simply to bridge
the timing differences between the cash outflows and the cash
inflows.

So, what we run into in a lot in community banks right now in
some parts of the country are these busted residential development
loans. And technically, they’re current because the bank’s paying
themselves interest and theyre going to be current right up until
the day they default and that loan has to be foreclosed.

The CHAIRMAN. Oh. So by current, you mean the bank is paying
itself? But not that the borrower is paying it. But if the, I think
that’s a term of art that I may not have been the only one who
missed. But if the banker was, if the borrower was continuing to
pay, making the payments, could that still be non-performing?

Mr. LoNG. No, it needs to be under reasonable payment terms.
I mean, every situation is—

The CHAIRMAN. Well, how about the terms that are in the con-
tract?

Mr. LoNG. Every situation is different. If you have a residential
development loan, and it is not working and there is a big hole in
that project, and the borrower is only able to step up and pay inter-
est and the 2-year loan turns into 12-year loan, that is not accept-
able repayment terms.

The CHAIRMAN. Well, but that would, say if it was a 2-year loan,
and it would take 12 years, then that wouldn’t be, they wouldn’t
be making the payments. You may be using terms of art that, by
“current,” I mean the laypeople, myself included, would think that
it meant that they were making the payments they were legally ob-
ligated to pay. Is that not what you mean by current?

Mr. LONG. Per the contract, if it’s interest only, which many of
these are, they may be current, but the loan isn’t performing. The
loan is dead in the water. And many times our examiners will go
in and—
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The CHAIRMAN. All right, so you're talking, if it’s interest only,
even if you're making the interest payments, but no principal pay-
ments, that would be an example.

Mr. LoNG. Right. If it were making principal payments and it
was a reasonable, it was a reasonable repayment,—

The CHAIRMAN. But what do you mean, if they’re making prin-
cipal payments and it’s a reasonable repayment, is that other than
what the contract calls for? How do you, I mean, because I think
that’s some of what, at least, has been alleged to us is, well, I bor-
rowed the money and I'm paying it back on the schedule I'm sup-
posed to pay it back, but they still, you know, cut me off. What
does “reasonable” mean, other than in the terms of the contract?

Mr. LONG. In many of these residential real estate development
loans, per the terms of the contract, there are curtailments made
as the lots are sold and as the houses are built and sold, and the
interest reserve is built in. Technically, some of these loans can be
contractually current, but they’re not going to pay at renewal. The
curtailments will not have taken place. There’s a big hole in the
project, so in some cases—

The CHAIRMAN. So, even if they are paying back the principal on
schedule, they can be declared non-performing.

Mr. POLAKOFF. Mr. Chairman, if I could jump in because I agree
with what Tim is saying. If they are paying back principal and in-
terest, it won’t be determined to be non-performing, but indeed it
could be classified and we could require reserve against it. So,
we're probably mixing jargon a little bit.

The CHAIRMAN. Yes, and I think—

Mr. POLAKOFF. It’s agreed, it will not be delinquent but it indeed,
could be adversely classified.

Mr. LoNG. The point I want to make is, because I hear this a lot
from legislators and bankers that examiners are classifying loans
that are current. Current may not be performing—

The CHAIRMAN. You said that so, but do you not understand how
confusing it is, your use of the term “current?” You may be making
all the payments you’re supposed to make—

Mr. LoNG. Congressman, I can be current on my 30-year car
loan, but I'm not performing. That is not an acceptable perform-
ance.

The CHAIRMAN. What does that mean?

Mr. LoNG. That’s not acceptable.

The CHAIRMAN. How are you current but not performing?

Mr. LONG. Because the payments aren’t at the, performance
needs to—

The CHAIRMAN. Are you making the payments that you are con-
tracted to? But what, you have a 30-year car loan, you said? That
is a hell of a car. But, so you’re paying on your, but you’re making
all the payments you’re supposed to make.

Mr. LoNG. Here’s my point. You know, performance needs to re-
late to something—

The CHAIRMAN. No, don’t—

Mr. LONG. Performance needs to relate to something. And it’s
generally the source of repayment.

The CHAIRMAN. And performance does not relate to the terms of
the contract is what you’re telling me. That when we say perform-
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ance, some of us would think, well, you’re performing according to
the terms of the contract you signed under which you got the
money. Then youre saying no, performance has more meaning
than that—

Mr. LONG. Yes, it does.

The CHAIRMAN. Meeting the terms of the contract doesn’t mean
you are performing.

Mr. LoNG. Congressman, in many cases, it means more.

The CHAIRMAN. But I think you’re using confusing terms and you
need to re-work those terms. At least I, maybe I'm alone, but I
would have assumed that if I were meeting all the terms of the
conltract, I was performing under the contract. Now, so there’s a
real—

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Would the gentleman yield?

The CHAIRMAN. Yes.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. I think what you’re saying, because I did some
of this work back in my old days, when they classify a loan, it’s be-
cause at some point they have made the determination as a pru-
dential regulator that it’s being paid, but it isn’t going to get paid
off, or there ultimately is going to be trouble at the end of the loan.
And that’s a judgment call. And what I'm saying is, go back and
read the memo on the judgment calls, please.

The CHAIRMAN. And I would just add, I understand that, but
don’t call it non-performing. I believe you're confusing what, at
least, people meeting the terms of the contract are performing.
There may be other reasons for canceling it, but I think rather
than saying it’s not performing, you ought to say, in some cases,
performance isn’t enough. And you have to cancel it. I apologize for
the extra time and the gentleman from Alabama is now recognized.

Mr. BACHUS. Maybe I can get a little extra time. I have a letter
from Jimmy Duncan from Knoxville, one of the Congressmen that
I have tremendous respect for and he wrote to all four of the Fed-
eral bank regulators. And on December 29th, and his letter was
about the same thing we'’re talking about here. He said that as the
president of one bank, with which I have no connection whatsoever
said, holding one hand up much higher than the other, I guess he
just said, “Look, I swear this is happening. What they are saying
at the top is not getting down to the bottom.”

In other words, it goes on to say, when the President, the Sec-
retary of the Treasury, and other top officials are trying to unfreeze
the credit market and urging banks to make loans, the bank exam-
iners at the local level are making it almost impossible to do so.
And here’s, I think this is part of the essence of it. And I mean
with all respect for all parties. The examiners, almost none of
whom have ever been in the banking business and thus do not fully
appreciate how difficult it is, are writing up the best, safest loans
on the books.

They are doing this even though all payments are current and
even on loans people have, oh, loans to people who have more than
sufficient income and assets to cover the loan. He goes on to say,
and one of the things that I have talked to him about this letter
and to numerous members and they say, the bankers don’t want
to say this publicly because they're actually, they fear, whether it’s
founded or not, that the examiners will crack down even more.
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But, he says, every bank in east Tennessee has told me over the
last 3 months or so, that the examiners have just gotten ridiculous.
Another banker said, banks cannot make even very good loans
now, strictly because the examiners and their “CYA” attitude. I fig-
ured out what CYA meant. And he talks about the economy actu-
ally is strong in Knoxville, but one of the problems that they're
having, and Chamber and other people have said to him, they're
pulling lines of credit.

Now, I think today’s hearing has been very helpful, because
there has been a lot of dialogue and communication. And I am see-
ing the other perspective. But, what I have tried to say to my col-
leagues and I issued a statement the week before last, saying to
my colleagues that we’re all in this together and we have to watch
what we say and what we do. Because there’s a lot of fear out
there, there’s a lot of uncertainty, and we ought to all be construc-
tive and really realize that right now there are, just, these are real-
ly challenging times.

And even though it may be prudent banking, it may actually, it
may appear to be by the rule book but as Governor Duke said, you
know, until there’s a floor under the housing market, and how do
you do that, you know, we’re going to continue to have problems.
And what people are seeing, theyre seeing us pump hundreds of
billions of dollars into some of these companies and saying, by the
Secretary of Treasury, the Chairman of the Fed, and others, when
the economy recovers, these institutions, we’re going to give them
some breathing room. We're going to give them some time, we're
going to give them liquidity where there’s none and when the econ-
omy comes back, we can get our investment back.

You know, that what these customers are facing right now and
some of our banks. I mean, they need time. That’s what they need.
And that’s why mark-to-market is not giving people time to deal
with illiquid assets. You know, before, in these downturns, they
have had time to work through those and it has taken 4 or 5 years.
I had a conversation with the Chairman of the Fed and he said,
it is going to take years to work these things out. That’s true of
a developer. That’s true of some of these manufacturers. They're
going to need time.

And if you sort of look ahead and particularly if you say, we're
feeding into our calculations things are going to get worse, boy they
will. Because you call in some of these loans or you increase the
terms, you make them pay other than just interest instead of work-
ing with the customer, they’ll dump a lot of inventory on the mar-
ket. You’ll have more fire sales. Everybody. It’s just a downward
cycle. And I really want to say to you, if you're sitting there and
you have to make a choice between, I would make a choice of try-
ing to give people time to work things out.

You know, we're doing, we're spending trillions of dollars to give
people breathing room. We’re spending trillions of dollars under-
standing that if the economy doesn’t come back, you know, that
money then be gone. But you know, I think we have to all assume
that we’re going to all go through this together and things are
going to get better. If we don’t, they won’t. And, I don’t know.

I really think, and let me say this, my father was a contractor,
and there were times when he had to go to the bank to pay his
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men. But then, you know, they knew at that bank because this was
a guy he’d worked with for years. They knew when times got bet-
ter, he’d do better. Sometimes he had 20 guys working for him.
One time he had 2,000. And he rode through the bad times, but
his banker was his friend. And, you know, he needed that banker.
And then, in good times, he was a friend of the bank.

And I think we up here, particularly, we’re on a fixed income. I
mean, 'm going to make the same salary whether the market falls
off next month or goes up. You know, we examiners, we that work
for the Federal Government, our salary, but you know, that’s not
the way it is in these downturns for most people. I don’t have to
worry about my income dropping from $150,000 to $80,000, but you
know if I did, and all of a sudden it dropped, for a year or two and
somebody started looking at that and said, I'm not sure he can pay
this loan, or I'm not sure he can pay that, I'm going to call in this
line of credit, I would be in trouble. And, I mean, I think that’s
what we'’re facing.

And finally, let me say this, and I usually ask questions, I usu-
ally don’t talk, but sometimes it’s not even prudent lending to, you
know, if you go to a developer that has a million dollar line of cred-
it, as one in Birmingham told me last week, he’s paying the inter-
est off, and you call in $200,000 of that, and he’s going to have to
liquidate, or put up for sale one of his two developments, you know,
he’s going to have to sell that really cheap and that’s going to cause
a domino effect. And you know, I think that actually worsens your
chances.

You might get that $200,000 back, but you may end up losing in
the end. And I'm just going to say to you, my time is up. I wish
you would communicate to your examiners, that if given a choice
between calling in a loan and giving folks time, if you can do it
within the regulations. You know, a lot of times, you have discre-
tion. We have discretion up here. We make decisions every day
whether to meet with people or whether not to, or whether to have,
is use your discretion, number one with the attitude that times are
tough out there and number two, I don’t assume things are going
to get worse. Because they will if you keep restricting credit or call-
ing in these loans.

So, thank you.

The CHAIRMAN. The Congressman from Illinois, Mr. Foster.

Mr. BacHUuS. I would like unanimous consent to introduce—

The CHAIRMAN. Without objection.

Mr. BACHUS. —Congressman Jimmy Duncan’s statement.

Mr. FOSTER. Yes. One of the most tragic slices of small busi-
nesses that, you know, come to my office, and I'm sure everyone
else’s, are healthy businesses that have good orders and a profit-
able business and everything else, and yet their credit line is being
reduced because of the drop in the real estate value that was used
to collateralize, you know, their loan. And I was wondering, are
there any of the—any programs out there that could provide collat-
eral support, if you understand what I mean, for businesses in this
specific thing? That is, healthy businesses who are just being clob-
bered by the drop in real estate values.

Mr. POLAKOFF. Congressman, I would offer that—well, first if
you accept the notion that it’s the bankers who make the decision



41

what to do with the loans, not the examiners. So the examiners
don’t decide which loans get funded, which loans don’t get funded,
which loans get called.

Having said that, though, I would submit that both bankers and
examiners should be looking at the cashflow analysis of the under-
lying loan. The collateral is important, but the collateral really only
comes into play if there’s a cashflow crisis. So the cashflow of the
loan should support whatever the line is.

Mr. FOSTER. And do you believe that is the de facto policy? Be-
cause I have certainly heard from people who are being squeezed
by their bank that part of the reason give is that, well, look, you
know, your factory is not worth anything like what it was worth.

Mr. POLAKOFF. Well, sir, there are over 8,000 banks, so I suspect
that there are some bankers who maybe are doing things a little
differently than what I just described. And I suspect there may be
some examiners who are erring way too much on the aggressive
side just to be sure that they don’t make any mistakes. But as a
general theme, I believe what I said would be accurate.

Mr. FOSTER. Do you think if there was explicit collateral support,
that might encourage some slice of lending? Governor?

Ms. DUKE. Congressman, you're right, and particularly a lot of
small businesses that use their home equity to finance their busi-
nesses are being squeezed by that. I think some of the progress
that we have made in talking about loan modifications and talking
about refinance that are now allowing, in the GSE loans, refi-
nances to take place, even when the loan to value might be up to
105 percent. I think that could have some help.

On the commercial property side, there is a program under SBA,
and I'm not quite sure what the funding necessary is. But SBA
does have a program where the bank lends 50 percent of the value
and then the SBA loan covers 40 percent and the businessman has
10 percent. That sometimes helps businesses who otherwise
wouldn’t have largedown payments or equity positions in their
buildings.

Mr. FOSTER. Okay. And those SBA programs are limited by the
funds allocated to them? Are they limited by recent availability?

Ms. DUKE. I have to say I'm not quite sure I understand that,
but I think that’s a program that could be very valuable in the cur-
rent environment.

Mr. FosTER. Okay. Mr. Polakoff, you mentioned that lowering
the loan to value during economic upswings was—could be a cru-
cial part of keeping from getting into this mess ahead of time. And
do you imagine doing that by formula or by some political ap-
pointee or an independent entity with the wisdom of Greenspan
or—who’s going to make that decision?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Well, I think the folks sitting up at this table in
all likelihood through the FFIEC, which is that interagency body,
need to be chatting about, things like that which is countercyclical,
that the former Comptroller of the Currency, Gene Ludwig, has
given a number of speeches about, countercyclical regulation and
the importance of it. And it’s something as simple as the LTV. It’s
something as important as building up the allowance for loan and
lease loss in the good times without the outside accountants and
auditors suggesting that it’s inflated.



42

So there are a number of issues I think we can touch on.

Mr. FOSTER. Yes. But you could actually imagine that someone
like you would be in a position where the economy is going and the
bubble is going up, and, you know, half of this committee is asking
you, why are you squeezing the bubble when it’s bubbling up? It
seems to me that if you could establish formulas that at least pro-
vided a basis level for what the loan to value ought to be, then—
and established a very high political threshold for changing that
formula, that you’d have a much better defense against political
pressure to, you know, not rain on the parade.

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir.

Mr. FOSTER. I yield back.

The CHAIRMAN. The panel—oh, the gentlewoman from Florida is
here and she is the last member here who has the right from our
prior discussions to ask questions. So I will recognize the gentle-
woman from Florida.

Ms. KosMAs. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you all for being
here today. I wanted to chat with you for just a moment about a
very specific aspect of lending that I am hearing, and you’ve heard
people sort of nipping around the edges of this all morning, I be-
lieve. But I'm dealing with a lot of people in my district, and people
coming to me here in Washington who are currently operating their
businesses, and it could be anything from, you know, $500,000 to
$100 million a year business based on lines of credit that they rely
on.

These are commercial loans, which, as you know, generally have
what I call a rollover, 3 years, 5 years, 7 years, whenever they be-
come due to be renewed. And they, as you have heard others say,
are being denied the opportunity to renew or rollover those loans.

And I have been saying at every turn that I have an opportunity
to say it, is that this is what I call, you know, Tier 2 of the eco-
nomic problems that we’re seeing in this country. Tier 1 may be the
housing that you talked about, Governor Duke, but Tier 2 being
those businesses, and I'm not talking about small businesses less
than ten employees that were discussed this morning, but I'm talk-
ing about other businesses, whether it’s shopping centers, hotels,
leisure activities, cruise ships, time share businesses, or any other
kind of business, and there are lots of them. I happen to be from
Florida, so thus the tourist interest specifically.

But I'm very, very concerned about this particular group of bor-
rowers and their inability to renew their lines of credit that keep
them in business, because I think if we think a neighborhood of
empty homes is a problem, when we start to see shops and other
things literally closing their doors, we're going to understand that
we have a whole different problem on our hands. And, obviously,
the ability for these businesses to continue to operate helps the em-
ployment statistics and helps the housing statistics, and it keeps
some things at bay that would be significantly worse should they
not be able to get the credit.

So my question I guess to you is, what is it perhaps that you are
regulating, or is it the banks and lenders that is putting this pres-
sure on people who have completely performing, compliant loans
and lines of credit that are unable to get them renewed or rolled
over so that they can keep their businesses going? What do you
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think is at the root of that? And then what would you think would
be some way that we can mitigate it or resolve it? Would anyone
like to respond?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Well, I'll take a stab, and my colleagues will help
me. I think, as Tim said earlier, there are a number of institutions
that want to diversify their loan portfolio. The two consistent prob-
lems within institutions that are distressed is either a concentra-
tion of risk or excessive growth. And I think we’re finding more and
more institutions that need to diversify their portfolio or believe
they need to diversify their portfolio to better spread out the risk
among various industries, various borrowers.

Many times, it is simply a strategic decision by the board of di-
rectors or the executive management of the institution.

Ms. Kosmas. Thank you. Did anyone else want to respond? I
would only say in response to that, 'm wondering whether anybody
is looking at the big picture. Because if what you’re saying is that
individual institutions or banks or lenders are making decisions
based on their individual portfolio, that we could have a sort of a
stealth crisis going on here that could explode and, as I said, turn
into something much worse than what we’re currently experiencing
if what I'm hearing is as consistent across-the-board as I believe it
to be, then how do we resolve it?

Ms. DUKE. I'll take a stab at it if you like. I think Congressman
Bachus may have put his finger on the problem. It’s not necessarily
the most creditworthy borrowers or the healthiest banks. It’s when
you have banks that have some difficulties of their own, and they
can’t be as accommodating to long-term customers as they might
have been otherwise.

And so we have this whole chain of the government being more
patient in working with the banks in order to—or working with the
bank regulators so that they can work with the banks, so that they
can then work with their customers. And in a lot of these cases,
the customers are under stress themselves. Their sales are down
and their collateral values are down. And so if at the same time
the banks are in weak condition or concerned about criticism from
examiners, then they are not as willing as they would have been
otherwise to work with those borrowers until they get to better
times.

And I think that’s the case that we really need to find a way to
attack. I think you're exactly right.

Ms. KosMAS. Again, I guess my question would be, is there any-
body looking at the big picture of what the cumulative difficulty of
this is, rather than to say each bank has its own problems. And,
again, I refer back to the opening comment. I'm talking about com-
pletely compliant, performing loans, which have not seen any dif-
ficulty at all and the businesses have a business plan that is work-
ing, and there’s no reason to suspect that they wouldn’t continue
to function in the same way that they have for as many—in some
cases, many, many years.

And the big picture question is one, and then, Mr. Polakoff, if
you’re going to address that, I was wondering whether your 4th
suggestion as a solution which referred to countercyclical regula-
tions might include anything that would allow lenders or banks to
perhaps set aside these performing loans and have them counted
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in a ?different way or set aside from the other regulatory restric-
tions?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Congresswoman, I have a number of thoughts. 1
think you touched on an interesting point that I had not thought
about before, which is assessing in a horizontal way what indus-
tries may be finding themselves limited, limited access to capital.
That’s an interesting point. We hadn’t thought about that. There
are ways for us to do that, so, I think that’s a takeaway for us we
should consider.

The countercyclical aspect, one area that we hadn’t discussed, is
literally the notion of capital. Right now, the regulators tend to
look at institutions and have a standard. All institutions should be
well capitalized. Is it rational for us to say all institutions should
be well capitalized both in the good times and in the bad times, or
are there ways for us to say, in the most distressed times, like
Whlat \ge’re facing right now, maybe it’s okay to be adequately cap-
italized.

Now the reality is, there are some triggers that are impacted by
an adequately capitalized institution. Maybe we need to look at
those and make some determinations as to whether they're rel-
evant in today’s economic cycle.

The CHAIRMAN. We're running out of time. If I could borrow 15
seconds from the gentlewoman, I would say that’s exactly, the last
point, where I think mark-to-market comes in. That is, are they in-
adequately capitalized because of some major failure, or are they
inadequately capitalized because of a mark-to-market on some
longer-term assets? And I certainly think the capital reaction ought
to be different in those cases. That’s very much what we have been
trying to get at.

I thank this panel.

Mr. BacHUS. Mr. Chairman?

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Alabama first, and then the
gentleman from Colorado.

Mr. BacHUS. I have a mark-to-market question, and basically
what it is, I'm not one who wants to suspend mark-to-market. I
think the revisions are going to be good. But I also think maybe
that we could rethink capital requirements or moving to capital re-
quirements that are more countercyclical, that recognize the envi-
ronment we’re in, which is exactly what you have said. But I will
submit that for the record for you all to make—

The CHAIRMAN. Yes. And I think on that last point, we have a
%ot of agreement on that. The gentleman from Colorado is the
ast—

Mr. PERLMUTTER. For the record, thank you, Mr. Chairman, on
the mark-to-market issue, I want to introduce a letter dated March
23, 2009 from former FDIC Chair Isaac, written to you, Mr. Chair-
man, and the ranking member, on mark-to-market and the
changes, and I would like to give a copy to you, Mr. Kroeker, so
that you guys can continue to work on this. Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN. And I reiterate, if there are any statutory
changes that are needed for you to act in that way, we need to
know them. The panel is thanked and excused, and the next panel
will come forward. Let’s move quickly, please. We will convene the
second panel, and I want to begin by—but before we do, let me say
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this. And I'm going to call on my colleague, Mr. Wilson, but I have
consulted with the ranking member. We have had a very long day.

I think what we most want to hear is what this panel has to say
about what you have just heard. So in consultation with the Rank-
ing Member, I'm going to ask everyone to speak for 7 minutes rath-
er than 5 minutes. We probably won’t need a lot of questions. We
do have a markup at 2:15, but I think we believe it is much more
important for us to hear your comments on what we have just had
the conversation about than to ask you further questions. So, with
that, you'll each have 7 minutes if you want, and then there will
be time for a couple of rounds of questions. And with that, I want
to recognize my colleague from Ohio, Mr. Wilson, to make an intro-
duction.

Mr. WiLsoN ofF OHIO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for
giving me the opportunity to introduce a fellow Ohioan. Steve Wil-
son is here on behalf of the American Bankers Association. Steve
is chairman of the board and chief executive officer at LCNB Na-
tional Bank in Lebanon, Ohio, and past chairman of the Ohio
Bankers League.

He has been very active in the Ohio community, serving as board
member of the Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland, chairman of the
Advisory Board for Miami University in Middletown, and current
board member and treasurer of the AAA in Cincinnati, a board
member of the Harmon Civic Trust, a trustee of Countryside
WMCA in Lebanon, and a board member of the Warren County
Foundation. He is a member of the Area Progress Council of War-
ren County, and he serves as the vice chairman of the Warren
County Port Authority.

I'm pleased to have an Ohioan here to testify, and I'm proud that
he’s a banker who is actively investing in our community. In Janu-
ary of 2009, LCNB National Bank approved $11,593,000 of loans
to individuals, $6,892,000 in loans to businesses, and $18,353,000
in loans to municipal governments, including Salem Township in
my district in southeastern Ohio.

Steve, welcome to our committee and thank you for coming
today. We look forward to hearing from you.

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Wilson, please go ahead for 7 minutes.

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN WILSON, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, LCNB CORPORATION AND
LCNB NATIONAL BANK, ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN BANKERS
ASSOCIATION (ABA)

Mr. WILSON. Thank you very much. Chairman Frank, Ranking
Member Bachus, and members of the committee, as introduced, my
name is Steve Wilson. I am chairman and CEO of LCNB National
Bank. We have over $650 million in assets and have served our
community for 131 years. I appreciate the opportunity to testify on
behalf of ABA.

Everyone is frustrated about the current confused situation sur-
rounding the Capital Purchase Program (CPP). We had hoped that
by the time we were here today, the mixed messages and disincen-
tives would have disappeared, but in fact they are worse today
than they ever have been. If programs to stimulate the economy
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are to reach their full potential, the confusion must be clarified and
the disincentives corrected

Conflicting messages have characterized the Capital Purchase
Program from the beginning. Banks were actively encouraged by
Treasury and banking regulators to participate. Indeed, many
healthy banks decided to participate even though they were al-
ready very well capitalized. And even though they were very nerv-
ous at the time, that already the program requirements could
change dramatically, and unilaterally, at the will of Treasury or
Congress.

My bank, which is well capitalized, applied for and received
$13.4 million of CPP in January. I am proud to point out that we
were given that opportunity to receive these funds because of our
past and current performance in providing loans to those in the
communities we serve. We are strong and we are secure. The CPP
funds enabled us to respond to our customers when they need cred-
it. In fact, we continue to make loans, sticking to our traditional
commitment of making responsible loans that make good economic
sense for both the borrower and our bank.

I would also note that we sent Treasury our first dividend check
of $67,000 last month. The first dividend payment for all CPP
banks totaled $2.4 billion, which shows that CPP is truly an invest-
ment by the government in health banks.

Over the last few weeks, banks have received messages that dis-
courage participation in the CPP. But it goes beyond banks that
have received the capital injections. The entire industry is unfairly
suffering from the perception of weakness perpetuated by govern-
ment-created mixed messages. Banks hear the message to continue
to lend, to help stimulate the economy. But they also hear mes-
sages that pull them back from lending, from field examiners that
may apply overly conservative standards, requiring severe asset
writedowns; from FDIC premium assessment rules that will take
$15 billion out of the industry in the second quarter; and from mis-
placed accounting rules that overstate economic losses.

Any one of these challenges could be handled on its own. But
taken collectively, the impact is an absolute nightmare for banks.
All of these forces work against lending, which is so critical to our
economic recovery. Clarity is so important right now, particularly
for CPP participants. The continued speculation of further govern-
ment involvement continues to unnecessarily erode consumer con-
fidence in the Nation’s banking system. I cannot say strongly
enough that the investment of private capital will not return until
the fear of further government involvement or dilution of private
equity investments in the banking system has been significantly
abated. Private capital, rather than taxpayer money, is the founda-
tion of our economic system. What the private capital markets are
looking for is a steady hand and a predictable government. Wary
investors will fear that the government will further change the
rules that were in place when banks signed the contracts with the
Treasury. That is why it is so critical that the role of government
be clearly defined and limited.

I thank you for the opportunity to testify today, and I'll look for-
ward to answering questions. Thank you.
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[The prepared statement of Mr. Wilson can be found on page 176
of the appendix.]

Mr. WILSON OF OHIO. [presiding] Sorry, Mr. Ranking Member,
sir. Let me repeat that. We will now hear from Brad Hunkler, vice
president and controller, Western & Southern Financial Group, on
behalf of the Financial Services Roundtable.

STATEMENT OF BRADLEY J. HUNKLER, VICE PRESIDENT AND
CONTROLLER, WESTERN & SOUTHERN FINANCIAL GROUP,
ON BEHALF OF THE FINANCIAL SERVICES ROUNDTABLE

Mr. HUNKLER. Thank you. I would like to express my gratitude
to Chairman Frank and Ranking Member Bachus and the com-
mittee for the opportunity to be here today and to speak on behalf
of the Financial Services Roundtable and Western & Southern Fi-
nancial Group.

The role of the financial services industry, including nonbanking
institutions, needs to be a significant component of your work in
expanding credit to consumers and commercial enterprises. The fi-
nancial services industry invests in all types of consumer loans, in-
cluding mortgages, credit cards, auto loans, student loans, and
many others. The primary investment vehicle for these loans for
nonbanking institutions is through securitization.

The amount of consumer lending financed by nonbanking institu-
tions is critically important to maintaining adequate lending capac-
ity for the broader economy. Unfortunately, though, there have
been many problems with these assets for the financial services in-
dustry as a whole. As such, the industry has been adversely im-
pacted by a lack of regulation, oversight, and clarity of the
securitization process. Certainly the economic conditions, such as
high unemployment and falling housing prices, have adversely im-
pacted the collateral of these assets, but other noneconomic factors
that could have been avoided also have contributed to the losses.

As noted in many media reports, this includes rampant fraud in
the mortgage origination and underwriting process, poor under-
writing standards that overemphasized rising housing prices and
did not adequately consider borrower creditworthiness, monoline
insurers whose risk exposures were too highly correlated, inad-
equate analysis and stress testing from the rating agencies re-
sulted in over-inflated ratings, and a lack of transparency relating
to the underwriting collateral—underlying collateral and deal
structure which contributed to inefficient price discovery.

In addition to the liquidity—I'm sorry. The issues are—these
issues are specific primarily to the nonagency mortgage markets.
The industry has also been adversely impacted by lack of trans-
parency and regulatory oversight of the student loan market,
where investors who purchased auction rate preferred securities for
short-term liquidity needs, are now stuck with illiquid long-term
securities with uncertain payment provisions. Some of these issues
have been resolved for consumers but not large institutions like in-
surance companies.

In addition to the liquidity and valuation challenges, mark-to-
market accounting has compounded the problems for the financial
services industry. Some institutions generally hold whole loans
that are not required to be fair valued, while others, including in-
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stitutions companies, hold mostly securities which are required to
be mark-to-market. These are the areas I ask Congress to focus on
going forward so that when economic conditions improve, institu-
tions will return to the securitization markets.

The industry has raised the issue of mark-to-market accounting
concerns since the first major application of market value account-
ing in FASB Statement Number 115. At the time of early delibera-
tions on FAS 115 in the late 1980’s, interest rates were at all time
highs, primarily Treasury rates. The insurance industry had ex-
traordinary unrealized losses on its investment portfolios, and
most, if not all, insurance companies would have reflected negative
book values at that time. The industry on the whole question of
usefulness or the meaning of reflecting negative book values due to
high interest rates having a long-term cashflow-oriented investing
strategy allows insurers to manage through periods of interest rate
volatility.

Today, excessive speculation in the markets has made market
prices potentially deceptive when reflected in the equity of financial
statements. Market participants speculate more on assets—can
speculate more on assets’ ability to increase or decrease in value
than on its inherent ability to provide future cashflows. This specu-
lation has led to market bubbles and busts. Adding market values
to financial statements in this environment can be misleading.
During market bubbles, financial statements can illustrate a false
wealth effect. This can lead to excessive risk-taking and over-
leveraging nonexistent equity. During periods of market declines,
the opposite is true. As the market values decline, reported losses
in excess of real losses can lead to restricted risk-taking and capital
preservation. This can lead to irrational exuberance in bubble peri-
ods, irrational fear during the bust. While markets can accommo-
date, potentially accommodate this type of volatility, the sanctity of
the Nation’s financial institutions needs to be immune to it.

To address the issue of procyclicality, some would suggest pro-
viding a countercyclical regulatory capital model and retaining
market values and other procyclical indicators in reported financial
statements. I do not believe this represents a sound approach. Re-
ported financial statements that show excessive volatility and po-
tentially negative book values can fuel adverse consumer activity.
If regulatory reporting shows strong financial strength through this
reporting mechanism, it has the potential to be dismissed, or even
worse, it can discredit the regulatory model altogether.

Market prices do, though, provide beneficial information for fi-
nancial statement users. They provide an objective source of value
and can, during normal market cycles, be a proxy for value. Also,
market prices are the value that can be exchange of assets or re-
quired to be liquidated. In addition, some assets are acquired for
purposes of trading and should therefore reflect market prices in
the financial statements.

Investors have spoken clearly that fair value accounting does
provide meaningful information. But the desire for objective finan-
cial data has led to the replacement of principles of prudence and
conservatism in accounting with fair value accounting. Therefore,
I believe the primary measurement should be cost for cashflow in-
vestors. Losses should be recorded when cashflows are impaired, up
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to the amount of the impaired cashflows. Then to accommodate the
needs of investors and to provide transparent financial information,
fair value supplements can be provided to investors that would ac-
company earnings releases and reported results. These fair values
could represent exit values and reflect the impact of liquidating fi-
nancial instruments if required.

While the FASB may have a more than adequate due process in
the exposure and issuance of new standards, the problem is that
the preparer concerns have had little weight in the ultimate deci-
sion on the issuance of new standards. Investor concerns, primarily
the voices of large investor organizations, have driven the FASB
agenda in support of fair valuing all financial instruments, and
other nonfinancial instruments.

What is interesting, though, is as the FASB has continued to in-
troduce new fair value measurement requirements, equity analysts
continue to guide companies to exclude the results of these fair
value changes from the core operating earnings they report in their
earnings release. What equity analysts are interested in is under-
standing run- rate earnings and growthin earnings so that they can
determine the fair value of the company, as opposed to reflecting
the results on the balance sheet.

Congress could potentially play a role in the oversight of the
FASB due process, but I think we want to stress the importance
of independence in the standard-setting model. We do believe that
is critical, but we would welcome some oversight to ensure that
preparer concerns are adequately reflected in the due process of
FASB. It’s a good due process but doesn’t always result in all con-
cerns being adequately addressed. I appreciate the opportunity to
be here and welcome any questions you have.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Hunkler can be found on page
112 of the appendix.]

Mr. PERLMUTTER. [presiding] We will now hear from Michael S.
Menzies, Sr., president and chief executive officer of Easton Bank
and Trust Company on behalf of the Independent Community
Bankers of America.

Mr. Menzies?

STATEMENT OF R. MICHAEL S. MENZIES, SR., PRESIDENT AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, EASTON BANK AND TRUST
COMPANY, ON BEHALF OF THE INDEPENDENT COMMUNITY
BANKERS OF AMERICA (ICBA)

Mr. MENzIES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Ranking
Member Bachus. It is certainly my honor to be here.

As you said, I am president of Easton Bank and Trust from the
beautiful Eastern Shore of Maryland. I am especially proud to be
the new chairman of the Independent Community Bankers of
America.

We are a $170 million bank on the Eastern shore, a community
bank, a Subchapter S bank. I am thrilled to represent some 8,000
banks from around this Nation and our 5,000 members in the
ICBA to talk about exploring the balance between increased credit
availability and prudent lending standards.

Notwithstanding Mr. Long’s concern that community banks are
overextended, and community banks need to be prepared for a
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worse environment, the vast majority of community banks are well
capitalized, well managed institutions, actively participating in the
economic recovery by lending to small and medium-sized busi-
nesses and consumers in their communities.

Community banks represent thousands of communities through-
out the Nation and they make relationship-based decisions. We do
not make decisions based solely on scoring models or rating agen-
cies, algorithms or computer simulations.

However, the community bank regulatory climate is causing
many community banks to unnecessarily restrict lending activities.

For one, there appears to be a disconnect between the banking
regulators in Washington who are promoting lending, and we are
hearing this, and the field examination staff who require overly ag-
gressive write-down’s and reclassifications of viable commercial
real estate loans and other assets.

Yes, Mr. Bachus, what they are saying at the top is not reaching
the bottom.

Community bankers report that examiners require write-down’s
or classifications of performing loans due to the value of collateral
irrespective of the income or the cash flow or the liquidity of the
borrower.

By placing loans on non-accrual, even though the borrower is
current on payments, discounting entirely the value of guarantors,
substituting the examiner judgment for that of the appraiser, and
de-valuing loans merely because it is lying in or close to an area
of high foreclosure levels, this all reduces credit available to com-
munities.

What we expect is examiners to be more thorough and careful
with their examinations during an economic downturn. Based on
what we have heard from our members, we believe that in many
cases, examiners have gone too far.

Excessively through exams that result in potentially unnecessary
losses of earnings and capital can have an adverse impact on the
ability of community banks to lend, since community banks are the
prime engine behind small business lending, any contraction of
lending further exacerbates the current economic downturn and
impedes the flow of loans to creditworthy borrowers.

Community banks are not de-leveraging. We are leveraging up
and we need to continue to leverage up.

ICBA does appreciate the recent overtures from banking regu-
lators to improve the examination environment for better commu-
nications between banks and regulators, and the education of agen-
cy field staffs on the consequences of overly restrictive examination
practices on credit availability.

We have several recommendations in our written testimony that
would create a regulatory environment that promotes community
bank lending. I would like to highlight a few.

Number one, examiners must take a long-term view toward real
estate held by banks as collateral on loans and not demand aggres-
sive write-down’s and reclassifications of loans because illiquid or
dysfunctional markets have forced sales.

Real estate assets are long-term assets, and should not be based
upon the short-term business cycle valuations that we are facing
today.
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Number two, unlike some large money center in regional banks,
the hallmark of community bank loan underwriting is a personal
relationship with the borrowers we lend to, and character does in
fact count in community bank lending.

During this economic crisis, regulators should allow a bank to
hold a small basket of character loans from borrowers who have a
strong record of meeting contractual obligations and where there
are other indicators that support the repayment of that loan.

Loans in the basket would be exempt from strict underwriting
standards and could not be criticized by examiners as long as they
are performing. The amount of loans that could be held in such a
basket might be a percentage of capital.

Three, the examination in the field process should be strength-
ened to make it easier for bankers to appeal without fear of exam-
ination retaliation.

Agency ombudsman determinations should be strengthened and
the ombudsman made more independent.

Four, the FDIC should find an alternative, and we are pleased
they are seeking an alternative, to the 20 basis points special as-
sessment which would consume much of bank earnings in 2009 and
further constrain lending.

The special assessment should include a systematic risk pre-
mium and be based on assets. I have never lost based on deposits
and liabilities.

Five, OTTI accounting rules are distorting the true value of fi-
nancial firms and needlessly exacerbating the credit crisis. This
does not serve the best interest of investors or the economy.

We appreciate the committee’s efforts to resolve this accounting
issue. We believe FASB’s recent proposal could be a positive step
in resolving mark-to-market problems. We will be providing further
suggestions and clarifications to the FASB.

If there is time later, I would be happy to comment about this
subject to performing loans, I have strong opinions about the mean-
ing of a “performing loan” in today’s regulatory world.

Thank you so much for this opportunity.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Menzies can be found on page
151 of the appendix.]

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Thank you for your testimony, Mr. Menzies.

Now, we will turn to Mr. Randall “Truckenbrodt.” Is that close?

Mr. TRUCKENBRODT. Close.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. American Equipment Rentals on behalf of the
National Federation of Independent Business.

Mr. Truckenbrodt?

STATEMENT OF RANDALL TRUCKENBRODT, AMERICAN
EQUIPMENT RENTALS, ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL FED-
ERATION OF INDEPENDENT BUSINESS

Mr. TRUCKENBRODT. Thank you. Mr. Chairman and members of
the committee, I want to thank you for allowing me the chance to
tell my story.

My name is Randall Truckenbrodt. I am a small businessman
and member of the National Federation of Independent Business.
I am in the construction equipment rental business in Florida, Illi-
nois, and Indiana.
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I and my employees have felt the economic downturn, and I am
doing everything I can to stay in business and keep my employees
working.

While many policy leaders have talked about improving access to
credit for small business, my problem, like most small businesses,
has been just trying to keep the doors open and my employees on
the payroll.

Unfortunately, my experience with Bank of America has made
that prospect more difficult. I started doing business with Bank of
America about 7 years ago in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. The rela-
tionship started with a small line of credit of $250,000, with a com-
pany that was in need of rebuilding. After accomplishing that feat,
the lending officer was impressed and wanted to do more deals.

Over the years, we have done quite a few mortgages with Bank
of America. In August of 2008, I received a call from an executive
at the bank’s headquarters stating that I was in their work-out de-
partment. The work-out department of a bank is where they work
on non-performing or underperforming loans.

I asked why I would be in a work-out department since I had
never missed a payment on any loan with Bank of America or any
bank for that matter over 32 years that I had been in business.

The executive stated I was in the work-out department because
one of my companies, American Equipment Rental in Pompano
Beach, Florida, was operating at a loss, to which I replied, “So
what.”

I reminded him that I had never missed a payment with the
bank and have no intention of stopping payments going forward.

We discussed the probability of the company making a profit
going forward. I explained that forecasting a profit is difficult to
predict in this credit market because it is holding up construction
projects and the fact that the real estate market had been over-
cooked for years in Florida.

I further explained that we were changing some things to help
the recovery process and that I have a pretty good track record of
fixing our businesses when they come under outside pressures.

After several months, Bank of America advised me that it would
be sending me terms for a waiver letter to be issued. I have had
25 to 30 waiver letters issued by banks through the years, and they
have always been issued at no charge. Waiver letters protect the
bank’s rights while allowing a customer to work their way back
into compliance.

Since late November, Bank of America sent three proposals ex-
plaining their terms for issuing a waiver letter. In the first letter,
the Bank of America executive indicated he would charge my com-
pany $59,000 in fees and require the company to re-appraise all the
mortgaged properties at an estimated cost of $25,000. The bank
was proposing to impose all these fees on an not profitable com-
pany that it used measuring profits against. I have never heard of
anything so ridiculous.

The rest of the conditions of the waiver terms included a state-
ment that I would agree to release all claims against Bank of
America. The natural question is, why would I be asked not to sue
them if they are doing the things right?
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We received 4 of these demand letters over a period of 6 weeks,
each one offered to lower the fees in order to get this waiver letter
issued.

The third letter indicated it would waive all fees and costs if we
would agree to change the maturity of these long-term notes from
2025 to April of 2009. Of course, to sign a statement not to sue
them.

The final offer imposed on the last day of this past year a default
interest rate of 12.95 percent, 6 points higher than the current
rate.

I refused to agree to their terms. One of my concerns was the dif-
ficulty in getting these small business loans placed elsewhere, and
what it would cost the business to replace them.

These tactics are very troubling especially since they are directed
at a small business that has always paid its debts. It bothers me
that these tactics might be directed at small business owners all
over this country, some of whom might not put up a fight or even
understand that they can fight back.

Imagine if a bank were doing this to a homeowner who was
granted a mortgage based on a certain income level but then lost
his job. Would the bank then demand additional fees even though
the homeowner continued paying his mortgage from savings?
Would the bank start reappraising the property and charging the
homeowner the cost?

In my case, it feels as though Bank of America is doing every-
thing in its power to drive my company towards bankruptcy.

Over the past 6 weeks, the bank has initiated without consent
the reappraisal of the properties and they have not communicated
any information about these appraisals after numerous requests.

I have never had an appraisal of real estate where a request for
more capital was not the basis, such as a refinance.

Finally, I was instructed last week that they intended to raid our
accounts for the cost of the appraisals. I will fight these fees in
court, if necessary, and have advised Bank of America of that fact.

Bank of America has received billions of dollars in taxpayer bail-
out money. It was my understanding that the money was supposed
to be used to help individuals and businessmen through this rough
economy. Instead, they have used it to fund a war against their
customers.

I have never asked for or expected help from the government, but
I also was not expecting an attack on my business from a bank
where all my bank loans are current.

It seems to me that Bank of America is trying to pull cash out
of my business to benefit theirs. I wonder if I am the only small
business they are doing this to.

If Congress treated Bank of America the way they have treated
their customers, they would be out of business, and everything that
has been said today applies to me. There is so much more to this
story, but I appreciate the opportunity to tell it.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Truckenbrodt can be found on
page 172 of the appendix.]

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Thank you, Mr. Truckenbrodt.
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Those buzzers mean we have some votes. I think we can get
through Mr. Berg, and probably Mr. Wilson, and then hopefully
Mr. Manzullo before we take a break.

Mr. Richard S. Berg will be our next witness. He is the president
and chief executive officer of Performance Trust Capital Partners,
LLC.

Mr. Berg?

STATEMENT OF RICHARD S. BERG, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EX-
ECUTIVE OFFICER, PERFORMANCE TRUST CAPITAL PART-
NERS, LLC

Mr. BERG. Thank you, Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bach-
us, and members of the committee for inviting me to speak today.

My name is Richard Berg. I am the CEO of Performance Trust
Capital Partners. We are a broker-dealer specializing in evaluating
the risk rewards of fixed income cash flows, including mortgage
backed securities. Our customer base consists of community banks
throughout the United States who also lend.

My written testimony obviously is beyond the 5-minute span, so
I am going to summarize it in the following points, and really was
interested in the discussion on the securitization market that no
longer exists, because I will address that in this.

Here is question number one. What is the definition of a “toxic
asset?” We are spending trillions, we ought to know what that is.

Number two, what makes an asset toxic?

Number three, what are the automatic ramifications once an
asset is considered toxic?

Number four, are there assets called “toxic” that should not be
called “toxic?”

Number five, what can be done to de-toxify assets?

One of the keys to understanding the toxic problem can be found
in recognizing how the use of letter ratings hard coded into invest-
ment policies, regulations, collateral agreements, counterparty
agreements, can become an automatic mechanism for labeling as-
sets as “toxic.”

For regulated institutions like banks and insurance companies,
toxic assets are typically identified by the credit ratings provided
by the rating agencies.

As you may know, the rating agencies’ scale typically goes from
AAA to AA to A to BBB to BB to B, all the way down to the letter
D.

Most regulations for financial institutions and insurance compa-
nies set BBB as the lowest rung for investment grade. Corporate
bonds below investment grade are called “junk.” Mortgages and
other structured product below investment grade are called “toxic.”

Let me give you a simplified example. Consider in 2006 that a
lender sold 1,000 loans to good creditworthy borrowers and those
loans were then sold in the marketplace, packaged as a normal
mortgage backed security. Let us say there was a AAA tranche cre-
ated off that mortgage backed security.

Three years later in 2009, the housing market deteriorated. The
economy deteriorated. More people are delinquent than were origi-
nally expected.
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Let us suppose for the sake of argument that we know enough
loans will go bad so the investor of this AAA security will not re-
ceive the full 100 percent but will receive 99 percent of the contrac-
tual cash flows.

The impact on the yield of the organization or the institution is
minimal, maybe going from 6 percent down to 5.95 percent.

I believe everybody in this room will agree that while this is not
perfect, this asset is clearly not toxic, but rather remains a high
quality one.

I am not sure that everyone in this room is aware that this secu-
rity, because it is expected to not receive 100 percent of its contrac-
tual cash flow but 99 percent, would be rated CCC.

Stated another way, 100 percent of this asset backed by thou-
sands of individual loans is considered toxic because of a very small
percentage of loans that default.

Now that the security is well below investment grade, what are
the automatic ramifications hard coded into policies, accounting,
collateral agreements, and regulatory standing, like the system?

Your capital goes down. There are few buyers of CCC assets, so
market prices go down. You have an increase in troubled assets,
you are becoming a troubled bank. OTTI says you have an impair-
ment problem, we are going to mark-to-market.

Counterparty agreements are problematic, you have liquidity
problems. You have ineligible collateral. You have more liquidity
problems.

What is the result of this? You are not going to have a lot of
lending and you have a frozen securitization market.

In essence, this security went from a AAA, high quality, liquid,
pledgeable security, to 100 percent highly speculative, very illiquid,
non-pledgeable security because of a CCC rating based on an ex-
pected 1 percent loss in cash flow.

Although the economic difference between getting 100 percent of
cash flows and 99 percent is insignificant, the ramifications to a fi-
nancial institution is devastating because in most cases, the letter
rating is hard coded into all the rules, and below investment grade
becomes a cliff event.

For decades, letter ratings made sense because all issuers were
single obligor issuers, and the rating tried to describe the prob-
ability of default, because default was either zero or 100 percent.

For a multiple obligor backed security, like most of the securities
backed by loans, the letter scale makes no sense. We know there
will be defaults. The question is how many.

The rating scale for multiple obligor assets should be numerically
based, because so many existing policies, agreements, collateral
agreements, regulation, accounting, is hard coded into these letter
ratings.

Billions if not trillions of multiple obligor securities are now con-
sidered toxic because they are simply below investment grade, even
though many of them will actually incur minimal loss.

We need to change the letter ratings for multiple obligor securi-
ties immediately to a numerically based rating system, to more ac-
curately reflect the structure and the risk of multiple obligor secu-
rities.
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Thank you in this late moment for allowing me to present my
opinions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Berg can be found on page 63 of
the appendix.]

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Thank you, Mr. Berg. We really appreciate
your testimony.

Mr. Polakoff, I am glad you are still here to listen to this, and
I hope that when you leave today, you will share with Mr. Long,
Mr. Kroeker, Governor Duke, and Mr. Gruenberg what you are
hearing.

This is what we are hearing all the time. It is with justification
that we are concerned about the actions that are being taken on
behalf of the regulators, that it is just contracting credit at a tre-
mendous rate. We are pouring money in at the top and it evapo-
rates at the bottom.

Mr. Manzullo, why do we not hear from Mr. Wilson and let him
ask his questions. Do you want to take a break now, go vote, and
the three of us will ask questions when we come back?

Mr. WILSON OF OHIO. Maybe we can explain to them what we
are doing.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Since I do not often sit in the chair, I will
apologize. We are voting now on a couple of matters. We will leave
and run over to the Capitol. We have two votes.

We will probably be back here in about half-an-hour. With your
indulgence, gentlemen, let us take a recess, and when the votes are
over, we will be back here to ask you some questions.

Thank you very much.

[recess]

The CHAIRMAN. I apologize to the witnesses. The hearing is con-
cluded. It was very helpful for us to have this, and I apologize for
my oversight that you were kept here unnecessarily during the
votes. I apologize.

The hearing is concluded. We are going to start the mark-up. The
witnesses are excused.

Again, it is my error and I apologize for it.

[Whereupon, at 2:23 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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Statement by Rep. Michele Bachmann
House Financial Services Committee Hearing
“Exploring the Balance between Increased Availability
and Prudent Lending Standards”

March 25, 2009
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Today we will hear from a distinguished panel about the mixed messages that the
government has injected into the market since it first went down the road of taxpayer
bailouts. On the one hand, lending institutions have been scolded for not adequately
increasing access to capital, particularly in light of receiving taxpayer funds under the
Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP). On the other, these same institutions have been
criticized for their loose underwriting standards and over-lending to borrowers that
should not have had access to certain loans in the first place.

Somewhere in between, there must be some middle ground for institutions to regain their
footing and strike the right balance. The bottom line here is that we want institutions to
offer healthy extensions of credit to responsible borrowers that can afford to repay their
loans. Plain and simple.

If our financial markets are to steady, they need some certainty from the government.
We must end our trial-and-error approach to this financial mess and we must put an end
to the mixed messages we’re sending lenders.

1 am in constant contact with local bankers from Minnesota’s Sixth District to understand
their perspective on today’s financial marketplace. The number one thing I’ve heard is
their concern regarding mark-to-market accounting.

They continue to tell me that mark-to-market is hindering their ability to accurately and
comprehensively report the true value of their balance sheets. It is hurting them at the
capitalization level which in turn stops them from making many loans to creditworthy
borrowers. That’s why it is so critical that FASB and the SEC respond with some
certainty to today’s economic woes and make changes to mark-to-market standards.

And, I cannot stress enough the absolute responsibility that this Congress has to develop
an exit strategy from the bailout approach. The American people deserve to have an end
in sight. They deserve to know that we have an actual plan to make taxpayers whole.
And, without an exit strategy, uncertainties in the marketplace will continue to rise. This
will only make the situation worse, or prolong the market’s current instability.

I hope our Committee will take that responsibility seriously in the coming weeks.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I yield back the balance of my time.
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OPENING REMARKS OF THE HONORABLE RUBEN HINOJOSA
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES
“EXPLORING THE BALANCE BETWEEN INCREASED CREDIT AVAILABILITY
AND
PRUDENT LENDING STANDARDS”
MARCH 25, 2009

Mr. Chairman, 1 want to express my sincere appreciation for you holding this important hearing
today.

1 want to take this opportunity to commend the FDIC for hosting a roundtable discussion earlier
this month focusing on how regulators and financial institutions can work together to improve
credit availability. It is my understanding that representatives from the banking industry,
including community banks, were invited to share their concerns and insights with the federal
bark regulators and representatives from state banking agencies. I was pleased to learn that the
attendees, who included representatives of community banks, agreed that open, two-way
communication between the regulators and the industry is vital to ensuring that safety and
soundness considerations are well balanced.

[ also want to commend FDIC Chairman Bair for creating a new senior level office at the FDIC
to expand outreach to community banks. It is my understanding that the FDIC also plans to
establish an advisory committee to address the unique concerns of this segment of the banking
community.

However, I am concerned about the pro-cyclical impact the FDIC Board’s February 27, 2009
proposal to levy special assessments on insured depository institutions would have on banks in
general, and community banks in particular, especially in this extremely stressful economic
environment. I believe that the imposition of a 20 basis points special assessment on June 30,
2009 — due September 30, 2009 - and the FDIC Board’s proposal to have the authority to impose
up to an additional 10 basis points emergency special assessment at the end of any calendar
quarter-- could have the unintended consequence of reducing the capital classification of all
community banks, thereby resulting in enforcement actions or possibly eventual failures.

Community banks did not contribute in any meaningful way to the massive economic crisis that

we confront. Most can serve a customer base rooted in individual communities and are not too
big to manage, too big to fail, nor too big to resolve. Almost all of the community banks are still
in place meeting the credit-related needs of their communities, stepping up in many instances to

fill markets vacated by their larger competitors.

Community banks have sound underwriting standards, arc more than capable of managing their
reliance on counterparties, and know their customers’ needs and capabilities. Taxing community
banks with a special assessment of this magnitude when the banking industry is already under
siege would have a negative impact on their lending capacity. Each dollar of special assessments
they would pay to the Deposit Insurance Fund would result in a ten dollar reduction in their
lending capacity.
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If the special assessment were implemented as proposed, it would eliminate approximately $4.5
billion of capital available to community banks, and consequently small businesses, customers,
consumers, and communities. If that amount were leveraged, it would result in a loss of $45
billion in capital available to community banks for lending activity throughout the United States.
At a time when responsible lending is critical to ameliorating the recession, this sort of reduction
in local lending has the potential to extend our economic recovery unnecessarily.

If the special assessment were implemented as proposed, it would eliminate approximately $1
billion of capital available to Texas community banks, and consequently small businesses,
customers, and communities in Texas. If that amount were leveraged, it would result in a loss of
approximately $10 billion in capital available for lending activity throughout Texas alone. As
noted, I believe that this sort of reduction in local lending has the potential to extend our
€conomic recovery unnecessarily.

I acknowledge that it is of the utmost importance that the Deposit Insurance Fund remain funded
and be replenished to its designated reserve ratio of 1.15 percent over the next 5 to 7 years as
proposed. But the vast majority of community bankers in the United States did not participate in
the irresponsible lending that has led to the erosion of the FDIC’s Deposit Insurance Fund.
Community banks are the lifeblood of the communities they serve. They can help stimulate our
economy back to health if allowed to do as they have always done -~ looking after the needs of
local citizens and communities.

I am aware of the agreement between the FDIC and the Congress that the FDIC will cut in half
the 20 basis points special assessment up to 10 basis points provided we increase the FDIC’s
borrowing authority from the Department of Treasury from $30 billion to $100 billion.
Recognizing the importance of ensuring the FDIC has all the authority it needs to protect the
Deposit Insurance Fund should its Designated Reserve Ratio fall even more, possibly below
zero, the House of Representatives passed legislation that would grant the FDIC an additional
$70 billion in borrowing authority. I am also aware that the Senate intends to move legislation
that would include language providing the FDIC with emergency borrowing authority at the
Department of Treasury up to, but not to exceed, $500 billion with very strong checks and
balances.

I support these initiatives.
While these are positive steps in the right direction, I think it necessary for the FDIC Board to
consider a full range of altematives to levying an assessment on community banks that could

also help sustain the balance of, and confidence in, the Deposit Insurance Fund.

The alternatives to imposing any special assessment on community banks include, but are not
limited to, the following:

* Base assessments on assets with an adjustment for capital rather than total insured
deposits;
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e [Impose a systemic risk premium, which would place a heavier burden on financial
institutions that pose the greatest risk to the deposit insurance fund;

» Use a combination of the line of credit and a reduced or postponed special
assessment; and/or,

» Allow banks to amortize this new expense over several years.

I appreciate the efforts and resolve of the FDIC Board to ensure that the Deposit Insurance Fund
is properly funded and fiscally sound in order to assure consumers that their funds are protected
up to the prescribed limits by the United States government. [ agree with the FDIC and its Board
that it is imperative to maintain consumer confidence in our banking system, and sound deposit
insurance is one of the comerstones of their confidence level.

I remain opposed to any assessment on community banks and believe I have provided the FDIC
Board with a number of options to ensure the Deposit Insurance Fund’s stability while
minimizing the impact on community banks’ ability to keep money working in communities
throughout the United States.

I hope the Board will take my recommendations into consideration.

I yield back the remainder of my time.
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Opening Statement
Ceongressman Gary C. Peters
March 25, 2009 Financial Services Committee Hearing
Exploring the Balance between Increased Credit Availability
and Prudent Lending Standards

Thank you Chairman Frank for holding this important hearing. The current financial
crisis has had a particularly pronounced effect on my Congressional District, and on
the State of Michigan generally. In the last few months I have held meetings and
roundtables with businesses large and small that have told me that they are having an
extremely difficult time accessing credit.

We held a hearing last month with the heads of the eight largest TARP recipients, and
I asked the witnesses at that hearing point blank whether they had reduced the amount
of lending activity in the State of Michigan. The answers I received both at the
hearing and afterwards indicated that the largest financial institutions had indeed
stopped lending in Michigan due to such factors as the uncertainty in the auto
industry and high unemployment.

What that means is that in my state we arc particularly dependent on the community
banks to support the kind of business activity that is going to help bring us out of this
recession. Like many other members of this Committee, I have been meeting with
and talking to community bankers throughout my District in Oakland County and I
have heard from many of them about this issue. They want to lend more money, and
they have good projects identified, but they are under enormous pressure to preserve
capital.

This pressure is clearly having a negative effect in Michigan, and I'll provide just one
example of this. We have a huge foreclosure crisis in Michigan, and Congress has
been calling on lenders to perform mortgage modifications to help home owners stay
out of trouble. However, when a bank modifies a mortgage to make the payment
affordable it is required to treat that loan as a nonperforming asset. This brings about
greater regulatory scrutiny, and can be used as an indicator that the bank is a troubled
institution.

In Southeast Michigan real estate values have dropped by 50% or more, and the
foreclosure rate is among the highest in the nation. If regulators punish banks that are
performing mortgage modifications it will mean even more foreclosures in my
Congressional District. Iunderstand the need for ensuring that are banks are adhering
to prudent lending standards, but I am deeply concerned that the unintended
consequences of these types of actions are not being fully considered.

Once again, I would like to thank Chairman Frank for holding this important hearing.
1 look forward to hearing the witnesses address this issue.
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PERFORMANCE
o« WTRUST

CAPITAL PARTNERS

Testimony to the U.S. House of Repr ives C ittee on Fi ial Services
March 25, 2009

Thank you Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus, and members of the Committee on
Financial Services for inviting me to speak to you today. The United States and the world
are enduring financial stresses never before seen in terms of their uniqueness and
complexity. Iapplaud Congress for exploring ways to help get credit flowing to jump start
the economy.

My name is Richard S. Berg, and I am the CEO of Performance Trust Capital Partners,
LLC. 1co-founded Performance Trust in 1994 as a broker-dealer specializing in evaluating
the risks and rewards of fixed income cash flows, including mortgage-backed securities.
Our customer base consists of community-based financial institutions who lend to
businesses and individuals throughout the United States. I believe that we have a front row
seat to help identify and explain some of the issues facing the financial markets as they
relate to mortgage lending and mortgage-backed securities.

Performance Trust did not engineer, create, or underwrite any securitized assets or sell any
at origination. In the interest of full disclosure, we have sold private label mortgage-backed
securities to our clients The vast majority of purchases were made subsequent to the start of
this crisis at discounted to deeply discounted dollar prices. We did not transact in any
subprime or affordable ARM products,

We view investing from a long term perspective. Our philosophy of investing is about
measuring interest rate risk and reward in different rate scenarios, as well as credit risk and
reward in different economic or default scenarios. We typically do not predict any scenario
to occur, but rather look for asymmetrical risk reward opportunities. Actual results for the
scenario that occurred are then compared to the projected returns.

As a frequent industry speaker as well as market commentator, [ have encountered many
other exccutives and market participants who have insights to the extraordinary problems
and dislocations in the credit and stock markets. Unfortunately, there is no “silver bullet” to
immediately fix our problems. The issues are complex and interrelated, much like a Rubik’s
cube-—just when you think you have one side solved the other sides of the face change.
Sometimes the best way to solve a very complicated problem is to begin by asking the
question, “What is not working?” If we eliminate things that are not working, we have a
better chance of finding things that will work.

As 1 speak around the United States and on the financial news stations, no phrase evokes
more emotion than the phrase “toxic assets.” News commentators, accountants, regulators,
and even politicians cite toxic assets as a significant reason we are in this mess. For the past
Performance Trust Capitat Partners, LLC
500 W. Madison, Suite 350, Chicago, IL 60661
phone 312,521,1000, fax 312.521.1001
Member SIPC and FINRA
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few months I have asked bankers, accountants, the media, and traders this question: “What
is the definition of a toxic asset?” This is actually a trillion dollar question. Not
surprisingly, there is no clear cut definition of a toxic asset. In fact, the definition depends
on whom you are asking. This is very problematic. As Congress and Treasury form plans
for removing toxic assets off the books of financial institutions through tax payer assistance
in order to get credit flowing again, we need to correctly define toxic assets.

We do acknowledge there are bad assets, credit impaired securities and poorly run banks.
However, I am here today to tell you that in some cases, we are incorrectly defining toxic
assets. Many assets labeled toxic are not that toxic and in some cases may not be toxic at
all. To put it another way, millions of performing mortgage loans are now considered
“toxic” because they are placed in the same security as some non-performing loans. If one
in ten loans goes bad, the other nine performing loans also get called toxic.

‘Why is this the case? One of the keys to understanding the toxic problem can be found in
recognizing how the use of letter ratings hard coded into investment policies, regulations,
and counterparty agreements can become an automatic mechanism for labeling assets as
toxic. In the regulated world of financial institutions and insurance companigs, there are
current policies in place that attempt to identify toxic assets, or at least plant a red flag for an
accountant, examiner, regulator, or counterparty when they review the books of one of these
institutions. For these institutions, toxic assets are typically identified by the credit ratings
provided by an outside Nationally Recognized Statistical Ratings Organization (“NRSRO™)
such as Moodys, Standard & Poors, or Fitch. As you may recall, the ratings scale typically
ranges from AAA, AA, A, BBB, BB, B, CCC, CC, C, down to D (defauit). Most
regulations for financial institutions and insurance companies set BBB as the lowest rung for
investment grade. Corporate bonds below investment grade are referred to as junk, where as
mortgages and other structured debt below investment grade are often called toxic.

As a simplified example, consider a Private Label Mortgage-Backed Security (“PMBS™)
issued in 2006 (see also Exhibit 1). Suppose that a lender originated 1,000 first lien
mortgage loans in 2006 to credit worthy borrowers, sold these Joans in the marketplace,
which were then packaged into a mortgage-backed security. Traditionally, a bank or
insurance company would be a typical buyer for the safest class (tranche), the AAA security
built off these loans.

Three years later, in 2009, given that the housing market and the economy have deteriorated,
more than the originally expected amount of borrowers are going into delinquency and are
likely headed for default. Suppose for the sake of argument that we know that enough loans
will go bad so that the investor of this AAA security now will not receive the full 100% of
the contractual cash flows, but rather receive 99% of that security’s contractual cash flows.
The impact on the yield for the bank or insurance company is minimal, perhaps dropping
from 6.00% to 5.95%.
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1 believe that everyone in this room would agree that while this is not ideal, this asset is
clearly not toxic, but rather remains a very high quality one. However, I am not sure that
everyone would be aware that once this security is not expected to return 100% of the
contractual cash flow, it would now be rated CCC and be considered toxic. Stated another
way, the full 100% of this assct backed by a thousand individual loans is considered toxic
because a very small percentage of loans default.

Surely, the risk of such a security should not be viewed as exactly the same as a CCC rated
corporate bond, say for example, a CCC rated Lehman Brothers senior debenture. This
speaks to the definition of what a rating really reflects (sec Exhibit 2). When the rating
agencies provide a rating on a mortgage-backed security, it is a measure of “default” risk,
that is the risk of not receiving 100 cents on the dollar. However, the rating is silent on the
magnitude of expected losses. On a security backed by hundreds of loans, a single extra loan
going bad can be the tipping point that causes the rating to drop from investment grade to
non-investment grade. The incremental economic impact is minimal but rating implications
can be significant. Many former AAA senior class PMBS securities are in such a position.
Not all are expected to return 99% but even under harsh scenarios, a large majority is
expected to return 90% or more.

Because financial institution and insurance company regulations often have hard coded a
security’s rating into policy language, a CCC rating may trigger cascading negative actions
or reactions by accountants, regulators, counterparties and investors. As you may recall in
the recent FASB hearing, a CCC security would typically cause a security to become other
than temporarily impaired (“OTTI”) from an accounting perspective. In this current
example, even though the credit loss might only be 1%, the previous mark-to-market
requirements for many institutions have contributed to massive write downs.

For a financial institution and insurance company, securities held that are rated below
investment grade are often considered substandard and therefore “classified” as such.
Institutions with too many classified assets may be viewed as “troubled.” In the provided
example, should an institution own $10 million of this CCC rated security, the entire $10
million may be classified as substandard. Incidentally, if the institution had exposure to
these loans in an unsecuritized form and held them in their loan portfolio, only the portion of
the loans that were non-performing would be automatically considered substandard or
impaired.

The required capital for below investment grade (typically substandard) assets increases as
well. For example, the risk-based capital required for a bank that owns the previous AAA
but now CCC rated security is 500% greater. An insurance company has a similar capital
“tax” for lower rated assets. Besides the negative effect on capital, asset downgrades affect
the liquidity and other counterparty agreements that bave hard coded the letter ratings
provided by NRSROs into the language.
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The idea of third party credit evaluation began more than one hundred years ago.
Regulators, investors, and creditors have used third party opinions of credit quality for many
years. For the most part, this third party system has served us well. As we see it, the
problem stems from the fact that we are trying to apply a corporate ratings scale to
structured products, Long ago the companies supplying an opinion about the credit
worthiness of an issuer or “obligor” did so by assigning a letter rating ranging from AAA to
D. The letter rating is supposed to indicate the probability of default of the obligor.
bbAlthough BBB is the lowest investment grade rating, a B rating is actually the lowest
rating assigned to an obligor who is still expected to pay its obligation.

The financial world has become a more complicated place since the inception of the letter
ratings scale, and we now have multiple obligor securities like today’s structured products
(mortgage loans, auto loans, student loans, trust preferred obligations, CLOs, CDOs, ete.).
In order to remain consistent and uniform with previous practice and existing regulations,
virtually all longer term products (beyond one year), whether they be single obliger or
multiple obligor securities utilize the existing letter scale established decades ago. While
there are advantages to using the same scale, the disadvantages far outweigh the advantages
in this market environment. For instance a CCC rated corporate bond has very different,
and in most cases much greater principal at risk than a CCC rated multiple obligor
mortgage-backed security. In addition, in the case of single obligor securities, an obligor
either makes 100% of the payment or (0%, that is there are no partial defaults. Multiple
obligor securitics can have partial defaults. Thus, single obligor and multiple obligor
securities have very different risks. Unfortunately, because of the reliance on the rating,
they are treated much the same for accounting and regulatory purposes.

For multiple obligor securities, a better and more accurate ratings scale would be some type
of percentage rating that indicates actual dollars at risk. This makes sense, since the issuer is
only a trust that passes through payments received from many hundreds, if not thousands of
homeowners. In reality, ove should expect partial defaults for a multiple obligor security,
and in my opinion a simple letter rating does not fit the actual risk analytics or structure.

What is the Rubik’s cube effect or systemic effect of ratings downgrades, especially
amongst financial institutions and insurance companies? In my opinion, the systemic effect
is huge, and significantly contributing to the downward spiral we are now witnessing.
Unfortunately, credit ratings are hard coded into many of our current regulations, capital
calculations, counterparty agrecments, collateral agreements, and investment policies. As
an institution creeps closer to mandatory regulatory or policy minimums in these areas, it
has Iess tolerance for any risk taking and will hoard more cash.

How then do we fix this problem so that banks can get back to lending to credit worthy
borrowers? The complete solution would be to change the way multiple obligor sccurities
are rated. 1 would immediately revamp the letter based scale to a numerical based scale for
multiple obligor securities. If a security is rated CCC, it is treated as toxic. What if the
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rating instead was 99% (expected recovery of 99% of contractual cash flow) rather than a
fetter rating of CCC? Clearly if a security is rated 99%, then if I purchased it at 100 cents on
the dollar I am exposed to some small amount of expected loss (1%). However, if 1
purchased it at 70 cents on the dollar, I currently have little exposure to loss. Evenifa
security had a rating of 85% it would be low risk at a purchase price at 70 cents on the
dollar. Such a numerically based rating system would moderate the cliff diving effect
caused from the current letter rating system of a multiple obligor security that is close to
“default” but has only a small proportion of loans that are truly “speculative” or toxic.
Policies, regulations, counterparty agreements, and collateral agreements could be set to
haircut a security based on the new numerical based system. This numerical based risk
assessment and data already exists in the NRSROs” models and evaluation tools

In summary, there are toxic assets, but many assets currently called toxic are not. Use of a
single obligor type rating scale for multiple obligor securities is problematic on several
fronts, most notably that billions of dollars of current paying loans are now considered toxic
by virtue of ratings downgrades. Some of these problems can be minimized with a change
in the way certain accounting and regulatory documents are interpreted. We strongly
believe that a critical step to restore credit markets is a revamp of the rating system for
multiple obligor securities like mortgage-backed securities. Unless a major change is made,
it will be very difficult to clean up previously issued securities — those already downgraded,
or those feared to be downgraded in the future ~ without significant government assistance.
The current discussion involving loan modifications will certainly cause a whole new round
of downgrades and create more toxic assets if this ratings issue for multiple obligor
securities is not addressed.

Likewise, going forward market participants will likely permanently avoid any multiple
obligor securitized loan product that utilizes a letter grade system for fear of potential future
downgrades which taint the entire security rather than the problematic portion. The trillions
of assets already or feared downgraded is currently clogging the securitized credit markets.
Until we recognize and address the Rubik’s cube of how our ratings, accounting and
regulatory systems intersect, our attempts to correct our financial system will fall short.

Thank you for allowing me to present our views and ideas to you.

55—

Richard S. Berg
Chief Executive Officer
Performance Trust Capital Partners, LLC
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Exhibit 1:
PMBS Example
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Exhibit 2:
Fitch and S&P Ratings
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FitchRatings
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Inside the Ratings:

What Credit Ratings Mean
August 2007
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FitchRatings

AN YOUR RISK

Befining Creditworthiness

Credit ratings can apply both to entities and to individual obligations, and can be broadly separated
into two types.

1. ‘Rutings Which Addréss Refative Likelibood of Default (“First Dollar of Loss?)

Corporate, bank, insurance and sovereign issuers are typically assigned Issuer Default Ratings
{IDRs), which express creditworthiness in terms of relative measures of default likelihood.

assigned 1o ‘an individual security or tranche fn 2
transaction; and not to an issuer: Ratings d finance primarily. reflect: the relative:
probability of default of the rated liability’, and not its Joss severity piven a default, although loss:
severity on underlying assess is incorporated in the analysis:

Struetured finance ratings are typically.

2. Ratings Combining Relative Default Likelihood and Loss Severity
Individual securities or obligations of a corporate or sovereign issuer, in contrast, are rated on the
long-term scale taking into consideration both the relative likelihood of default and the recovery
given default of that liability. As a result, individual securities of entities, such as corporations, are
assigned ratings higher, lower, or the same as that entity’s issuer rating or IDR. The difference
between issuer and security rating reflects expectations of the relative recovery prospects for each
class of obligation. At the lower end of the ratings scale, Fitch now additionally publishes explicit
Recovery Ratings in many cases to complement issuer and issue ratings.

Corporate & Sovereign Finance Structured Finance
Issuer Rating covers Defauit -
Issue Rating covers Default oss Severity Rating covers Default®

Foreign and Local Currency Ratings

International credit ratings relate to either foreign currency or local currency commitments and, in
both cases, assess the capacity to meet these commitments using a globally applicable scale. As such,
both foreign currency and local currency international ratings are internationally comparable assessments.

The local currency international rating measures the likelihood of repayment in the currency of the
jurisdiction in which the issuer is domiciled and hence does not take account of the possibility that it
will not be possible to convert local currency into foreign currency, or make transfers between
sovereign jurisdictions (transfer and convertibility risk).

Foreign currency ratings additionally consider the profile of the issuer or note affer taking into account
transfer and convertibility risk. This risk is usually communicated for different countries by the
Country Ceiling, which ‘caps’ the ratings of most, though not al, issuers within a given country.

? At the distressed level, elements of loss severity may be incorporated in structured finance bond ratings in the B’ and *C categories

inside the Ralings: What Credit Ratings Mean: August 2007
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The Fundamentals Of Structured Finance Ratings

Structured finance has become an increasingly important tool in today's financial markets, with issuance
levels growing at an extrardinary rate in the past few years both in the US. and Europe, as well as in
most markets in AsiA-Pacific. Its developmient has been accompanied by vocal debate from market
participants and commentators alike on the manner in which credit rating agencies, including Standard
& Poor's Ratings Services, evaluate the creditworthiness of such securities.

Qur goal in this article is to demystify some of the coraplexity that surrounds the seructured ﬁnanre1
diseipline by addressing as directly as possible the primary concerns that have been raised. We think that
doing so may also alleviate many of the cancerns that have been expressed about the manner in which
we arTive at our rating opinions and the pracess involved.

THE PROCESS OF ASSIGNING STRUCTURED FINANCE AND
"TRADITIONAL” CORPORATE OR SOVERFIGN RATINGS

Understanding The Rating Process

The fact that the structured finance rating process involves a degree of interaction and that arrangers
may change structures to meet ratiog agency criteria has led some commentators to muse whether the
ratings analyst becornes an advisor. The answer s no. Moreover, any such inference is a fundamental
misunderstanding of the role and actions of the rating agencies in structured finance.

When a non-structured finance debt issuer seeks a rating or approaches us to discuss an existing
rating, it will engage in a dialogue with our rating analysts. It will seek to explain the way it sees its own
strengths and its place in the economic and financial environment in which it aperates. The analysts will
then take this information away and an analytical committee will reach a conclusion and assign an
initial rating, make a rating change, or issue a rating confirmation.

Neither the terms “structured finance” nor "securitization™ yet have cleat definitions, For the purposes of this
‘paper, both will be used interchangeably.
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The Fundamentals Of Structured Finance Ratings

When we have rated new CDQ structures some commentators have occasionally expressed the view
that we were entering a totally new field of previously unrated, unexamined structures or credits. Others
have expressed the view that a new CDO structure requires us to create an entirely new methodotogy.
Both these views are erroneous, for the reasons given above.

A case in point is the rating of constant proportion debt obligation (CPDQO} transactions, where part
of our tranche default risk assessment is based on a market value analysis of certain credit derivative
indices. Clearly, CPDOs were a new instrument. What was not a new development for us was analyzing
market value risk as the basis for a structured finance rating. In fact, market value analysis is a key
component of many different structured finance ratings and has been for many years. All RMBS ratings
require an analysis of residential property values and their movement over time. Most auto loan ABS
transactions require the same for cars, aiccraft ABS transactions for aircraft. Over the years we have also
rated equity basket CDOs that required analysis of equity market values, A number of transactions have
required us to model foreign exchange risks and determine the market value of various currencies. As we
have pointed out, even the most complex CDOs are usually variations of well-understood themes:
variations on structures that we often have a long experience of rating. CPDOs and the analysis of

market value risks is just a case in point.

Meaning Of The Ratings

Ancther topic of criticism is our use of a single rating scale {see our ratings definitions for Standard &
Poor’s rating scale, detailed under " Related Articles” below) for different types of debt. Some argue that,
although structured finance, corporate, and government ratings use the same symbology. a structured
finance rating is somehow different from a corporate rating. Sometimes, critics even apply the argument
to different asset classes within the structured finance universe: an RMBS rating is claimed to be different
from that of a synthetic CDO. The claim is that investors are being misled, as they do not understand
the crucial differences between the ratings.

The definitions of each rating category also make clear that we do not attach any quantified estimate
of default probability to any rating category. In other words, even though our default and transition
studies may indicate that the annual average default rate of 'BBB’ structured finance securities between

1987 and 2007 was 0.18%, this does not mean that a2 'BBB’ rating is a mathematical prediction of a
0.18% default probability. It also follows that we have never claimed that, should a particular set of
‘BBB’ rated debt suffer a 0.37% default rate, for example, those ratings were somehow wrong or
inaccurate. To attach precise expected default rates to any rating category is to imbue the rating process
with a degree of scientific accuracy that it could not possibly bear, and which has never been claimed for
it

Let us remember that a rating is only an opinion about the relative Kkelihood of future events {i.e.,
default or non-default). Such an opinion may, in the case of Standard & Poor’s, be based on an
enormous amount of analysis and data, but in the end it remains no more than an opinion. Forward-
looking predictions have never been an exact science and rating agencies have never made claims to the
contrary.

www.standardandpoors.com
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Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus and members of the Committee, 1 am pleased
to appear today to discuss several issues related to the state of the banking system. First, I will
discuss the condition of the banking system, credit conditions, and bank underwriting standards.
Then I will describe Federal Reserve activities to enhance liquidity in financial markets and
improve conditions in financial markets. Finally, I will discuss the Federal Reserve’s efforts to
ensure the overall safety and soundness of the banking system as well as promote credit
availability.

As you are well aware, the Federal Reserve has taken significant steps to improve
financial market conditions, and has worked with the Treasury and other bank and thrift
supervisors to address issues at U.S. banking organizations. We remain attentive to the need for
banks to remain in sound financial condition while at the same time to continue lending
prudently to creditworthy borrowers. Fortunately, many banks continue to lend in this
environment, but with the shutdown of most securitization markets and the evaporation of many
types of nonbank credit, it is that much more important right now for the U.S. banking system to
be able to carry out its credit intermediation function.

Background

The Federal Reserve has supervisory and regulatory authority for bank holding
companies, state-chartered banks that are members of the Federal Reserve System (state
member banks), and certain other financial institutions and activities. We work with other
federal and state supervisory authorities to ensure the safety and soundness of the banking
industry, foster the stability of the financial system, and provide for fair and equitable
treatment of consumers in their financial transactions. The Federal Reserve is not the primary

federal supervisor for the majority of commercial bank assets. Rather, it is the consolidated
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supervisor of bank holding companies, including financial holding companies, and conducts
inspections of those institutions.

The primary purpose of inspections is to ensure that the holding company and its
nonbank subsidiaries do not pose a threat to the soundness of the company’s depository
institutions. In fulfilling this role, the Federal Reserve is required to rely to the fullest extent
possible on information and analysis provided by the appropriate supervisory authority of the
company’s bank, securities, or insurance subsidiaries. The Federal Reserve is also the primary
federal supervisor of state member banks, sharing supervisory responsibilitics with state
agencies. In this role, Federal Reserve supervisory staff regularly conduct on-site
examinations and off-site monitoring to ensure the soundness of supervised state member
banks.

The Federal Reserve is involved in both regulation--establishing the rules within which
banking organizations must operate--and supervision--ensuring that banking organizations abide
by those rules and remain, overall, in safe and sound condition. A key aspect of the supervisory
process is evaluating risk-management practices. Because rules and regulations in many cases
cannot reasonably prescribe the exact practices each individual bank should use for risk
management, supervisors design policies and guidance that expand upon requirements set in
rules and regulations and establish expectations for the range of acceptable practices.
Supervisors rely extensively on these policies and guidance as they conduct examinations and
assign supervisory ratings.

Beginning in the summer of 2007, the U.S. and global economies entered a period of
intense financial turmoil that has presented significant challenges for the financial services

industry. These challenges intensified in the latter part of 2008 as the global economic
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environment weakened further. As a result, parts of the U.S. banking system have come under
severe strain, with some banking institutions suffering sizable losses.
State of the Banking System

I would now like to briefly summarize overall conditions at U.S. commercial banks and
large banking holding companies (BHCs). For U.S. commercial banks as a group, profitability
measures deteriorated dramatically during 2008. Indeed, commercial banks posted a substantial
and rare aggregate loss for fourth quarter of 2008, the first time this has happened since the late
1980s. This loss in large part reflected write-downs on trading assets, high goodwill impairment
charges, and, most significantly, increased loan-loss provisions taken in response to deteriorating
asset quality, higher net charge-offs, and weakening economic conditions. As of year-end 2008,
loans delinquent 30 days or more or on nonaccrual status exceeded 4.5 percent of total loans, the
highest level since the early 1990s. Moreover, nonaccruing loans--those most likely to result in
additional charge-offs--reached almost two-percent of loans, a ratio more than double that of
year-end 2007. Despite poor earnings performance, capital ratios held up relatively well, with
reported tier 1 and total risk-based capital ratios increasing over the course of the year. The
performance of state member banks tracked that of the industry as a whole.

The earnings performance of the 50 largest U.S.-based bank holding companies (BHCs)
as a group, which together represent more than three-fourths of all assets at BHCs, deteriorated
rapidly during the last two quarters of 2008. In aggregate, these companies reported a fourth
quarter net loss of $42.7 billion--versus a $25.5 billion third-quarter loss--due mainly to elevated
loan-loss provisions, very large goodwill impairment charges, and a continuation of heavy
trading asset write-downs. For the year, these companies generated a $67 billion loss.

Nonetheless, regulatory capital ratios actually improved during 2008--supported by substantial
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private capital investments in these companies during the first half and by the Troubled Assets
Relief Program (TARP) investments by the U.S. Treasury toward the end of the year. Asa
consequence, these bank holding companies in aggregate continued to maintain capital ratios
well in excess of minimum regulatory requirements.

Ceonditions in Credit Markets

As Chairman Bernanke noted in presenting the Board’s most recent monetary policy
testimony to Congress in February, the U.S. economy is undergoing a severe contraction. From
past experience, we know that borrowing by households and nonfinancial businesses has tended
to slow during economic downturns. Since 1953, the inflation-adjusted growth rate of debt owed
by houscholds and nonfinancial businesses has fallen, on éverage, about 2 percentage points at
an annual rate in the year following a business cycle peak (as dated by the National Bureau of
Economic Research, or NBER). The inflation-adjusted slowdown in debt growth during the past
year has been much more pronounced than in previous downturns: Annualized debt growth for
households and nonfinancial businesses in the fourth quarter of 2008 (the most up-to-date
reading) was, adjusted for inflation, about 7 percentage points slower than it was during the
NBER-designated peak in the fourth quarter of 2007.

The slowdown in debt growth has differed by type of borrower. For example, after
increasing nearly 6 percent in the fourth quarter of 2007 (unadjusted for inflation), home
mortgage debt declined at an annual rate of 1.5 percent in the fourth quarter of last year. The
decline in home mortgage debt has been sharper in this period than in any other recession for
which we have good data--dating back to the 1950s. Non-mortgage consumer credit also
declined in the fourth quarter of last year--at an annual rate of 3.25 percent. The pull-back in

consumer credit has also been somewhat sharper than the average experience during the previous
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nine NBER recessions. Among businesses, growth in debt for nonfinancial corporations slowed
from a 12.5 percent annual rate in the fourth quarter of 2007 to a 1.5 percent annual rate in the
fourth quarter of last year. The slowdown in debt growth for this sector is also more substantial
than has been experienced in past recessions.

This simple comparison of the current slowdown in credit market flows to those in
previous recessions ignores the many important changes to the financial landscape that have
occurred during the past half-century. Significant among those changes was the large increase in
the flow of credit coming from nonbank sources. For example, holdings of household mortgages
by banks, savings institutions, and credit unions decreased from a share of more than 50 percent
in 1985 to a share of about 30 percent of the total at the end of 2007. Similarly, banks held about
70 percent of outstanding consumer credit in 1985, but only about 45 percent in 2007. Of
course, banks remain vital financial intermediaries, as the current financial crisis demonstrates.
The severe turmoil in markets for securitized assets has served to increase banks’ importance.
And the significance of banks in the provision of credit extends far beyond their direct loans.
Banks supply credit indirectly by providing back-up liquidity and credit support to other
financial institutions and conduits that also intermediate credit flows.

In 1950, banks’ share of financial intermediation was about 50 percent, it fell and then
rose to about 48 percent in the mid-1970s, then declined to about 33 percent at the turn of the
century. If one adjusts the data to include “credit equivalents™ for the off-balance-sheet activities
of banks, then the adjusted market share of financial intermediation for banks would remain
above 40 percent in recent years.

In terms of direct lending, weekly data that the Federal Reserve Board collects from

banks shows that total bank loans and leases increased almost 4 percent during 2008. The
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increase in bank lending for the year as a whole was below the roughly 10 percent pace of
growth seen in both 2006 and 2007. Much of the increase in bank lending last year likely
reflected households and businesses drawing down existing lines of credit rather than extensions
of new loans. In addition, the freeze-up of the securitization markets likely contributed to banks’
balance sheet growth.

According to the Federal Reserve’s Senior Loan Officer Opinion Survey on Bank
Lending Practices, banks have tightened lending standards sharply over the past 18 months. The
January 2009 Survey found that respondents had tightened their lending policies for all major
loan categories further in late 2008. Respondents also indicated that demand for loans from both
businesses and houscholds continued to weaken, on balance, over the survey period.

With regard to commercial loans in particular, many survey respondents pointed to a less
favorable or more uncertain economic outlook as a reason for tightening their lending standards
and terms over the previous three months. Most respondents indicated that a worsening of
industry-specific problems and their bank’s reduced tolerance for risk were also important
factors in their decision to tighten lending policies for commercial loans. Among the few
respondents that saw an increasc in loan demand over the previous three months, all indicated
that business borrowing had shifted to their bank from other bank or nonbank sources because
the other sources had become less attractive. In addition, more than 30 percent reported that
inquiries from potential business borrowers had decreased during the survey period.

For commercial real estate (CRE) lending, 80 percent of domestic banks reported that
they had tightened their lending standards over the previous three months, slightly less than the
roughly 85 percent that reported doing so in the October survey. Of note, about 30 percent of the

respondents indicated that the shutdown of the commercial mortgage backed-securities (CMBS)
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securitization market had led to an increase in CRE lending at their bank over the second half of
2008, whereas about 15 percent indicated that the shutdown of the CMBS securitization market
had reduced the volume of their CRE lending.

Survey respondents also noted continued tightening for consumer products, including
residential real estate lending and revolving home equity lines of credit (HELOCs). Notably,
only four of the nearly 80 respondents reported making subprime mortgage loans over the
previous three months.

Stepping back, it is now clear that in recent years banking and financial markets
experienced a period in which risk was generally under-priced and where credit was too freely
available. The realization by many market participants that risks were larger than anticipated has
contributed to the decline in prices for financial assets. As a result, some financial institutions--
including some banking organizations--have experienced significant losses, leading to the need
to raise additional capital or, in some cases, sell or shut down operations. It is apparent that all
banking institutions have now been impacted in some way by the adverse conditions of the
current environment,

Federal Reserve Actions Since 2007

The Federal Reserve has responded forcefully to the financial and economic crisis and it
will continue to do so. In discussing Federal Reserve actions, I will first summarize monetary
policy actions and those related to liquidity provision, and then highlight our supervisory actions.
Monetary Policy and Liquidity Provision

In terms of monetary policy, the Federal Reserve has been aggressive. As you know, the
Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) began to ease monetary policy in September 2007,

and in December 2008, the Committee set a range of 0 to 25 basis points for the target federal
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funds rate. We have also employed additional tools to ease financial conditions, improve the
functioning of credit markets, and thereby support economic activity. To improve mortgage
market functioning and support housing markets and economic activity more broadly, the
Federal Reserve has begun to purchase large amounts of agency debt and mortgage-backed
securities, and we recently announced substantial additional purchases of such securities through
year-end. In addition, the Federal Reserve announced plans to purchase up to $300 billion of
long-term Treasury securities to help improve conditions in private credit markets. Since first
announcing such purchases last November, the conforming fixed mortgage rate has fallen more
than 1 percentage point.

The Federal Reserve has also established new lending facilities and expanded existing
facilities to enhance the flow of credit to businesses and households. In response to heightened
stress in bank funding markets, we increased the size of the Term Auction Facility to help ensure
that banks could obtain the funds they need to provide credit to their customers, and we
expanded our network of swap lines with foreign central banks to ease conditions in
interconnected dollar funding markets at home and abroad. Last fall, when money markets
tightened considerably following the failure of Lehman Brothers, we established new lending
facilities to provide liquidity to money market mutual funds and to support the functioning of the
commercial paper market.

The U.S. Treasury, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), and the Federal
Reserve have taken a number of actions to strengthen the financial sector and to promote the
availability of credit to businesses and households. This included injecting additional capital into
banks, increasing FDIC deposit coverage, providing guarantees of selected senior bank

obligations and noninterest-bearing deposits, and establishing new liquidity facilities to financial
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markets. In addition, the Federal Reserve and the Treasury recently launched the Term Asset-
Backed Securities Loan Facility (TALF) to facilitate the extension of credit to households and
small businesses and anticipates that the range of eligible collateral for this facility is likely to be
expanded to other financial assets. The Federal Reserve expects to assist in the Treasury’s
Public-Private Partnership Investment Program, announced on Monday, by expanding the range
of collateral eligible for the TALF program to include certain legacy securities.

Supervisory Activities and Improvements to Risk-Management Practices

Many of the current problems in the banking and financial system stem from risk-
management failures at a number of financial institutions, including some firms under federal
supervision. Clearly, these lapses are unacceptable. The Federal Reserve has been involved ina
number of exercises to understand, document and help address the risk-management lapses and
shortcomings at major financial institutions, including those undertaken by the Senior
Supervisors Group, the President’s Working Group on Financial Markets, and the multinational
Financial Stability Forum. '

Based on the results of these and other efforts, the Federal Reserve is taking vigorous
steps to improve risk-management practices at regulated institutions. Our actions have covered
liquidity risk management, capital planning and capital adequacy, firm-wide risk identification,
residential lending, counterparty credit exposures, and commercial real estate lending, among

other areas. Liquidity and capital have been given special attention.

! Senior Supervisors Group (2008), “Observations on Risk Management Practices during the Recent Market
Turbulence,” March 6, www.newyorkfed.org/newsevents/news/banking/2008/S8G_Risk_Mgt _doc_finall.pdf;
President’s Working Group on Financial Markets (2008), “Policy Statement on Financial Market Developments,”
March 13, www.treas.gov/press/releases/reports/pwgpolicystatemkturmoil_03122008 pdf; Financial Stability Forom
(2008), “Report of the Financial Stability Forum on Enhancing Market and Institutional Resilience,” April 7,
www.fsforum.org/publications/FSF_Report_to_G7_11_Apnl.prfl
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The crisis has undermined previous conventional wisdom that a company, even in
stressed environments, may readily borrow funds if it can offer high-quality collateral. For
example, the inability of Bear Stearns to borrow even against U.S. government securities led to
its collapse. As a result, we have been working to bring about needed improvements in
institutions” liquidity risk-management practices. Along with our U.S. supervisory colleagues,
we are closely monitoring the liquidity positions of banking organizations--on a daily basis for
the largest and most critical firms--and are discussing key market developments and our
supervisory analyses with senior management. We use these analyses and findings from
examinations to ensure that liquidity and funding management, as well as contingency funding
plans, are sufficiently robust and incorporate various stress scenarios. Looking beyond the
present period, we also have underway a broader-ranging examination of liquidity requirements.

Similarly, the Federal Reserve is closely monitoring the capital levels of banking
organizations on a regular basis and discussing our evaluation with senior management. As part
of our supervisory process, we have been conducting our own analysis of loss scenarios to
anticipate the potential future capital needs of institutions. These needs may arise from, among
other things, future losses or the potential for off-balance-sheet exposures to return to
institutions” balance sheets. Here, too, we have been discussing our analyses with bankers and
ensuring that their own internal analyses reflect a broad range of scenarios and capture stress
environments that could impair solvency. We have intensified efforts to evaluate institutions’
capital planning and to bring about improvements where needed.

Our efforts related to capital planning and capital adequacy are embodied in the
interagency supervisory capital assessment process, which began in February, We are

conducting assessments of selected banking institutions’ capital adequacy, based on certain
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macroeconomic scenarios. For this assessment, we are carefully evaluating the forecasts
submitted by each financial institution to ensure they are appropriate, consistent with the firm’s
underlying portfolio performance, and reflective of each entity’s particular business activities
and risk profile. The capital assessment program will permit supervisors to assess whether
institutions’ capital buffers over the regulatory capital minimum are appropriate under more
severe but plausible scenarios.

To sum up our efforts to improve banks’ risk management, we are looking at all areas of
risk management--both on an individual and collective basis--to ensure that all institutions have
their risk-management practices at satisfactory levels. More generally, where we have not seen
appropriate progress, we are aggressively downgrading supervisory ratings and using our
enforcement tools.

Maintaining Balance in the Supervisory Process

The Federal Reserve has long-standing policies and procedures in place to promote sound
risk identification and management practices at regulated institutions that also support bank
lending and the credit intermediation process. In fact, guidance issued as long ago as 1991,
during the commercial real estate crisis that began in the late 1980s, specifically instructs
examiners to ensure that regulatory policies and actions do not inadvertently curtail the
availability of eredit to sound borrowers.” The 1991 guidance also states that examiners are to
“ensure that supervisory personnel are reviewing loans in a consistent, prudent, and balanced
fashion and to ensure that all interested parties are aware of the guidance.” The 1991 policy

statement covers a wide range of specific topics, including:

2 “Interagency Policy Statement on the Review and Classification of Commercial Real Estate Loans,” (November
1991); www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1991/SR9124.htm.
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o the general principles that examiners follow in reviewing commercial real estate loan
portfolios
o the indicators of troubled real estate markets, projects, and related indebtedness
s the factors examiners consider in their review of individual loans, including the use of
appraisals and the determination of collateral value
» adiscussion of approaches to valuing real estate, especially in troubled markets
s the classification guidelines followed by the agencies, including the treatment of
guarantees
» the factors considered in the evaluation of an institution’s allowance for loan and lease
losses
This emphasis on achieving an appropriate balance between credit availability and safety and
soundness continues today. To the extent that institutions have experienced losses, hold less
capital, and are operating in a more risk-sensitive environment, supervisors expect banks to
employ appropriate risk-management practices to ensure their viability. At the same time, it is
important that supervisors remain balanced and not place unreasonable or artificial constraints on
lenders that could hamper credit availability.

As part of our effort to help stimulate appropriate bank lending, the Federal Reserve and
the other federal banking agencies issued regulatory guidance in November 2008 to encourage
banks to meet the needs of creditworthy borrowers.” The guidance was issued to encourage bank
lending in a manner consistent with safety and soundness--specifically, by taking a balanced

approach in assessing borrowers’ ability to repay and making realistic assessments of collateral

3 “Interagency Statement on Meeting the Needs of Credit Worthy Borrowers,” (November 2008);
www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/press/bereg/20081112a.htr.
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valuations. This guidance has been reviewed and discussed with examination staff within the
Federal Reserve System.

Earlier, in April 2007, the federal financial institutions regulatory agencies issued a
statement encouraging financial institutions to work constructively with residential borrowers
who are financially unable to make their contractual payment obligations on their home loans.’
The statement noted that, “prudent workout arrangements that arc consistent with safe and sound
lending practices are generally in the long-term interest of both the financial institution and the
borrower.” The statement also noted that, “the agencies will not penalize financial institutions
that pursue reasonable workout arrangements with borrowers who have encountered financial
problems.” It further stated that, “existing supervisory guidance and applicable accounting
standards do not require institutions to immediately foreclose on the collateral underlying a loan
when the borrower exhibits repayment difficulties.” This guidance has also been reviewed by
examiners within the Federal Reserve System.

More generally, we have directed our examiners to be mindful of the procyclical effects
of excessive credit tightening and to encourage banks to make economically viable loans,
provided such lending is based on realistic asset valuations and a balanced assessment of
borrowers’ repayment capacities. Across the Federal Reserve System, we have implemented
training and outreach to underscore these intentions. We are mindful of the potential for bankers
to overshoot in their attempt to rectify lending standards, and want them to understand that it is

in their own interest to continue making loans to creditworthy borrowers.

* “Federal Regulators Encourage Institutions to Work with Mortgage Borrowers Who Are Unable to Make Their
Payments (April 2007); www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/press/bereg/20070417a.htm.
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Conclusion

The U.S. banking industry is facing serious challenges. The Federal Reserve, working
with the other banking agencies has acted--and will continue to act--to ensure that the banking
system remains safe and sound and is able to meet the credit needs of our economy. We have
aggressively pursued monetary policy actions and provided liquidity to help repair the financial
system. In our supervisory efforts, we are mindful of the risk-management deficiencies at
banking institutions revealed by the current crisis and are ensuring that institutions develop
appropriate corrective actions.

It will take some time for the banking industry to work through this current set of
challenges and for the financial markets to recover. During that recovery, the economy will need
a strong and stable financial system that can make credit available. The challenge for regulators
and other authorities is to support prudential bank intermediation that helps restore the health of
the financial system and the economy as a whole. We want banks to deploy capital and liquidity,
but in a responsible way that avoids past mistakes and does not create new ones. Bankers should
operate prudently in the current challenging environment, but should not let fear drive their
decisions. The Federal Reserve will continue to work with other banking agencies and the
Congress to promote the concurrent goals of fostering credit availability and a safe and sound

banking system.
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Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus and members of the Committee, I
appreciate the opportunity to testify on behalf of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) on the balance between increased credit availability and prudent

lending standards.

As federal insurer for all banks and thrifts, and primary federal supervisor for just
over 5,000 state chartered banks, the FDIC is very aware of the challenges faced by
financial institutions and their customers during these difficult economic times. Among
the greatest strengths of our economy is the diverse collection of over 8,000 FDIC-
insured depository institutions that operate almost 100,000 offices in every corer of our
nation. Bankers and examiners know that prudent, responsible lending is good business

and benefits everyone.

Adverse credit conditions brought on by an ailing economy and stressed balance
sheets, however, have created a difficult environment for both borrowers and lenders.
The deterioration in the economy in recent months has contributed to a decline in both
the demand and the supply of credit. Resolving the current economic crisis will depend
heavily on creditworthy borrowers, both consumer and business, having access to

lending.

In response to these challenging circumstances, banks are clearly taking more care
in evaluating applications for credit. While this more prudent approach to underwriting

may mean that some borrowers who received credit in past years will have more
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difficulty receiving credit going forward, it should not mean that creditworthy borrowers
are denied loans. Unfortunately, in such a difficult environment, there is a risk that some
lenders will become overly risk averse. As bank supervisors, we have a responsibility to
assure our institutions, regularly and clearly, that soundly structured and underwritten

loans are encouraged.

In my testimony, I will briefly describe the trends in the availability of credit and
the conditions currently creating obstacles to credit availability. 1 also will describe the
bank examination process and address concerns that banks are receiving mixed messages
from their supervisors. Finally, T will discuss the efforts the FDIC is making to

encourage prudent lending by the institutions we supervise.

Use and Availability of Credit Over the Business Cycle

Following the intensification of financial market turmoil in September 2008, the
U.S. economy experienced a marked deterioration in performance from what already was
a recession level. During the fourth quarter, real gross domestic product (GDP) declined
at an annualized rate of 6.2 percent, the largest decline in any single quarter since 1982.
Payrolls have declined by just under 3 million jobs since September, bringing total job
losses during the recession to 4.4 million. The unemployment rate rose to 8.1 percent in
February 2009, compared to just 4.9 percent when the recession started in December

2007.

2
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This rapid deterioration in business conditions has had important effects on both
the demand for, and the supply of, credit. The demand for business credit tends to vary
over the business cycle with the level of spending on new capital equipment and
inventories. During the fourth quarter of last year, business spending on nonresidential
equipment and structures declined at an annualized rate of over 21 percent -- the largest
quarterly decline since 1975. Private inventories fell by almost $28 billion during the

year (adjusted for inflation), the largest annual decline since the 2001 recession.

Amid this downturn, loan performance has deteriorated and lenders have
tightened lending standards. According to Standard and Poor’s (S&P), the 12-month
default rate on U.S. high-risk loans rose to 4.35 percent in December, up from 0.26
percent a year earlier.' Meanwhile, the Federal Reserve Senior Loan Officer Survey
shows that large lenders have progressively tightened standards on loans to both large

and small business borrowers since late 2007.°

Surveys of small businesses conducted by the National Federation of Independent
Business (NFIB) show that while small business loans have clearly become harder to
obtain, deteriorating business conditions appear to represent an even larger problem. In
an NFIB survey conducted in January, the percent of respondents who said that loans

were “harder” to get in the last three months outnumbered those who said loans were

' «U 8. Corporate Default Rate Forecasted to Reach All-Time High of 13.9% in 2009,” Standard and
Poor’s RatingsDirect, January 23, 2009.

? Federal Reserve Board, Senior Loan Officer Opinion Survey on Bank Lending Practices,
http://www_ federalreserve. gov/boarddocs/SnL canSurvey/
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“easier” to get by 13 percentage points, the highest margin since 1981.° At the same
time, however, the percent of respondents who said that sales were “lower” in the last
three months outnumbered those who said sales were “higher” by 31 percentage points,

the highest margin in the 35-year history of the survey.

Given that the center of the current crisis has been in residential mortgage
lending, the effects on loan demand and the availability of credit have been even more
pronounced in the case of U.S. houscholds. Net borrowing by U.S. households exceeded
$1 trillion annually in 2004, 2005 and 2006, fell to $849 billion in 2007, and declined to
$51 billion in 2008.* During the peak borrowing years, some 87 percent of household
borrowing was comprised of mortgage debt. As in the case of business credit, the
shrinking volume of household credit reflects trends on both the demand side and the

supply side of the equation,

A significant contributing factor behind the contraction in the volume of credit in
recent months has been the virtual shut-down of the private securitization market.
Private-label securitization played an increasingly important role in bank funding through
2007, but declined precipitously in 2008. It was the securitization market that fueled
much of the growth in residential and commercial real estate lending in the earlier part of

this decade, so the impact of this tightening is felt particularly in these sectors.

3 NFIB Small Business Economic Trends, February 2009, http://www.nfib.com/object/IO_39981.html
4 Federal Reserve Board, Flow of Funds, Table F.2.
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As they face a very difficult economic environment, businesses and houscholds
are curtailing their spending, which tends to reduce the volume of credit they wish to
obtain in the aggregate. Meanwhile, rising unemployment and falling business profits are
reducing the creditworthiness of some business and household borrowers at the same
time that lenders are raising credit standards in response to higher loan losses. Ina
normal economic cycle, these trends will tend to self-correct over time; however, the

current environment appears particularly challenging.

Bank Credit Quality and Lending Activity

Fourth quarter financial results demonstrated considerable stress for FDIC-insured
institutions. The industry posted an aggregate loss of $32 billion over the quarter, as
revenues were outpaced by increased expenses of provisions for loan losses, goodwill
writedowns, and trading losses. Asset quality also continued to deteriorate. At year-end,
the ratio of noncurrent loans to total loans at insured institutions climbed to 2.93 percent,
doubling from just one year earlier.’ This is the highest noncurrent rate for the industry
since fourth quarter 1992, when the noncurrent rate was 2.94 percent. Noncurrent rates
rose rapidly during 2008, reflecting the slowing economy and growing inability of some
businesses and consumers to make loan payments. Net charge-offs also rose steadily in
2008, climbing to an annualized rate of 1.92 percent in the fourth quarter -- the highest

level in the 25 years that institutions have reported quarterly net charge-offs.

* Noncurrent loans are loans that are past due 90 days or more or that are in nonaccrual status.

-5.
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These credit problems are most pronounced in construction and development
lending, where the percent of noncurrent loans stood at 8.55 percent as of year end 2008
-- a marked increase from 3.22 percent at year end 2007. Steady declines in performance
are also evident in other loan types such as residential mortgages, credit cards and
commercial real estate. Because of the rapid slowdown in the economy and the
protracted distress in the real estate sector, it seems clear that credit quality will continue

to be problematic this year.

The fourth quarter bank and thrift financial reports also show that lending activity
has slowed. Year-end 2008 Call and Thrift Reports showed aggregate loan balances of
$7.9 trillion, reflecting a decline of 1.4 percent during the fourth quarter and a smaller
decline of 0.4 percent from year-end 2007. While many factors -- including loan sales,
write-downs, payments, and originations -- can affect loan balances, changes in loan
balances can also reflect changes in lending patterns over time. Prior to the third quarter
of 2008, the industry had reported an increase in total loans outstanding in 25 consecutive

quarters dating back to third quarter 2002.

Fourth-quarter loan growth at FDIC-insured institutions tended to vary according
to the size of the institution. Table 1 shows that largest institutions, those with assets
over $100 billion, reported a decline of 3.4 percent in loan balances while the smallest,
those with assets under $1 billion, showed an increase of 1.5 percent. In fact, the fourth-
quarter decline in loans outstanding at FDIC-insured institutions was driven mostly by

large declines at some of the biggest banks. More than half of the insured institutions

-6-
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quarter, and the change in loan levels at the three institutions with the greatest decreases

represented more than 100 percent of the total industry decline in loans outstanding.

Table 1. Loan Growth by Asset Size Groups, Fourth Quarter 2008
(Dollar amounts in billions)

Number Number
Reporting Reporting Aggregate Net
Number of Decline in Increase in Change in Loans | Percent
Asset Size Institutions Loans Loans (8 Billions) Change
> $100 Billion 22 13 9 ($142.7) -3.4%
310 - $100 Bill. 92 43 49 $6.9 0.4%
31 - 310 Billion 561 179 382 382 0.8%
< $1 Billion 7,630 2,657 4973 $15.6 1.5%
All Insured
Institutions 8,305 2,892 5413 (3$112.0) -1.4%

Source: Call and Thrift Financial Reports

The data also point to some important differences in portfolio structure between

small banks and large banks that may account for the relative stability of loan balances at

small banks. On average, community banks at the end of fourth quarter 2008 had a

higher ratio of core deposits to assets than did banks with assets over $1 billion.

Community banks also reported a higher average ratio of loans to assets than larger

banks. These differences suggest that, at least in this stressful period, the business model

that relies on funding through core deposits and relationship lending, which has been

adhered to by many community banks, has proven to be resilient.
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The Role of Bank Supervision

The FDIC is committed to ensuring that examiners carry out their responsibilities
in an objective and even handed manner. Examiners are expected to closely review and
test bank management’s assessment of risk, market conditions, policy parameters, and
use of any federal financial assistance. The examination process focuses on assessing
banks’ own risk management process and identifying any weaknesses for consideration

and action by bank management.

In the period leading up to the credit market disruption, regulators should have
been more aggressive in their supervisory approach to high risk credit practices that
contributed to our current economic problems. While the banking supervisors issued a
number of warnings to the industry and provided guidance for enhancing risk
management, in hindsight, the agencies should have been more vigilant about some

institutions’ outsized risk exposures and underwriting practices.

Some have suggested that bank supervisors are now contributing to adverse credit
conditions by overreacting to current problems in the economy and discouraging banks
from making good loans. Borrowers report that banks are reluctant to lend and some are
attributing this to the bank examination process. In particular, concerns have been
expressed that bank examiners are discouraging banks from making loans in an effort to

preserve capital, or that examiners are requiring banks to engage in aggressive exit
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strategies with borrowers who are experiencing difficulties in their businesses,

particularly those involving real estate.

The FDIC understands the critical role that credit availability plays in the national
economy, and we balance those considerations with prudential safety and soundness
requirements. Through our formal and on-the-job training process at the FDIC, field
examiners are taught how to review banks’ policies, lending and investment practices,
financial reporting, and management performance. Based on their findings, examiners
communicate their observations to superiors and bank management both orally and in
writing. The examiners are instructed on how to deliver their observations without
infringing on bank management’s day-to-day decision-making and relationships with

customers.

A number of discussions have taken place with the FDIC’s regional management
to raise sensitivity to issues of credit availability. FDIC senior management has reiterated
that examiners should be encouraging banks to continue making prudent loans and

working with customers facing financial difficulties.

Many members of the FDIC’s supervisory staff served through the 1980s and
1990s as regulators and have an average tenure of nearly 16 years. Given their seasoning
as regulators, our examiners are keenly aware that credit extended by banks is critical to
local economies across the country. Most FDIC examiners live in the communities of the

banks they examine, and are very familiar with the local markets and economic trends.
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We also have heard criticisms that regulators are requiring widespread re-
appraisals on performing real estate loans, which then precipitate write-downs or a
curtailment of credit commitments based on a downward revision to value. While we
encourage banks to review collateral valuations when a borrower’s financial condition
has materially deteriorated or loan covenants have not been met, periodic credit reviews,
including collateral assessments, by bank management are a long-standing credit practice.
Bank management has considerable flexibility in making collateral assessments, both for
individual loans and portfolio reviews, and we have not revised our supervisory
expectations in the current environment. In cases where market values of collateral have
significantly deteriorated and the borrower also is seeking a modification of loan terms,
we have encouraged banks to work with the borrower during this difficult period. Itis
our hope that banks can reach mutually-advantageous workout arrangements that take
into account the borrower’s financial position and the collateral’s valuation and result in a

re-structured, and stable credit relationship.

In regard to fair value accounting, we are faced with a situation in which an
institution confronted with even a single dollar of credit loss on its available for sale and
held to maturity securities must write down the security to fair value, which includes not
only recognizing the credit loss, but also the liquidity discount. The FDIC has expressed
its support for the idea that the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) should
consider allowing institutions facing an other-than temporary-impairment (OTTT) loss to
recognize the credit loss in earnings but not the liquidity discount. The FASB last week

issued a proposal that would move in this direction.
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The FDIC understands the tight credit conditions in the market and is contributing
to a number of efforts to improve the current situation. Over the past year, we have
issued guidance to the institutions we regulate to encourage banks to maintain the
availability of credit. Moreover, examination professionals have received specific
instruction on properly applying this guidance within the context of FDIC supervised

institutions.

k On November 12, 2008, we joined the other federal banking agencies in issuing
the Interagency Statement on Meeting the Needs of Creditworthy Borrowers (FDIC FIL-
128-2008).% This statement reinforces the FDIC’s view that the continued origination
and refinancing of loans to creditworthy borrowers is essential to the vitality of our
domestic economy. The statement encourages banks to continue making loans in their
markets, work with borrowers who may be encountering difficulty during this
challenging period, and pursue initiatives such as loan modifications to prevent

unnecessary foreclosures.

In light of the present challenges facing banks and their customers, the FDIC
hosted a roundtable discussion earlier this month focusing on how regulators and
financial institutions can work together to improve credit availability. Representatives
from the banking industry were invited to share their concerns and insights with the
federal bank regulators and representatives from state banking agencies. The attendees
agreed that open, two-way communication between the regulators and the industry was

vital to ensuring that safety and soundness considerations are well balanced with the

6 See: http://www. fdic. gov/news/news/press/2008/pr08113.html
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critical need of providing credit to businesses and consumers. 1 believe this was a very
productive meeting, and look forward to working with the industry and our colleagues at

the other agencies to ensure credit remains available during this challenging period.

One of the important points that came out of the session was the need for ongoing
dialog between bankers and their regulators as they work jointly toward a solution to the
current financial crisis. Toward this end, Chairman Bair announced last week that the
FDIC is creating a new senior level office to expand community bank outreach. In
conjunction with this office, the FDIC plans to establish an advisory committee to

address the unique concerns of this segment of the banking community.

As part of our ongoing supervisory assessment of banks that participate in federal
financial stability programs, the FDIC is taking into account how available capital is
deployed to make responsible loans. It is necessary and prudent for banking
organizations to track the use of the funds made available through federal programs and
provide appropriate information about the use of these funds. On January 12, 2009, the
FDIC issued a Financial Institution Letter titled Monitoring the Use of Funding from
Federal Financial Stability and Guarantee Programs (FDIC FIL-1-2009),” advising
insured institutions that they should track their use of capital injections, liquidity support,
and/or financing guarantees obtained through recent financial stability programs as part
of a process for determining how these federal programs have improved the stability of
the institution and contributed to lending to the community. Equally important to this

process is providing this information to investors and the public. This Financial

7 See: http://www.fdic.gov/news/news/financial/2009/fil09001.htmi
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Institution Letter advises insured institutions to include information about their use of the

funds in public reports, such as shareholder reports and financial statements.

Internally at the FDIC, we have issued guidance to our bank examiners for
evaluating participating banks’ use of funds received through the TARP Capital Purchase
Program and the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program, as well as the associated
executive compensation restrictions mandated by the Emergency Economic Stabilization
Act. Examination guidelines for the new Public-Private Investment Fund will be
forthcoming. During examinations, our supervisory staff will be reviewing banks’ efforts
in these areas and will make comments as appropriate to bank management. We will
review banks’ internal metrics on the loan origination activity, as well as more broad data
on loan balances in specific loan categories as reported in Call Reports and other
published financial data. Our examiners also will be considering these issues when they
assign CAMELS composite and component ratings. The FDIC will measure and assess
participating institutions” success in deploying TARP capital and other financial support
from various federal initiatives to ensure that funds arc used in a manner consistent with

the intent of Congress, namely to support lending to U.S. businesses and households.

Conclusion

FDIC-insured banks are uniquely equipped to meet the credit needs of their local

markets, and have a proven tradition of doing so, through good times and bad. Banks

should be encouraged to make good loans, work with borrowers that are experiencing

-13-



111
difficulties during this challenging period whenever possible, avoid unnecessary
foreclosures, and continue to ensure that the credit needs of their communities are
fulfifled. In concert with other agencies and departments of the federal government, the
FDIC continues to employ a range of strategies designed to ensure that credit continues

to flow on sound terms to creditworthy borrowers.
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I would like to express my gratitude to Chairman Frank and the Committee for the
opportunity to be here today and speak on behalf of the financial services industry
and Western & Southern Financial Group (W&S). My name is Brad Hunkler. 1
am a Vice President and Controller with the Western & Southem Financial Group.
W&S is a mutual holding company owned by its policyholders and located in
Cincinnati, Ohio. W&S sells mostly life insurance products including traditional
life insurance and annuity products. Like other life insurance companies, we have
been adversely impacted by losses sustained in the investment in securitized loans.
As the witness for the Financial Services Roundtable, I intend to divide my
testimony into four parts:

1. Overview and background;

2. Securitization concerns;

3. Pro-cyclicality — and its unintended consequences; and

4. The importance of maintaining independent accounting standards.
Overview and Background
The role of the financial services industry, including non-banking instifutions
needs to be a significant component of your work in expanding credit to
consumers and commercial enterprises. The financial services industry invests in
all types of consumer loans including mortgages, credit cards, auto loans, student
loans, and many others. The primary investment vehicle for these loans is through
securitization. The amount of consumer lending financed by our industry is
critically important to maintaining adequate lending capacity for the broader

economy. For example, of the approximate $11 trillion of residential mortgages
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outstanding as of September 2008, banking institutions held approximately $4
trillion as difect loans with the remaining $7 trillion securitized. Of that $7
trillion, banks still held significant investments in securitized loans, but much of
those assets were held by non-banking institutions such as insurance companies,
pension plans and other institutional investors. Approximately $5 trillion of the $7
trillion were conforming balance mortgages and wrapped through the government
sponsored entities. This represents only residential mortgages. Insurance
companies also acquire a significant amount of assets securitized by other types of

loans as well.

From the insurance perspective, insurance companies acquire these assets due to
their high credit ratings and the yield and duration that the securities offer which
match the duration of many insurance liabilities. Many insurance companies have
ceased to write direct consumer loans and have relied on the securitization markets
to provide access to this asset class. As such, the insurance industry has become
reliant upon the implicit integrity of the securitization process, including high
quality underwriting, rating and structuring of these investments. In addition,
many loans are guaranteed by monoline insurers and government sponsored

entities — the industry relies on the quality of these credit enhancements as well.

Unfortunately, there were many unknown problems in these areas for the financial

services industry as a whole. As such, the industry has been adversely impacted
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by a lack of regulation, oversight and clarity of the securitization process.
Certainly the economic conditions, such as high unemployment and falling
housing prices, have adversely impacted the collateral of these assets, but other
non-economic factors, that could have been avoided, also have contributed to the
losses. As noted in many media reports, this includes: rampant fraud in the
mortgage origination and underwriting process; poor underwriting standards that
overemphasized rising housing prices and did not adequately consider borrower
creditworthiness; monoline insurers whose risk exposures were too highly
correlated; inadequate analysis and stress testing from the rating agencies resulting
in over-inflated ratings; and a lack of transparency relating to the underlying
collateral and deal structure which contributed to inefficient price discovery.
These issues are specific to the non-agency mortgage markets. The industry has
also been adversely impacted by a lack of transparency and regulatory oversight of
the student loan market where the investors who purchased auction-rate preferred
securities for short-term liquidity needs are now stuck with the illiquid, long-term

securities with uncertain payment provisions.

In addition to the liquidity and valuation challenges, mark-to-market accounting
has compounded the problems for the financial services industry. Some
institutions generally hold whole loans that are not required to be fair valued,
while others, including insurance companies, hold mostly securities which are

required to be marked-to-market. These are the areas that I ask the Committee to
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focus on going forward so that when economic conditions improve, institutions

will return to the securitization markets.

Securitization Oversight

The industry needs to rely on certain standards for securitized assets. These

standards need to be defined and oversight needs to be provided to ensure that

standards are strictly enforced. The following points summarize the areas of

concern in the markets for securitized assets:

Collateral Information: The mortgage backed securities (MBS) market
lacks a standardization of underlying collateral information, both at the
time of securitization and in the ongoing monthly performance reporting.
The industry would propose that all collateral information, such as loan-to-
value ratios, FICO scores, and other collateral and borrower information be
provided in detail within a standardized format to allow for more
comprehensive and accurate valuation by investors (similar to the CMBS
market).

Underwriting Standards: It is has been extensively reported that
mortgage brokers have committed significant amounts of fraud, and bank
and Wall Street underwriting due diligence failed to pick this up. As such,
the industry is looking for strict enforcement of improved underwriting
standards and for originators and perhaps servicers to retain some “skin in

the game” in the securitized loans.
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Deal Structure: Deal structure can vary from deal-to-deal for non-agency
MBS. This includes variability in bankruptcy carve-out provisions and
other cash flow triggers. This challenges analysis and has contributed to a
lack of transparency that has led to reduced trading of existing securities.
Standardized deal structures would help immensely.
Rating Agencies: Rating agencies provided ratings that did not adequately
reflect the level of risk in the investments. AAA ratings should only be
awarded to securities that have an extraordinary low risk of default. This
rating was based on recent historical MBS performance and did not
discount the possibility of sustained negative home prices nationwide.
Some oversight over this industry needs to be considered as investors need
a rating process with integrity and accuracy to foster confidence in
valuations.
Monoline Insurers: Monoline insurers were permitted to insure highly
correlated assets well in excess of their risk tolerance. Rating agencies
assumed only idiosyncratic risk — they never considered a systemic risk

event.

Auction Rate Securities: Auction rate securities backed by student loans

have traded for some time with minimal government oversight. For the
market to function, it relied on the liquidity support of the investment banks
that were involved in the trading and their willingness to use balance sheet

capacity to provide liquidity. While loans are mostly supported by
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government guarantees, the investment banks became concerned about
holding increasing amounts of assets due to insufficient balance sheet
capacity and thus, allowed auctions to fail. This has left many holding
securities that were thought to be cash or liquid investments, but are now
securities with significantly longer-term maturities at short term interest
rates with no source of liquidity. The ability to control this market and the
auction process by investment banks needs to be addressed by Congress so
that the industry can resume investing with confidence in these types of

asset classes.

In addition to the improvements in regulation noted above, Congress also needs to
continue to address the issue of existing assets on financial statements. At this
point, the best thing regulators can do is to choose a course of action and stick to
it. The added uncertainty of government intervention in mortgages, housing and
toxic assets has significantly deteriorated the markets on these assets. The
announcement made by Treasury on March 23, 2009, for the Public/Private
Program for Legacy Assets provides good direction and comprehensive action on

these issues. We believe that this represents a positive development in this regard.

Mark-to-Market Accounting Concerns
The industry has raised mark-to-market accounting concerns since the first major

application of market value accounting in the Financial Accounting Standards
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Board (FASB) Statement No. 115. At the time early deliberations were occurring
on FAS 115 in the late 80’s, interest rates were at all time highs. The insurance
industry had extraordinary unrealized losses on its investment portfolios and most,
if not all, insurance companies would have shown negative book value at that
time. The industry on the whole questioned the usefulness or the meaning of
reflecting negative book values due to high interest rates. Having a long-term,
cash flow oriented investing strategy allows insurers to manage through periods of
interest rate volatility. For some institutions and even for some assets of insurance
entities, reflecting market values in the financial statements makes sense.
Generally speaking, equity investments are acquired for the purpose of investing
and should be carried at market values at all times. But generally speaking, the
industry holds mostly fixed income investments purchased for the purpose of
providing future cash flows to support future policyholder claims. For these
investments, market value accounting provides less meaningful information and

should be limited to disclosure.

Today, excessive speculation in the markets has made market prices potentially
deceptive when reflected in the equity of financial institutions. I believe that
today’s markets move well into the extremes of economic cycles. Market
participants speculate more on an asset’s ability to increase or decrease in value
than on its inherent ability or inability to provide future cash flows. This

excessive speculation has led to market bubbles and busts. Adding market values
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to financial statements in this environment can be misleading. During market
bubbles, financial statements can illustrate a false wealth effect. This can lead to
excessive risk-taking and over-levering non-existent equity. During periods of
market declines, the opposite is true. As market values decline, reported losses in
excess of real losses can lead to restricted risk-taking and capital preservation.
This can lead to irrational exuberance in bubble periods and irrational fear during
the busts. While markets can accommodate this type of volatility, the sanctity of

the Nation’s financial institutions needs to be immune to it.

Pro-cyclicality

To address pro-cyclicality, some would suggest providing a counter-cyclical
regulatory capital model and retaining market values in reported financial
statements. 1 do not believe this represents a sound approach. Reported financial
statements that show excessive volatility and potentially negative book values can
fuel adverse consumer activity. If regulatory reporting results show strong
financial strength through this reporting mechanism, it has the potential to be
dismissed or even worse it can discredit the regulatory capital model altogether.
Wearing my insurance hat, I could follow on that this is the case today in the
insurance industry. Insurance companies have reported unrealized losses in their
GAAP financial statements while properly reflecting statutory capital well in

excess of levels normally required to retain existing financial strength ratings. But
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during the first quarter of this year, many insurance companies received two or
more rating notch downgrades and saw significant declines in their stock prices.
Some insurance companies also saw adverse policyholder activity with higher
surrenders. This occurred in spite of the fact that regulatory capital remained
strong for many of these institutions. With GAAP and regulatory accounting
showing different results, conservative investors tend to migrate to the least
favorable outcome. Therefore, although regulatory capital may be a more accurate
reflection of solvency, it potentially could be disregarded by analysts, investors,
and even consumers. This can result in economic hardship for an otherwise

healthy financial institution.

Market Prices

Market prices, though, do provide beneficial information for financial statement
users. They provide an objective source of value and can be a proxy for value in
active, rational markets. Also, market prices are the value that can be exchanged
if assets are required to be liquidated. In addition, some assets are acquired for the
purpose of trading and should therefore reflect the market prices in the balance
sheet. Investors have spoken clearly that fair value accounting provides
meaningful information, But the desire for objective financial data has led to the
replacement of the principles of prudence and conservatism with fair value

accounting. Therefore, I believe that the primary measurement attribute should be
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cost for cash flow investors. Losses should be recorded when cash flows are
impaired up to the amount of the impaired cash flows. Then to accommodate the
needs of investors, a fair value supplement can be provided and made available
concurrently with reported results. Fair values would then represent exit values

and reflect the impact of liquidating financial instruments if required.

I believe that this approach has merit. It reflects the needs of investors yet does
not subject the industry’s financial statements to the whims of the markets. It is
this approach that the financial services industry has supported since the first
broad issuance of a fair value standard with FASB Statement No. 115 in 1993.
But this is not the apparent direction of the FASB or the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). Fair value accounting continues to be incorporated into
the financial reporting standards over the objections of many industry groups. The
FASB has continued to introduce fair value requirements regardless of whether an
active market exists or has ever existed for the asset or liability. This topic was
well-vetted in your March 12 mark-to-market subcommittee hearing. I would like
to add to that testimony by saying this is not a concern that is being raised for the
first time by the industry. Even when benefited by the reporting of fair values, the
industry has consistently had concerns regarding the application on fair value

reporting.
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The FASB has a more than adequate due process in the exposure and issuance of
new standards. It is open and transparent, collects data from all sources and it is
conducted in a timeframe that accommodates all parties. But the problem is that
preparer concerns have held little weight in the ultimate decision on the issuance
of new standards. Instead investor concerns — primarily the voices of large
investor organizations — have driven the FASB agenda in support of all financial
reporting on a fair value basis. What is interesting, though, is that as the FASB
has continued to introduce new fair value measurement requirements, equity
analysts continue to guide companies to exclude the results of these fair value
changes from the core operating earnings that they report in their earnings release.
What equity analysts are interested in is understanding run-rate earmnings and the
growth in earnings so that THEY can determine the fair value of the company

based on its operating results and ability to provide future cash flows.

A Thoughtful Congressional Role in Accounting Standard Setting

Congress can play a role in the oversight of the FASB due process. They can
oversee it and ensure that all voices are not only collected, but given due
consideration in the creation of new standards. What is important though is to
retain the ultimate independence of FASB to create standards without political
interference. This is a difficult balance and to the extent that any role is created by
Congress it will need to be carefully thought through to limit its authority to just

the observance of an adequate due process.
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Congressional input into the standard setting process should be considered as well.
Today, Congress has the authority to speak directly to the FASB as was done at
the March 12, 2009, hearing. Moreover, though, Congress can comment on any
FASB proposal that was issued through the FASB due process. From time-to-
time, individual Representatives have provided comment letters to FASB and,
given the extent of taxpayer investment in financial institutions, I would encourage
more Congressional input and oversight of the setting of accounting standards.
Furthermore, Congress should consider the need for a process to provide feedback
to FASB on proposed accounting standards.
Conclusion
In conclusion, I come to you today to provide some background information on
the role of the financial services industry in lending within the securitization
markets. In your valued oversight role of FASB in the accounting rulemaking
process, the Roundtable believes that your focus should include:

1. Securitization concerns;

2. Pro-cyclicality — and its unintended consequences; and

3. The importance of maintaining independent accounting

standards.

I thank you for the opportunity to be here today and look forward to your

questions.
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Testimony Concerning Exploring the Balance Between Increased Credit Availability
and Prudent Lending Standards

James L. Kroeker
Acting Chief Accountant
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

House Committee on Financial Services
March 285, 2009
Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus, and members of the Committee:

Tam Jim Kroeker, Acting Chief Accountant in the Office of the Chief Accountant (OCA),
which advises the Commission on accounting and auditing matters. I am pleased to testify
today on behalf of the Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission).

Your invitation to this hearing included a number of important questions that are
appropriately the province of my fellow regulators here today. One area you did inquire
about related to fair value accounting. Iam happy to provide you with an update on this
topic.

Recent Efforts to Improve Fair Value Accounting

Two weeks ago, on March 12, this Committee’s Subcommittee on Capital Markets,
Insurance, and Government Sponsored Enterprises held a hearing on the critical topic of
fair value accounting, at which I also testified. I believe that the hearing helped to further
crystallize and advance the objective sought by market participants for improved guidance
on the measurement of fair value and accounting for impairments.

There can be no doubt, and we at the Commission fully understand, the gravity and
urgency of these issues as we all work in the public interest to address the global
economic crisis. The hearing on March 12 underscored our own efforts for swift
consideration and appropriate action, including action to address and, as appropriate,
implement the critical recommendations the Commission staff identified in our
Congressional study on mark-to-market accounting, which we conducted in consultation
with the Department of the Treasury and the Federal Reserve.

Consistent with the sentiments we have clearly heard from many members of this
Committee, I believe swift action must be taken to address the accounting for investment
impairments and to improve the measurement guidance for illiquid assets for first quarter
2009 reporting. We are therefore pleased that the FASB has acted diligently and
responsively to use their expertise as an independent standard-setter and expose
amendments to the measurement of securities in inactive markets and the recognition of
“other-than-temporary” security impairments. Following the FASB due process
procedures, the proposed amendments were deliberated fully at an open public meeting of
the full Board, were approved by a majority vote, and are now subject to public comment.
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On March 17, the FASB’s amendments were made available for a 15-day public comment
period ending April 1.

The FASB’s proposed amendments seek to directly address two of the recommendations
in the Commission staff’s December 30, 2008 study on mark-to-market accounting. First,
these proposed amendments seek to provide additional guidance on determining whether a
market for a financial asset is not active and a transaction is not distressed for fair value
measurements. Generally, if the market is not active, then a valuation technique other
than one that uses the quoted price shall be used. For example, the reporting entity could
use an income approach (that is, a present value technique based on estimated cash flows)
to estimate fair value based on an orderly transaction between willing market participants.
This amended ability to use cash flows to measure securities in inactive markets seeks to
address concerns about using distressed, forced or disorderly sales as the basis for
estimating fair value.

Second, the FASB’s proposed amendments seek to provide a clearer benchmark for when
an other-than-temporary impairment exists and needs to be recorded on securities held
outside of a company’s trading book, and to transparently disclose the amount of the
impairment directly associated with probable cash flow declines. These proposed
amendments seek to provide greater clarity than exists today about the nature of losses.
Under these proposed amendments, the probable losses in cash flow would be recorded in
earnings, and the loss attributable to all other factors (e.g., liquidity and changes in interest
rates) would be transparently reported as a component of “other comprehensive income”
(OCI). To be clear, securities available for sale would continue to be reported at fair value
on the balance sheet.

To illustrate how the FASB’s proposed amendments would seck to improve the
accounting for other-than-temporary impairments, consider their proposed application to a
mortgage-backed security (MBS) comprised entirely of a large portfolio of residential
mortgage loans. Under the existing guidance for other-than-temporary impairments, if it
becomes probable that the MBS investor will suffer even a minor loss of expected cash
flow, instead of recording the minor loss in earnings, the loss is based upon the MBS’s
current fair value. The FASB proposal would seck to provide additional information to
the investor by reporting the minor loss of expected cash flow in earnings with other
changes in value recognized in equity (i.e., OCI) until a decision to sell the security, and
realize the loss, was made. That is, such a model would appear to help bridge the gap
between the current fair value and the value expected from holding investment positions
until markets return to normal liquidity levels.

We understand that the FASB’s current plan is for its proposed amendments to be
finalized by the first week of April in time for first quarter 2009 reporting. First quarter
2009 reporting would represent a timely response to our study’s recommendations, and we
are encouraged that the FASB has taken advantage of this earliest opportunity to act.

These proposed amendments are now in an important exposure period. As Representative
Kanjorski aptly described at the March 12 hearing, there are strongly held views on all
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sides of these issues. It is critical that all those affected carefully consider the proposed
amendments and whether they properly address the most pressing practice issucs in the
measurement of fair value and assessment of security impairment while also enhancing
the information available to investors.

We also are actively taking steps to advance these issues. This has been and remains my
pumber one priority. We have been proactively reaching out to investor groups, the
accounting profession, fellow regulators, and representatives from those industries that
would be most affected by the FASB’s proposed amendments. And of course we are, as
we always are, in constant contact with the FASB, and we understand that they have
likewise engaged in active dialogue with capital market participants.

As I have testified before, we continue to believe the FASB must be responsive to the
needs of capital market participants. While the Commission has broad authority and
responsibility to prescribe accounting standards,’ it has long retied on the FASB as a
private sector standard-setter and recognized the importance of the FASB’s
indepenclence.2 The FASB, in turn, is obliged to consider, in adopting accounting
principles, the need to keep standards current in order to reflect emerging accounting
issues and changing business practices.’

I am hopeful that the FASB will continue, on a timely basis, to enhance the tools available
to assist preparers and auditors when making these difficult judgments. As I testified on
March 12, as the principal advisor to the Commission on accounting and auditing issues, |
and my office remain ready to assist the Commission in any way it deems necessary.

1 am also hopeful that the FASB will continue its efforts to comprehensively reconsider
the accounting for all financial instruments, which was also a recommendation in the
staff’s mark-to-market study. We will be working closely with the FASB in the near
future as they continue that undertaking, including closely monitoring their efforts to
barmonize the accounting for loans and securities and to choose a measurement objective
that meets the needs of investors.

Interaction between Regulatory Capital and U.S. GAAP

As you are aware, the Commission and my office are not responsible for monitoring the
availability of credit, nor are we responsible for assessing financial institutions’ lending
practices. These aspects of regulation are already best addressed by others here today.

However, my office is responsible for establishing and enforcing accounting policy to
enhance the transparency and relevancy of financial reporting in fulfilling the
Commission’s separate and mission of investor protection, market efficiency and capital
formation, a mission that is at the heart of our privately financed economy. As part of our
fulfillment of this responsibility and mission, we oversee the activities of the FASB. As
part of our oversight, we remain cognizant of the primary objective of U.S. GAAP
reporting and how that primary objective interacts with the separate objectives of others,
including regulatory capital reporting, and we engage in regular and meaningful dialogue,
interaction, and consultation with banking regulators.
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As we discuss in our December 30 study on mark-to-market accounting, the primary
objective of financial reporting is, and should be, to provide information useful to
investors and creditors in their decision-making processes. The primary objective of
prudential banking oversight has been to foster safety and soundness and financial
stability.

When considering these often complementary, yet different, objectives, it is also

important to recall two points. First, investors generally can, and do, make decisions on a
current basis, necessitating relevant and reliable current information about financial values
and prospects on a timely basis. While an individual entity may have a long term horizon,
the capital allocation decisions of investors depend on their own individual circumstances.

For example, working Americans are faced with daily decisions about which investment
to purchase and hold in an IRA or 401(k). The historical cost of an asset (that is, the price
the reporting entity bought the asset years ago) may in many cases provide little relevance
to an investor making a current capital allocation decision. Rather, information about the
current values and the financial prospects of the reporting entity may be extremely
important to the investor when determining which investment to purchase.

The full Commission and I believe that confidence in our markets begins with the quality
and transparency of the financial information available to help investors decide whether,
when, and where to invest their hard-earned dollars. The goal of the federal securities
laws is to promote honest and efficient markets and informed investment decisions
through full and fair disclosure. Transparency in financial reporting provides necessary
confidence in the fairness of the markets and plays a fundamental role in contributing to
make our markets the most efficient, liquid and resilient in the world.

Second, investors generally may not have the ability to otherwise obtain information in a
format specific for their own use. Therefore, in evaluating their investment decisions,
investors are dependent on the financial reporting provided by management and as guided
by the Commission. However, unlike investors, banking regulators have the ability to
prescribe the format of information provided to them, including the ability to adjust U.S.
GAAP reporting, or require additional information for purposes of their own analysis and,
as I describe further below, have exercised that ability in many cases.

As we noted in our study, regulatory capital requirements for banks in the U.S. currently
start with financial information provided in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Section 121 of
FDICIA requires that the accounting principles used in the reports and statements filed
with banking regulators by insured depository institutions be no less stringent than U.S.
GAAP." The banking regulations for preparing balance sheet and income statement
reports filed with regulators are consistent with FDICIA.

There are, however, instances in which the prudential banking regulators have determined
that adjustments should be made to U.S. GAAP accounting results for regulatory capital
purposes, thereby reflecting the important differences between the objectives of U.S.
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GAAP reporting and the objectives of regulatory capital requirements. We understand
that these adjustments are intended to reflect the solvency and safety and soundness of the
financial institutions on an ongoing basis. This can be done, for instance, by seeking to
limit volatility that is temporary in nature.

For example, consistent with the safety and soundness objective, losses on assets that are
reflected in income and retained earnings in accordance with U.S. GAAP are generally
recognized in regulatory capital. However, while equity, as presented under U.S. GAAP,
is the starting point for the banking regulators’ regulatory capital calculations, the
regulatory capital standards and their instructions for calculating regulatory capital include
several adjustments from U.S. GAAP-based equity. An example in this area is that
unrealized gains and losses for available-for-sale (AFS) debt securities generally do not
impact regulatory capital calculations, even though these unrealized gains and losses are
reported in U.S. GAAP-based equity (as part of accumulated other comprehensive
income). Losses that are realized by a financial institution, either by sale of the debt
security or determination that the decline in the fair value of the debt security is other-
than-temporary, are reflected in regulatory capital.

In 1995, the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS), as well as the other banking regulators
(collectively, the Agencies), issued a final rule to exclude unrealized gains and losses for
available-for-sale debt securities recognized under FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting
Jor Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities (FAS 115) from regulatory capital.
In its final rule, the OTS stated:

After considering all the comments received, the OTS, in consultation with the
other Agencies, has decided not to adopt its proposal to include the FAS 115
equity component in computing regulatory capital. ...Based on the comment
letters received, the OTS determined that adoption of the proposal could
potentially have an inappropriate impact on associations' regulatory capital and
result in an inaccurate picture of their capital positions. For example, fluctuations
in interest rates could cause temporary changes in regulatory capital levels, which
in turn could trigger more permanent regulatory intervention and inappropriately
affect industry profitability. ... The OTS considered the comments received
regarding FDICIA’s requirement that regulatory accounting policy be no less
stringent than GAAP. Section 121 of FDICIA requires that policics applicable to
reports and statements filed with the Federal banking agencies generally conform
to GAAP. The section, however, does not require the calculation of an institution's
regulatory capital or the components of regulatory capital to conform to GAAP,
and the legislative history of the section indicates that was not necessarily the
intent of Congress.”

In addition to making adjustments to exclude from regulatory capital certain amounts
reported under U.S. GAAP in accumulated OCI, the regulatory calculation of capital also
includes adjustments to certain assets that are recognized and included in equity under
U.S. GAAP.® For example, goodwill” is deducted from regulatory capital and the
inclusion in regulatory capital of certain servicing rights recognized as assets under U.S.
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GAAP is limited. As a result, fair value measurements that adjust the carrying amount of
items excluded from regulatory capital, while reducing U.S. GAAP-based equity, may not
have an impact on regulatory capital.

In certain circumstances, the regulatory calculation of capital also includes items not
reported in equity under U.S. GAAP. In 2005, the Federal Reserve issued a final rule
addressing the definition of regulatory capital in which it stated:

A change in the GAAP accounting for a capital instrument does not necessarily
change the regulatory capital treatment of that instrument. Although GAAP
informs the definition of regulatory capital, the [Federal Reserve] is not bound to
use GAAP accounting concepts in its definition of [Tlier 1 or [TJier 2 capital
because regulatory capital requirements are regulatory constructs designed to
ensure the safety and soundness of banking organizations, not accounting
designations established to ensure the transparency of financial statements. In this
regard, the definition of [Tlier I capital since the [Federal Reserve] adopted its
risk-based capital rule in 1989 has differed from GAAP equity in a number of
ways. The {[Federal Reserve] has determined that these differences are consistent
with its responsibility for ensuring the soundness of the capital bases of banking
organizations under its supervision. These differences are not differences between
regulatory reporting and GAAP accounting requirements, but rather are
differences only between the definition of equity for purposes of GAAP and the
definition of [T]ier 1 capital for purposes of the Board’s regulatory capital
requirements for banking organizations.

In sum, while financial reporting may serve as a starting point for other users, such as
banking regulators, it should continue to be developed by the FASB to primarily satisfy
the needs of private sector investors and other users that may not have the ability to
otherwise obtain information in a format specific for their own use. As1 testified two
weeks ago, the full Commission and I continue to believe the FASB is best positioned to
promulgate neutral financial reporting standards. As previously described, if they deem
necessary, the banking regulators have the ability to adjust financial reporting or require
additional information for purposes of their own analysis and have exercised that ability as
they deem appropriate.

Conclusion

A primary goal of the federal securities laws is to promote honest and efficient markets
and informed investment decisions through full and fair disclosure. We support the
FASB’s swift and responsive actions to propose amendments that seek to address the
recommendations included in the SEC staff’s study. We will continue to solicit input
from all parties affected by this issue. My office and I are assisting the Commission, by
advising them on the FASB’s recent actions. We stand ready to provide support to
Commission and the FASB, in any way the Commission deems appropriate, to help
ensure that FASB timely consider and address the recommendations for improvements
included in our study, and to ensure information available to investors in these economic
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conditions is as accurate, timely and useful as possible. This remains my number one
priority during these challenging economic times.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear today, and I would be pleased to respond to any
questions.

! See, e.g., sections 7, 19(a) and Schedule A, items (25) and (26) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C.
778, 77s(a), 77aa(25) and (26); sections 3(b), 12(b) and 13(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15
U.S.C. 78c(b), 781(b) and 78my(b); and sections 8, 30(e), 31 and 38(a) of the Investment Company Act of
1940, 15 U.S.C. 80a-8, 80a-29(e), 80a-30 and 80a-37(a).

2 policy Statement Reaffirming the Status of the FASB as a Designated Private-Sector Standard Seitter,
Release Nos. 33-8221; 34-47743; 1C-26028; FR-70 (April 25, 2003) {68 FR 23333 (May [, 2003)] (“2003
Policy Statement”).

3 See section 19(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. 77s(b), as amended by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, 15 U.S.C. 7201 et seg. Further, in the 2003 Policy Statement, the Commission stated its belief that
the FASB “should provide timely guidance to public companies, accounting firms, regulators and others on
accounting issues that the Commission considers to be of immediate significance to investors.” Further, the
Commission stated that: “We expect that the Commission staff will refer issues to the FASB or one of its
affiliated organizations when those issues may warrant new, amendments to, or formal interpretations of,
accounting standards. We also expect that the FASB will address such issues in a timely manner.” Id.
(footnotes omitted)

4See 12 U.S.C. 1831n.

3 Regulatory Capital: Common Stockholders’ Equity, OTS Release No. 95-151 (August 3, 1995) [60 FR
42025 (August 15, 1995)].

® See “Instructions for Preparation of Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income (FFIEC 031 and
041),” last updated December 2008 as provided on the FFIEC website, for a description of the assets
reported under U.S. GAAP that are not eligible to be included in Schedule RC-R - Regulatory Capital.
(available at http://www.ffiec.gov/PDF/FFIEC_forms/FFIEC031_041_200812_i.pdf).

7 In December, the Agencies jointly issued a final rule allowing goodwill, which must be deducted from Tier
1 capital, to be reduced by the amount of any associated deferred tax liability. See Minimum Capital Ratios;
Capital Adequacy Guidelines; Capital Maintenance; Capital; Deduction of Goodwill Net of Associated
Deferred Tax Liability, Docket No. OTS-2008-0019 (December 15, 2008) [73 FR 79602 (December 30,
2008)].

# Risk-Based Capital Standards: Trust Preferred Securities and the Definition of Capital, Docket No. R-1193
(March 10, 2005) {70 FR 11827 (March 10, 2005)}.
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Introduction

Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus, and members of the Committee, my
name is Timothy Long, and T am the Senior Deputy Comptroller for Bank Supervision
Policy and Chief National Bank Examiner for the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency. I appreciate the opportunity to describe the OCC’s role in ensuring that banks
remain safe and sound, while at the same time meet the credit needs of their communities
and customers. This is our core mission, and we recognize it is a balance: supervise too
lightly, and some banks will use federally insured deposits to make unsafe loans that can
ultimately cause them to fail; supervise too strictly, and some banks will become too
conservative and not make loans to creditworthy borrowers. The OCC strives every day
to get this balance right through strong, thoughtful and consistent supervision that reflects
constant interaction with and feedback from the banks that we supervise.

All of us — supervisors, bankers, and members of this Committee — recognize the
important role that credit availability and prudent lending plays in our nation’s economy
and we all share the goal of ensuring that banks can continue to meet the credit needs of
their customers. The actions undertaken over the past few months — providing facilities
and programs to help banks strengthen their balance sheets, restoring liquidity to various
credit segments, including small business owners, and promoting supportable residential
loan modifications — are important steps in restoring our banking system and economy.

The OCC fully supports these initiatives and we believe they will have a positive
tmpact on banks’ ability and willingness to lend. We must recognize, however, that
banks are operating in an economic environment that continues to pose significant
challenges to them and their loan customers. The sharp decline in fourth quarter gross

domestic product and increasing unemployment levels are placing strains on borrowers’
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ability to service their loan obligations and is contributing to the tighter loan underwriting
standards we are seeing at many banks. Notwithstanding these challenges, bankers are
making loans to credit worthy borrowers. For example, as the Treasury Department has
reported, over $800 billion of new loans ~ in the form of new originations, renewals, and
refinancings — have been generated in the four month period from October 2008 through
January 2009 by the nine large national banking organizations that have received funds
from the Capital Purchase Program. Moreover, every banker I have talked to reiterates
that lending is the backbone of their business and that they are committed to meeting the
credit needs of their customers through this economic cycle. Our examiners, who are in
the banks, also confirm that bankers are continuing to make loans to creditworthy
customers.

I understand that some bankers believe they are receiving mixed messages from
regulators about the need to make loans to creditworthy customers while at the same time
being subject to what some have termed as “overzealous” regulatory examinations. We
believe we are striking the right balance in encouraging bankers to make loans to
creditworthy borrowers, but always consistent with safe and sound banking practices —
and to the extent we’re not, we are continually prodding bankers to let us know, both
directly to our examiners and indirectly through our Ombudsman. Our message to
bankers is straightforward:

* Do make loans that you believe will be repaid;

= Do not make loans that are unlikely to be repaid; and

= Continue to work constructively with troubled borrowers, but recognize
repayment problems in loans when you see them, because delay and denial makes

things worse.
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OCC examiners do not and will not criticize bankers for making loans that are
prudently underwritten and appropriately managed. This does not mean that every
person or company that wants credit will receive a loan. The simple truth is that, given
the economic conditions facing our country today, there are borrowers that simply cannot
afford or manage new or existing debt obligations — borrowers and companies that find
themselves overleveraged. In these cases, we encourage bankers to work with the
borrower, to the extent possible, to restructure or modify the loan so that repossession of
collateral or foreclosure is avoided wherever possible.

But for some borrowers, a workout is not feasible and the bank is unlikely to be
fully repaid. In these cases our goal is to ensure that the bank has adequate reserves and
capital to absorb its loan losses. In this regard, we have and will continue to be forceful
in telling bankers that they need to be realistic in their evaluations of a borrower’s
condition and to take appropriate actions, including charge-offs, when warranted.
Likewise, there are some community banks that find themselves overextended in relation
to their capital and loan loss reserves. In most cases, these institutions will need to
reduce their exposures — sometimes by raising more capital, but often by cutting back on
loans — to survive. While this is not always an easy step for management to take, in these
circumstances we believe it is both prudent and necessary.

National Banks are Making Loans, but Loan Demand
and Some Loan Volumes are Down

Before discussing our supervisory approaches in the current environment, it is
useful to begin with sore facts about current credit conditions. There have been clear
signs of weakness, especially since last summer. As Chart 1 shows, the total dollar
volume of loans on the books of national banks declined four percent over the course of

2008, with the deceleration picking up in the fourth quarter. Naturally, some categories
3
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of lending were weaker than others. Examples include 1-4 family residential mortgages
and construction lending. But these examples are hardly surprising, given the significant
contraction in these sectors during 2008 that sharply curtailed the demand for new loans.’
Outside of the real estate realm, business loans increased slightly in 2008, as did non-
mortgage consumer lending (see Chart 1).

Chart 1
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There are also some technical reasons for a portion of the decline that shows up in
the data. We have traced a sizable share of the reported reduction in bank loan volume —
approximately $56 billion — to accounting adjustments that were made in connection with

mergers and acquisitions. The loans moved onto the acquiring bank’s books at a lower

' During 2008, the value of residential construction put in place fell by 27 percent. Existing home sales fell
by 13 percent and new single family home sales declined by 38 percent. The Federal Reserves’ Senior
Loan Officer Survey reported 14 straight quarters of net decline in demand for home mortgage loans and
the Mortgage Bankers Association’s weekly mortgage application survey saw a 19 percent drop in new
purchase applications for 2008.

¢ Commercial/industrial and commercial mortgage loans increased by 2.6% in 2008. Consumer loans
(credit card and installment) rose by 3%. 1-4 family mortgages dropped by 11% and construction by 2.6%.

4
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value and were correctly reported at that lower value which can make it look like lending
has fallen, when in fact, there may have been no change at all.® While we will not have
first quarter data until mid-May, recent data suggests that there has been further
contraction in commercial and industrial (C&I) and commercial real estate (CRE)
lending, whereas residential mortgage loan balances have increased.

Looking solely at the outstanding volume of loans held by national banks,
however, does not give a complete picture of the amount of rew loan dollars that banks
are extending, because it only captures the net change in loan volume. Because some
portion of loans amortize or payoff each month and banks appropriately are charging off
loans deemed uncollectible, the actual volume of new loans that banks are generating is
higher than what is suggested by the level of outstanding balances. As noted in the U.S.
Treasury’s recent “January Monthly Lending and Intermediation Snapshot” report for the
21 largest Capital Purchase Program recipients, “the nation’s largest banks continued to
originate, refinance, and renew loans in January 2009 in the face of a worsening
economic downturn.”™ The report notes that most institutions had higher originations
across consumer lending categories than in December 2008, whereas C&I and CRE
lending decreased due to weakening demand. Nonetheless, looking over the fourth
month period, from October 2008 through January 2009, these financial institutions on a
combined basis reported nearly $960 billion in loan originations, renewals, and
refinancings. National banking organizations accounted for more than 80 percent of that

total.

* Includes accounting adjustments related to Washington Mutual, but excludes those related to acquired
thrift loans at Wachovia/Wells Fargo.

# See “Treasury Department January Monthly Lending and Intermediation Snapshot” at

hitp://www treas. gov/press/releases/tg 59.htm and “Treasury Department Monthly Lending and
Intermediation Snapshot” at http://www.treas.gov/press/releases/reports/tg30-2-122008.pdf.




138

But a recitation of figures on short-term fluctuations in bank lending makes it
possible to lose perspective. While concerns about recent softening should not be
minimized, as Chart 2 illustrates, this pattern is consistent with the experience of all
insured depository institutions in past recessions.

Chart 2
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A number of supply and demand-related factors are having a direct bearing on
loan growth:

» Reduction in loan demand, as reductions in consumer spending lead businesses to
cut back on inventory and other investments;

= Reductions in the demand for consumer and other credit from borrowers who may
have been able to afford or repay a loan when the economy was expanding, but
now face constrained income or cash flow and debt service capacity,

= Self-corrective actions taken by bankers to scale back risk exposures in the face of
declining collateral values, and to strengthen underwriting standards and loan
terms that had become, in retrospect, too relaxed; and finally,

= The absence of a normally functioning loan securitization market.

This interplay of factors and their effect on lending is consistent with a variety of

recent reports and surveys. For example, as shown in Chart 3, data from the Federal
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Reserve’s quarterly Senior Loan Officer Survey illustrates that as the economy
weakened, demand for bank loans waned.

Chart 3
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This trend has continued in 2009. The Federal Reserve’s January survey results
show that nearly 70 percent of bank respondents reported the demand for C&I loans from
large and middle market companies was moderately or substantially weaker and 65
percent reported weaker demand from small businesses. Almost 53 percent reported
decreases in the number of inquiries from potential borrowers regarding the availability
and terms of new credit lines. Reduced customer inventory and receivables financing
needs and reduced investment in plant and equipment were factors cited as contributing
to the decrease in loan demand. Nearly all respondents reported that the less favorable or
more uncertain economic outlook and the worsening industry-specific problems
contributed to tightening credit standards and loan terms.’

Similarly, the results of a recent National Small Business Poll on Access to Credit

conducted by the National Federation of Independent Business indicate that only 8.9

5 See: “January 2009 Senior Officer Opinion Survey on Bank Lending Practices,” Federal Reserve Board,
at: http//www.federalreserve. gov/boarddocs/SnLoanSurvey/200902/tablel htm.
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percent of respondents cited an inability to obtain credit as their most immediate problem,
compared to slowing or lost sales (45 percent) and the unpredictability of business
conditions (23 percent).® The same study reports that “...sharply falling real estate
values accompanied by the onset of what appears to be an abnormally severe recession
have become the real small business problems and are the principal causes for the most
obvious small business credit consequence, depressed demand.”’

Because of various anecdotal reports about the shutdown of credit in the
commercial real estate market, we recently asked our examiners at a cross section of
national banks to describe their observations regarding banks’ appetite for, and
willingness to extend, this type of credit. Our findings indicate that while national banks
are still making income-producing commercial real estate loans to well qualified
borrowers, bankers are reducing their appetite for risk. Examiners report that most banks,
both large and small, are being more circumspect in their underwriting.

For example, as real estate values continue to decline in many parts of the
country, many banks are underwriting to lower loan-to-value ratios, typically in the 70 to
80 percent range, than was previously the case. Others are increasing cash equity
requirements or are requiring higher pre-leasing requirements. We believe these more
selective underwriting criteria have been prompted by the sharp deterioration of, and
continued uncertainty about, the underlying real estate markets, rather than a fear of
examiner criticism. Weaknesses in underlying commercial real estate projects, coupled
with expectations that there will be further increases in retail and office vacancies, have
led to concerns about the adequacy of debt service capacity and the ability of collateral to

maintain its value. In addition, because most banks tend to be short-term lenders, some

S NFIB National Small Business Poll — 4ccess to Credit, page 15.
7 Ibid, page 2.
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banks have scaled back their commercial real estate lending due to the lack of more
permanent financing for completed properties through the commercial mortgage-backed
securities markets.

Another factor that has played a critical role in the reduction of credit availability
is the absence of fully functioning and liquid securitization markets. While commercial
banks are a key component of credit intermediation, as Chart 4 illustrates the bulk of U.S.
credit market debt is held outside of the commercial banking system. In 2006, the non-
agency securitization markets financed $1.46 trillion in new credit originations. By 2007,
these levels had fallen to just under $1.1 trillion before contracting dramatically to $176
biltion in 2008.% Restoring these markets must continue to be an overarching objective of
our collective efforts to stabilize and revitalize our financial system. Banks do not and
will not have the capacity to fill this gap.

Chart 4
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® Non-agency securitizations include credit card, auto, student loan, collateralized debt obligations,
subprime residential mortgage-backed securities, equipment, commercial mortgage-backed securities,
other. Source: Deutsche Bank.
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Regulators and Examiners are Taking a Balanced Approach Consistent with Safe
and Sound Banking Practices

The mission of the OCC and our examination force is to ensure that the national
banking system remains safe and sound and fully able to support the needs of its
consumer and business customers. One of the most difficult jobs we have in carrying out
this mission is knowing when and how to modulate our actions — when and how hard to
tap on the brakes to rein in excessive risk taking without causing bankers to become so
conservative or uncertain about regulatory actions that they unduly restrict credit. We are
acutely aware that our actions — both on the policy side at the 50,000 foot level, and on
the ground, through our on-site examinations — can and do influence banks’ behavior and
their appetite for taking risk. We also recognize that in past downturns, many believed
that overzealous regulators and examiners exacerbated the contraction in credit.

One of the lessons we leamned from the early 1990s was the detrimental effect of
waiting too long to warn the industry about excesses building up in the system, resulting
in bankers and examiners slamming on the brakes too hard when the economy
experienced problems. We also learned that it is critical that our expectations for bankers
be clear and consistent; that the “rules of the game” under which banks operate not be
changed abruptly, and that changes in regulatory policies are made in an open and
transparent manner that provides bankers with reasonable timeframes to make necessary
adjustments.

Throughout this credit cycle, we have strived to take a balanced and measured
approach in our supervision, alerting banks as early as September 2003 when we started
to see signs of increasing risk embedded in their loan portfolios. These alerts were
followed by more specific and targeted supervisory guidance and on-site examinations.

To ensure that our expectations and guidelines were clear and transparent, we sought

10
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public and industry comment on the guidelines before they were issued and became
effective. We also conducted numerous outreach sessions with bankers and bank
directors to discuss our concerns and outline our expectations.

More specifically with respect to residential mortgage, home equity, and
commercial real estate loans, we started alerting bankers to our concerns as early as 2003
and 2004 in response to the results of various targeted horizontal examinations conducted
at a cross-section of banks. While these portfolios were generally still showing favorable
performance metrics, we were concerned with declining underwriting practices that were
becoming widespread in the industry. These practices included interest only and
payment option ARMs, which were often underwritten with limited documentation and
no income verification, within residential loan portfolios; extended maturities for
revolving home equity lines of credit with little or no amortization of loan balances and
acceptance of higher loan-to-value ratios; and increasing concentrations within the
commercial real estate portfolios at many community banks. As a result of these
findings, we worked closely with the other federal banking agencies to develop and issue
additional risk management guidelines for these products.’

Similar supervisory concerns led to the 2003 interagency guidance on Credit Card
Account Management and Loss Allowance Practices, which addressed a number of
inappropriate account management, risk management, and loss allowance practices
identified through our examinations. These practices, which often increased credit risk
and masked portfolio quality, included the general easing of minimum payment

requirements, increased negative amortization, liberal credit line management, and

? See: OCC Bulletin 2005-22, “Credit Risk Management for Home Equity Lending;” OCC Bulletin 2006-
41, “Interagency Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgage Product Risks;” OCC Bulletin 200646,
“Interagency Guidance on CRE Concentration Risk Management;” and OCC Bulletin 2007-26, “Statement
on Subprime Lending.” )

1
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excessive over-limit activity. Although we faced considerable criticism by some that our
guidance and actions could have negative repercussions on bank profitability, consumer
spending, and the broader economy, we thought it was critical that the continuing decline
in required minimum payments be curtailed. We also issued additional guidance to
national banks on credit card marketing and account management practices that could
involve unfair or deceptive acts or practices, or other violations of laws or regulations.

Our goal in issuing these guidelines has been to ensure that bankers recognize
potential problems at an carly stage so that they can take steps to mitigate risk, including
strengthening systems to identify loans or borrowers whose conditions have or are likely
to deteriorate; building and maintaining adequate loan loss reserves; obtaining current
appraisals when needed to reflect current market conditions; and working with borrowers
to restructure credit terms, if appropriate.

We reinforce our expectations through numerous outreach venues with bankers
and discussions with bank management teams through our ongoing supervisory efforts.
The Comptroller and I, along with other members of the OCC’s senior management
team, make frequent speeches and visits to a variety of industry groups to convey our
message and to listen to their concerns and issues. These sessions are supplemented by
our managers in the field who hold frequent meetings with bankers and bank directors,
and by web conferences for bankers led by OCC examiners and risk experts. We also
conduct a series of workshops tailored for community bank directors that discuss key risk
concepts and regulatory requirements, including a credit risk workshop designed to
improve directors’ ability to affect and influence credit risk in their banks. For banks
where we do not have a continuous on-site presence, examiners conduct quarterly calls

and onsite visits with bank management to discuss emerging trends and issues.
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Equally important to the outreach we conduct with bankers are the steps we take
with examiners, through training, guidance, and periodic nationwide conference calls, to
ensure that they understand and apply our policies in a consistent manner. We also have
various mechanisms in place to help ensure consistency in our examination findings and
any attendant supervisory actions. For example, each report of examination is reviewed
and signed off by the applicable deputy comptroller or assistant deputy comptroller
before it is finalized. Supervisory enforcement actions are reviewed by district and, for
certain cases, headquarter supervisory review committees. Our Large Bank and
Midsize/Community Bank lines of business have instituted quality assurance processes
that assess the effectiveness of our supervision and compliance with OCC policies and
procedures. These reviews are augmented by targeted reviews conducted by the OCC’s
Enterprise Governance unit.

Notwithstanding these efforts, there are going to be occasions where we may not
have made the right call, or where there are additional facts and circumstances that a
banker believes were not given full consideration. To address these situations, the OCC
was the first federal banking agency to establish an Office of the Ombudsman. The
independent Ombudsman’s office administers the OCC’s national bank appeals process
that bankers may use to appeal a pending supervisory action or decision. Perhaps more
important, the Ombudsman’s office provides bankers with an impartial ear to hear
complaints and a mechanism to facilitate the resolution of disputes with our supervisory
staff. The office also administers the OCC’s consumer complaint resolution process.

As we work through this stage of the credit cycle, our message to examiners
continues to be this: take a balanced approach; communicate concerns and expectations

clearly and consistently; and provide bankers reasonable time to document and correct

13
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credit risk management weaknesses. This does not mean that examiners are giving
bankers a “free pass” to ignore or obfuscate their credit problems. If a banker does not or
cannot identify and take appropriate action to manage the risks in the bank’s credit
portfolio, examiners will direct bank management to take corrective action. Our
expectations and standards for banks remain the same throughout the cycle. Specifically,
bankers should:

* Make loans to borrowers on prudent terms, based on sound analysis of financial
and collateral information, with a full assessment of the borrower’s ability to

repay;

* Have sufficient risk management systems and practices to be able to identify,
manage, and control risks;

» Continue to work with borrowers to restructure or modify loans so that
foreclosure or repossession of collateral is avoided wherever possible;

= Set aside sufficient reserves and capital to buffer and absorb actual and potential
losses; and

= Accurately reflect the condition of their loan portfolios in their financial
statements.

At some institutions where bank management has not sufficiently identified or
addressed their loan problems, our reviews may result in a bank needing to make
additional loan loss provisions; to charge off loans that are deemed loss; or to place loans
on nonaccrual where full collection of principal and interest is in doubt. Similarly, some
banks may be directed to strengthen their credit underwriting or risk identification and
management practices. These efforts may prompt bank management to obtain new
appraisals, rework loan terms or covenants, or reduce concentrations to certain borrower
or industry segments. While these actions may be prompted by an examiner’s directive
to improve risk management, let me underscore what examiners will not do. Examiners

will not tell bankers to call or renegotiate a loan; dictate loan structures or pricing; or

14
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prescribe limits (beyond regulatory limits) on types or amounts of loans that a bank may

make if the bank has adequate capital and systems to support and manage its risks. These

are and must be decisions by bank management. It is also important to note that an

examiner’s directive to classify a loan does not preclude bankers from working with

those borrowers to restructure or modify the loan. As stated above, the OCC expects and

encourages bankers to continue to work constructively with customers who may be

facing difficulties in meeting their loan obligations.

Simitarly, I would like to clarify four other misperceptions that we hear from bankers

and others about examiners’ actions.

Examiners are directing banks to classify loans to borrowers who are current and
can meet their debt obligation — what has sometimes been referred to as
“performing non-performing” loans. The OCC will not direct banks to classify
borrowers who have the demonstrated ability to service their debts under
reasonable payment schedules. There are instances, however, where liberal
underwriting structures can mask credit weaknesses and obscure the fact that
perceived performance by the borrower is really illusory. This can be the case
where the initial term of the loan allows a borrower to delay any meaningful
principal amortization or uses an introductory low interest rate that will increase
over the life of the loan. Or, a more common example in today’s environment,
bank-funded interest reserves on commercial real estate projects. For these types
of loans, the initial contractual payment performance does not reflect the ultimate
payment terms that a borrower must meet, and may mask deterioration in the
borrower’s underlying condition and hence, their ability to continue to perform

over the life of the loan. In these cases, examiners will not just accept that the
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loan is good quality because it is current. Examiners will also evaluate the
borrower’s ability to make future payments required by the terms of the loan, or,
in the case of certain types of commercial real estate projects, the viability of the
underlying project. This forward-looking analysis may sometimes result in
classifying a loan that is still current. This is appropriate because, while the
borrower may be “current” under their existing liberal contractual obligation,
there are demonstrable weaknesses that raise obvious doubts about the borrower’s
ultimate ability to repay the loan.
Examiners are criticizing loans or borrowers simply because the current market
value of their collateral has declined. The OCC does not classify borrowers
solely as a result of a decline in collateral value. An evaluation of a credit is
based principally on cash flows, whether derived from operations or conversion of
assets, not collateral. The collateral value, while often directly tied to the ability
to generate cash, is not a sufficient reason by itself for an examiner to classify a
loan. For many commercial real estate projects, however, the value of the
collateral and the repayment of the loan are both dependent on the cash flows that
the underlying project is expected to generate. Because of this linkage in these
types of loans, current collateral values can be an important indicator of the
project’s viability and can signal adverse changes, such as the loss of major
tenants that will adversely affect the cash flow that will ultimately be available to
service or repay the loan.
Examiners are telling bankers to stop making commercial real estate loans. The
OCC does not direct what types of loans a bank can make. We do, however,

expect banks to appropriately recognize and manage their risks, including the
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risks that can be posed from significant loan concentrations with a borrower,
market or industry segment. There are some banks that may need to strategically
redirect resources from a particular type of lending. This can be due to a number
of factors, including past decisions by management to become too concentrated in
a particular product or poor underwriting and risk selection decisions that have led
to an excess level of problem loans within a particular product line. In these
instances, we expect bank management to take prudent steps to manage their risk
appropriately, and in fact, they may need to reduce their concentration levels for
various products.
If bankers raise issues with an examiner or examination finding, examiners wifl
retaliate. While this is not a common allegation, it is one so serious that I want to
take this opportunity to address it with the Committee. Simply put, this type of
behavior is not tolerated at the OCC. Any banker who believes this is an issue
should contact me or the OCC’s Ombudsman directly to discuss the specific
circumstances underlying their concerns.

Conclusion

We are clearly dealing with an unprecedented financial and credit environment

that will require the resources and cooperative efforts of both the public and private

sectors to resolve. While I believe we are taking positive steps to address these problems,

1 also fully expect that we will see further deterioration in some banks’ loan portfolios in

the months ahead as the effects of the economic downturn work through these portfolios.

Nonetheless, it is critically important that we not lose sight of several important facts:

The vast majority of national banks are strong and have the capacity to weather
this financial storm;
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= The vast majority of borrowers — both consumers and businesses — are performing
and meeting their loan obligations; and

= National banks are continuing to meet the legitimate credit needs of their
communities.

The OCC is committed to work constructively with bankers as they work through
these problems. We will continue to encourage bankers to extend loans to creditworthy
borrowers and stress that we expect them to work with borrowers who are facing
financial difficulties. And we will continue to ensure that our supervision remains fair

and balanced.
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Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus, Members of the Committee, my
name is Michael Menzies, and | am the President and CEOQ of Easton Bank and
Trust Company, Easton, MD, and the Chairman of the independent Community
Bankers of America’. Easton Bank is a state-chartered community bank with
$150 million in assets. | am pleased to represent community bankers and ICBA's
5,000 members at this important hearing on “Exploring the Balance between
Increased Credit Availability and Prudent Lending Standards.”

Mr. Chairman, this nation is going through its worst economic crisis in 75 years.
The vast majority of our nation’s community bankers are well-capitalized, well-
managed common sense lenders. Community banks are ready and willing to
help in the economic recovery by lending to small businesses and consumers in
their communities. However, the current bank regulatory climate is causing
many community banks to unnecessarily restrict their lending activities. Left
unaddressed, certain field examination practices, the proposed FDIC special
assessment and mark-to-market accounting rules will prevent community banks
from realizing their full potential as participants in the rebuilding of our economy

The following is a summary of concerns of our members with the current
regulatory environment.

¢ On November 12, 2008, the federal banking agencies issued a statement
that they “expect all banking organizations to fulfill their fundamental role
in the economy as intermediaries of credit to businesses, consumers, and
other creditworthy borrowers.”

+ ICBA commends the banking agencies for issuing the Interagency
Statement.

* However, actions of bank field examiners are often unnecessarily putting
constraints on community bank lending.

» Community bankers are saying that the field examiners are overzealous
and unduly overreaching and are, in some cases, second guessing
bankers and professional independent appraisers and demanding overly

! The Independent Cornmunity Bankers of America represents nearly 5,000 community banks of all sizes and
charter types throughout the United States and is dedicated exclusively to representing the interests of the
community banking industry and the communities and customers we serve. ICBA aggregates the power of its
mermbers to provide a voice for communily banking interests in Washington, resources to enthance community
bank education and marketability, and profitabilily options to help community banks compete in an ever-changing
marketplace.

With nearly 5,000 members, representing more than 18,000 locations nationwide and employing over
268,000 Americans, ICBA members hold more than $1 trillion in assets, $800 billion in deposits, and more
than $700 billion in foans to consumers, small businesses and the agricultural community. For more
information, visit ICBA's website at www.icba.org.
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aggressive write-downs and reclassifications of viable commercial real
estate loans and other assets.

+ Bankers also report that examiners are being tougher on banks that have
taken, in the view of the examiners, significant amounts of Federal Home
Loan Bank advances. Many community banks rely on the Federal Home
Loan Bank System to provide liquidity, for asset-liability management
purposes and for longer-term funding not available to them through
deposits.

+ These practices undermine the fundamental goal of the Interagency
Statement. In this climate, community bankers may avoid making good
loans for fear of examiner criticism, write-downs, and the resulting loss of
income and capital.

+ |CBA appreciates recent overtures from banking regulators to foster
communications between the banks and regulators on the examination
environment, and steps taken by regulators to educate their field staffs on
the consequences of overly restrictive examination practices on credit
availability.

* The one-time 20 basis point special assessment announced by the FDIC
in February will severely reduce earnings for community banks in 2009,
dramatically reducing funds available for lending to creditworthy
borrowers.

+ Current mark-to-market accounting rules have a highly negative impact in
trying to get credit flowing. We appreciate the Committee’s efforts to
address the consequences of mark-to-market accounting.

ICBA has six recommendations, listed at the end of the statement, that would
improve the current regulatory environment for community bank lending.

interagency Statement Encourages Cooperation

The November 12, 2008, Interagency Statement on Meeting the Needs of
Creditworthy Borrowers established a national policy for banks to extend credit to
creditworthy borrowers as a means to help our nation get back on its economic
feet. It stated that, “The agencies expect all banking organizations to fulfill their
fundamental role in the economy as intermediaries of credit to businesses,
consumers, and other creditworthy borrowers.”

The statement also stressed the importance of banks and regulators working
together to ensure that these needs are met: “At this critical time, it is imperative
that all banking organizations and their regulators work together to ensure that
the needs of creditworthy borrowers are met.”

:Interagency Statement on Meeting the Needs of Creditworthy Borrowers, November 12, 2008
Ibid.
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Community Banks Ready to Lend

Let me assure this committee that our nation’s community banks are ready,
willing and able to meet the credit needs of our communities and to help in the
nation’s economic recovery. Even in today's economic climate, the vast majority
of community banks remain well-capitalized, because they are common sense
lenders that did not engage in the risky practices that led to the current economic
crisis. Most community banks stuck to the longstanding fundamentals of
responsible banking, and are more risk-averse than big Wall Street or regional
banks. In spite of the trouble on Wall Street, community banks remain committed
to taking deposits and making loans on Main Street, and are anxious to do our
part to aid the economic recovery.

Indeed, ICBA commended the banking agencies last fall for issuing the
Interagency Statement. We believe it is important for banks and their regulators
to work together to ensure that the needs of creditworthy borrowers are met.
Given the fact that most community banks are well capitalized and have
appropriate dividend, compensation, and loss mitigation policies, we believed —
and still do -- that the community banking industry is well prepared to comply with
the new guidelines.

However, for the Interagency Statement to have its intended effect regarding
lending, the banking agencies must address the current examination
environment. Mr. Chairman, we are hearing from community bankers all across
the nation that this level of cooperation, at least at the field examiner level, is not
being achieved. In fact, we are hearing the opposite. In a recent (if unscientific)
survey conducted by ICBA, 61 percent of respondents said that their most recent
safety and soundness exam was “significantly tougher” than their last exam.*
Several bankers commented that they were being treated like they had a portiolio
full of sub-prime mortgages, even though they had no sub-prime loans on their
books.

Field Examiners Criticize Good Loans

Community bankers are saying that the field examiners are overzealous and
unduly overreaching and are, in some cases, second guessing bankers and
professional independent appraisers and demanding overly aggressive write-
downs and reclassifications of viable commercial real estate loans and other
assets.

While the banking regulators in Washington have been very willing fo discuss
their safety and soundness examination policies with us and have reassured us

* ICBA “Quick Poll,” July 7, 2008
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that they are taking measures to ensure their examiners are being reasonable,
we continue to hear from our members that their examinations are unreasonably
tough.

For example, one banker told us he was forced to write down a real estate loan
based solely on absorption rates {lots sold) and not on the current market
condition or the ability of the borrower to repay the loan. This had an impact of
$100,000 on that bank’s earnings.

Other bankers are complaining that otherwise solid loans are being downgraded
simply because they are located in a state with a high morigage foreclosure rate.
This form of stereotyping is tantamount to statewide redlining that is unjustified in
today’s world and could ultimately lead to capital problems at otherwise healthy
banks.

Other reports from community bankers cited examiners requiring write-downs or
classification of performing loans due to the value of collateral irrespective of the
income or cash flow of the borrowers; placing loans on non-accrual even though
the borrower is current on payments; discounting entirely the value of guarantors;
criticizing long-standing practices and processes that have not been criticized
before; and substituting their judgment for that of the appraiser.

In some cases, banks are suddenly finding themselves classified as "adequately
capitalized” rather than “well-capitalized” because of these tough examinations.
When a bank becomes “adequately capitalized,” it must seek a waiver from the
FDIC before it can continue to accept brokered deposits. Yet, the FDIC is being
very tough on granting brokered deposit waivers causing further liquidity
problems for banks.

Examiners Tougher on FHLB Borrowers

Bankers also report that examiners are being tougher on banks that have taken,
in the view of the examiners, significant amounts of Federal Home Loan Bank
advances. Many community banks rely on the Federal Home Loan Bank System
to provide liquidity, for asset-liability management purposes and for longer-term,
cost-effective funding not available to them through deposits. This is a solid,
reliable source of funding for community banks that own and hold capital in the
Federal Home Loan Banks. Bankers report that some examiners do not believe
that available lines of credit at Federal Home Loan Banks provide real liquidity.
Community banks generally have ample acceptable collateral to pledge against
their FHLB advances, and therefore, ready access to FHLB advances.

These practices not only undermine the fundamental goal of the Interagency
Statement, they are costing community banks money, leading to a contraction of
credit, and forcing many of them to rethink their credit policies. Under this
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climate, community bankers may avoid making good loans for fear of examiner
criticism, write-downs, and the resulting loss of income and capital.

Examination Practices Hurt Bottom Line, Impair Banks’ Ability to Lend

While we expect examiners to be more thorough and careful with their
examinations during an economic downturn, based on what we have heard from
our members, we believe that in many cases examiners have gone too far.
Unfortunately, excessively tough exams that result in potentially unnecessary
loss of earnings and capital can have a dramatic and adverse impact on the
ability of community banks to lend, impairing their ability to support economic
growth. Since community banks are the prime engine behind small business
lending, any contraction of lending would further exacerbate the current
economic downturn and impede attempts by policymakers to keep loans flowing
to creditworthy borrowers to help foster an economic recovery.

Community Banks Appreciate New Overtures by Banking Regulators

The FDIC recently hosted a roundtable between banks and federal regulators to
discuss the lending and examination environment. ICBA was pleased to
participate in the roundtable with several of our member banks. The discussions
provided community banks an opportunity to explain to agency officials in
Washington what the bankers are experiencing during examinations and other
contacts with agency field staff. The roundtable was an important step in
fostering better communication on these issues.

ICBA also appreciates comments by FDIC Chairman Bair and Federal Reserve
Chairman Bernanke at our convention last week. Chairman Bair explained the
FDIC has made clear that examiners should not classify performing loans solely
because the value of any underlying collateral has declined, particularly when
other indicators are healthy. Chairman Bernanke remarked the Federal Reserve
System is conducting examiner training and outreach to remind examiners to be
mindful of the procyclical effects of excessive credit tightening.

Special Assessment Will Dampen Ability to Lend
Special Assessment

The one-time 20 basis point special assessment announced by the FDIC in
February to replenish the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF) also will make it more
difficult for community bankers to fulfill the mandate in the Interagency
Statement. This assessment, which could be the first in a series, will seriously
cut into the earnings of community banks. ICBA asked its members to estimate
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the impact of the special assessment on their earnings. According to the survey,
32% of community banks answering estimated the special assessment will
consume 16-25% of their 2009 earnings; 17% of the respondents estimate it will
consume 26-40% of earnings.

Reduced earnings could push some community banks into a higher risk
category, which could require them to increase capital and loan loss reserves.
This would have a dampening effect on their ability to meet the credit needs of
their communities. The FDIC has already indicated that the special assessment
will cause 12 to 17 institutions to become undercapitalized.

One banker reported that he had planned to increase his auto lending business
because other auto lenders in his community were no longer able to meet the
demand. But after calculating the cost of the special assessment on his bank, he
made the decision that he could no longer afford to expand his auto lending
operation. This not only will affect his bank, but will adversely affect consumers,
auto dealers, and other businesses in his community.

Community banks are being unfairly penalized with this assessment. We did not
participate in the risky practices engaged in by large Wall Street institutions that
led to the economic crisis, yet we are being penalized by having to pay this
onerous special assessment.

ICBA urges the FDIC to seek alternatives to the special assessment, such as
borrowing from Treasury or the industry, or issuing bonds, to temporarily fund the
DIF, with the industry repaying the amount borrowed, with interest. The DIF will
still be industry-funded if the FDIC uses its borrowing authority, but the industry
would be able to spread the cost of funding the DIF over time. In addition, the
FDIC should seek to shift the cost of replenishing the DIF to those institutions
responsible for the economic crisis and away from community banks.

ICBA supports FDIC borrowing authority amendments found in H.R. 11086,
adopted by the House on March 5, 2009, and S. 541, which was introduced in
the Senate on the same day. Both bills bill would increase the FDIC's standby
line of credit with the Treasury from $30 billion to $100 billion. In addition, S. 541
would aiso temporarily allow the FDIC to borrow up to $500 billion with the
concurrence of the Federal Reserve and the Secretary of the Treasury, in
consultation with the President. According to FDIC Chairman Bair, the increased
borrowing authority up to $500 billion would allow the FDIC to reduce this special
assessment to as much as one-half of the proposed rate.

ICBA appreciates Chairman Bair's commitment to a reduction in the special
assessment, if the FDIC is granted borrowing authority up to $500 billion. We
appreciate the House’s efforts to increase in FDIC borrowing authority, and urge
Congress to act quickly to raise the borrowing authority to $500 billion. We also
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appreciate the FDIC’s decision to devote some fees received in connection with
its Temporary Liguidity Guarantee Program to shoring up the DIF now, rather
than waiting to transfer that portion of the TLGP fees to the DIF at the end of the
TLGP. However, we still believe it is in the best interest of our communities, if
the FDIC were to find an alternative to the special assessment in order to keep
as much capital in the community banking system for lending.

Assessment Base

ICBA also urges the FDIC to use an asset-oriented assessment base for all
deposit insurance assessments, including any special assessment. The change
would result in a fairer assessment system than the current one, which assesses
all domestic deposits. Bad assets, not deposits, cause bank failures, and alt
forms of liabilities, not just domestic deposits, fund a bank’s assets. The amount
of assets that a bank holds is a more accurate gauge of an institution’s risk to the
FDIC than the amount of a bank’s domestic deposits

Under the current system that assesses domestic deposits, community banks
pay approximately 30% of FDIC premiums, although they hold about 20% of
bank assets. And while community banks fund themselves 85-95 percent with
domestic deposits, for banks with more than $10 billion in assets the figure is 52
percent. Thus, while community banks pay assessments on nearly their entire
balance sheets, large banks pay on only half.

ICBA believes it would be fairer if the FDIC were to use assets minus tangible
equity (to encourage higher levels of tangible equity) as the assessment base
instead of domestic deposits. Changing the assessment base does not change
the amount of revenue the FDIC will receive. It only changes how the premium
assessments are distributed among FDIC institutions. Under the asset-oriented
assessment base, community banks would bear their proportionate share, or
about 20% of deposit insurance premiums rather than the current 30%.

Disparate Treatment in Enforcement Actions

| also would like to call to the committee’s attention the apparent disparate
treatment between smail banks and too-big-to-fail banks in the area of
enforcement actions. Community banks did not engage in the high-risk activities
that led to the problems in the mortgage marketplace and the current financial
downturn. And community banks are generally well-managed and weli-
capitalized institutions that practice the fundamentals of responsible banking.
Nonetheless, most enforcement actions seem to be aimed at community banks
and not the money center and regional banks that caused most of the problems.
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It is unfair to continue to ask community bankers to play by the rules, while the
too-big-to-fail banks continue to ignore the rules with impunity and no apparent
consequence. They were the first in line, and the first to receive, TARP
assistance, while community banks are still trying to gain access for all types of
community bank charters. But | have yet to hear of an enforcement action
against a too-big-to-fail bank, while such actions are commonplace in the
community banking industry. This is difficult for many community bankers to
understand.

“Mark-to-Market” Rules Are Exacerbating Downturn and Constraining
Lending

impact of Mark-to-Market Accounting

Current mark-to-market accounting rules hinder transparency and distort the true
condition of financial institutions holding mortgage-backed securities (in particular
private label mortgage-backed securities), asset-backed securities (including
consumer loan-backed and student loan-backed securities) and other debt
securities. This, in turn, has a highly negative impact in trying to get credit
flowing in these important sectors of the capital markets. We appreciate the
efforts of Chairman Frank, Chairman Kanjorski and members of the Committee
to help resolve the mark-to-market issues. The hearing on March 12" by the
Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance, and Government Sponsored
Enterprises was a very important step in the resolution of these issues.

At the hearing, ICBA’s witness, the President of Brentwood Bank in Pennsylvania
provided a real life example of the consequences of the current rule. In the case
of Brentwood, the bank had to take approximately $2 million in capital charges as
a result of current mark-to-market rules. He explained the $2 million in charges
represent lost opportunity cost to finance an additional $20 million in loans based
on a 10% equity requirement. The loss has also made the bank a bit more
conservative as it looks at new lending opportunities.

Moreover, the current rules have made borrowing from several Federal Home
Loan Banks more expensive. Because of artificial write downs in their mortgage
backed securities portfolios, these FHLBs have had to suspend dividends and, in
some cases, stock redemptions. These actions increase the all-in cost of FHLB
advances for community banks. Community banks rely on FHLB advances as a
reliable source of funding, in addition to deposits. An increased cost for FHLB
advances further constrains community bank earnings and lending.

ICBA’s Proposed Solution

The application of mark-to-market in frozen markets is the heart of the problem.
When these rules were developed, the current unprecedented situation could not
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have been imagined. [CBA proposes an alternative that addresses other than
temporary impairment (OTTI).

Congress should ask the SEC and FASB to apply existing accounting rules that
apply to loans held in portfolio to asset- backed securities and other debt
securities for which the institution has the intent and ability to hold. The
determination of whether OTTI exists as well as the magnitude of loss recorded
should be based on a rigorous credit analysis appropriate to the characteristics of
the securities, taking into account the nature of any credit enhancements. Any
OTTI should reflect the true economic loss (i.e., probable credit losses). If
economic losses change, such changes would be recognized immediately
through earnings. To accommodate the existing GAAP fair value framewark and
provide transparency as to the recorded amounts, the OTT! loss on held-to-
maturity (HTM) debt securities should be separated and reported in two
components: (1} through earnings for probable credit losses and (2) through the
footnotes to financial statements to disclose the fair (market) value of the
securities.

This proposed solution would also work for Available-For-Sale securities that the
institution intends to hold until recovery. The OTT1 loss should be (1) recognized
through earnings for probable credit losses and (2) all other portions of the loss
(such as from liquidity discounts) will remain in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity until the security is sold or
matures.

New FASB Proposal

At the March 12" hearing, Chairman Kanjorski secured a commitment from the
Chairman of FASB to issue additional guidance on these issues by April 2™ We
commend the Chairman and committee members for pressuring FASB to act
quickly to address mark-to-market problems so institutions do not face further
inapproptiate write downs at the end of the first quarter. On March 17", FASB
released two proposed staff positions (FSP) on fair value measurements and
OTTI. The proposal does incorporate our recommendation that credit losses be
recognized through earnings, while market-related loses are recorded in other
comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity until the security is sold or
matures. . We believe the two proposals are an important step in addressing
mark-to-market accounting problems. We are carefully reviewing the proposals
and will likely offer suggestions for further clarifications. We and others in the
financial services industry will be providing comments to FASB before its final
action, now scheduled for April 2, 2009.

We appreciate the Committee’s commitment to recall the FASB, SEC and OCC
to a hearing, after the Passover-Easter recess, to examine the effectiveness of
the proposed changes. We believe that it might be appropriate for the committee
to ask the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) to also testify
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at this hearing in order to determine how that agency will guide auditors on these
issues in light of the new FASB proposal to ensure consistent application of
these accounting guidance changes.

Recommendations for Change

Community banks are ready to meet the objectives stated in the Interagency
Statement of lending to creditworthy households and businesses, but they cannot
meet those objectives without a change in the current regulatory environment.

ICBA has six recommendations that would improve the current regulatory
environment for community bank lending.

1. The agencies should adopt a more flexible and reasonable
examination policy, particularly with regard to real estate lending, and
provide more transparency in the criteria that the examiners use to
evaluate loans in the examination process. There should be more
dialogue between bankers and bank examiners to reduce the
intimidation factor many bankers may feel.

2. The agencies should insist that examination criteria be applied
consistently across the country so as not to discriminate against banks
based solely on their geographic location.

3. The appeals process should be strengthened to make it easier for
bankers to appeal without fear of examiner retaliation. In addition, the
ombudsman determinations should be strengthened and the office
made more independent, again to reduce the possibility of retaliation.

4. With respect to commercial real estate loans, examiners should take a
longer term view of real estate held by banks as collateral and should
not demand aggressive write-downs and reclassifications of loans
based on forced sales of real estate that occur during illiquid or
dysfunctional markets. The FDIC should be more flexible with regard
to granting broker deposit waivers for banks that have unexpectedly
been classified as “adequately capitalized.”

5. During this economic crisis, some consideration should be given fo the
basket approach, under which a bank would be permitted to hold a
“small basket” of character loans from borrowers who have a strong
record of meeting contractual obligations with the bank and where
there are other indicators of likely repayment of the loan. Loans in the
basket would be exempt from strict underwriting standards and could
not be criticized by examiners so long as the loans are performing.

10
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The amount of loans that could be held in such a basket could be a
percentage of total capital.

6. Congress should ask the SEC and FASB to apply existing accounting
rules that apply to loans held in portfolio to asset-backed securities and
other debt securities for which the institution has the intent and ability
to hold. To accommodate the existing GAAP fair value framework and
provide transparency as to the recorded amounts, the OT Tl loss on
held-to-maturity (HTM) debt securities should be separated and
reported in two components: (1) through earnings for probable credit
losses and (2) through the footnotes to financial statements to disclose
the fair value of the securities. This proposed solution would also work
for Available-For-Sale securities that the institution intends to hold until
recovery.

Thank you for this opportunity to testify. | would be happy to answer any
questions the commitiee may have.

11
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LIntroduction

Good morning Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus and Members of the
Committee. Thank you for the opportunity to testify on behalf of the Office of Thrift
Supervision (OTS) on finding the right balance between ensuring the safety and
soundness of U.S. financial institutions and ensuring that adequate credit is available to
creditworthy American consumers and businesses.

Available credit and prudent lending are both critical to our nation and its
economic well-being. Neither one can be sacrificed at the expense of the other, so
striking the proper balance is key.

Access to credit is essential to spur economic recovery. Banks and thrifts should
never have to turn away a good customer. Yet, as you well know, the trust that is vital to
our financial system has been shaken by fear and questions about whether money that is
loaned will be repaid. If trust is the lubricant for a well-running financial system, a Jack
of trust is a gum that prevents the system from operating smoothly.

In a smoothly running system, financial institutions offer an array of loan
products, so creditworthy borrowers are able to obtain loans at reasonable rates.

As we assess whether current economic conditions are causing mixed messages to
be sent to banks and thrifts, it is important to note that the OTS and the other banking
regulators are also receiving mixed signals. When financial institutions fail, regulators
are subject to criticism for not having cracked down hard enough and early enough. Yet,
regulators are also urged not to tighten the screws too tightly— lest financial institutions
become too cautious, hoard their resources and become unreasonably hesitant to lend.

In exploring ways for making the system run smoothly again, I'd like to begin by
citing reports that define the scope of the problem, then discuss important facets of the
problem before discussing possible solutions. On the subject of solutions, one obvious
point is that the ultimate solution is for this nation to find its way past its current
economic downturn. Until that happens, credit will remain tight and our financial
institutions will continue to face daunting challenges with loan delinquencies, charge-offs
and other credit quality issues that threaten their viability.

S92
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1L Recent Data on Credit Demand and Availability

The OTS uses a variety of measures to gauge credit availability and lending
activity. Our examiners and regional staff members routinely talk to thrift institution
managers about what they are experiencing in their market areas with regard to credit
demand and credit availability. These issues are discussed by supervision staff members
within each OTS region, between regions and in regular meetings between our four
Regional Directors and senior agency leaders at our headquarters in Washington.

We also assess the availability of credit by reviewing the detailed financial reports
— called Thrift Financial Reports or TFRs — that thrift institutions file quarterly with the
OTS. TFRs contain data on originations, purchases and sales for major loan types. From
this data, we can detect changes in lending volumes and compare those changes to peer
groups. We also compare the lending volumes to outside indicators of credit availability
and demand.

For OTS-regulated thrifts, total loan originations and purchases declined about 11
percent from 2007 to 2008. However, several categories of loans -— such as consumer
and commercial business loans, and nonresidential and multifamily mortgages —
increased during the period.

Other recent studies confirm that credit is tight, but not getting increasingly
tighter, and that demand for residential mortgages has decreased.

According to a mortgage loan application survey last month (February 20, 2009)
by the Mortgage Bankers’ Association of America, mortgage purchase applications have
declined 30 percent from one year ago. Given the rise in unemployment and general
economic conditions, that finding is not surprising.

The Federal Reserve Board (Fed) has issued two releases recently on the
availability of credit. In January, the Fed’s quarterly opinion survey of senior loan
officers on bank lending practices showed that credit continued to remain tight during the
final three months of 2008.

However, the survey said credit was not getting any tighter: a smaller percentage
of institutions toughened their lending standards for consumers and commercial
customers during the fourth quarter of 2008 than during the previous quarter. About 45
percent of the survey respondents reported weaker demand for consumer loans of all
types, similar to the percentage in the previous quarter.

A second report from the Fed, a statistical release on consumer credit dated
February 6, 2009, said consumer credit decreased at an annual rate of 3 percent in the
fourth quarter of 2008.
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III.  Facets of the Problem
a. The Swinging Pendulum

1t is clear today that during the recent housing boom, credit was extended to too
many borrowers who lacked the ability to repay their loans. For home mortgages, some
consurmers received loans based on their ability to pay introductory teaser rates, an
unfounded expectation that home prices would continue to skyrocket, inflated income
figures, or other underwriting practices that were not as prudent as they should have been.
Many of these mortgages might have worked out fine if housing prices had continued
moving upward, but as we know, home prices in many parts of the country have
dramatically fallen and the consequences of weak underwriting have caused significant
distress for many financial institutions, homeowners and businesses.

Given this recent history, some tightening in credit is expected and needed.
Borrowers must have adequate capacity to repay the loans they receive. An absence of
sound underwriting can have a severe, negative impact on financial institutions,
consumers and the economy.

At the same time, we must ensure that the pendulum does not swing too far in the
other direction and restrict credit availability to an unhealthy level.

b. Economic Contraction, Capital and Loan Loss Reserves

The fallout from current economic deterioration has had an impact on credit
availability in a variety of ways. For example, the number of nonbank businesses
offering credit has declined as many of these highly leveraged, under-regulated
companies that engaged in consumer and business lending — often with loose
underwriting standards — have gone out of business.

The economic contraction has also prompted some financial institutions to exit
entire lines of business. In one prominent example, a large bank announced earlier this
month that it will no longer write new consumer loans in the U.S. and will shut down its
U.S. lending unit over the next five years due to the collapse of the subprime mortgage
market. In October, another bank discontinued accepting mortgages originated by
outside mortgage brokers.

To meet the challenges facing them, U.S. financial institutions are building capital
and setting aside additional reserves as buffers against the effects of future losses.
Decreases in asset quality, and increases in delinquencies and charge-offs for mortgages,
credit cards and other types of lending, require institutions to supplement loan loss
reserves and augment capital to preserve safety-and-soundness. Although these needs
may place a strain on institutions’ ability to lend, strengthening capital and reserves
provides a critical foundation for maintaining institutions’ stability and continued health.
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Also, the freeze-up of the market for non-government-sponsored-enterprise
mortgages has forced financial institutions to hold more loans on their books. To carry
these loans, the institutions need to maintain higher capital levels.

Although the Treasury Department’s Troubled Asset Relief Program, or TARP, is
making capital available to institutions, access to capital from other sources remains
constrained.

Regarding capital standards, I would like to dispel some inaccuracies receiving
recent attention. The first is the notion that federal bank and thrift examiners are raising
capital requirements for the financial institutions they regulate. This incorrect assertion
has been circulated perhaps because the financial services industry generally is facing
significant challenges and, at the OTS, this stress has resulted in a marked increase in
formal enforcement orders related to safety-and-soundness. Under such actions, which
include cease-and-desist orders, institutions are often required to maintain capital levels
above the well-capitalized standard. Although these types of cases are increasing, they
remain relatively few in number and the requirements are necessary to provide a counter-
balance to the elevated risks confronting these institutions.

A second inaccuracy in public circulation is the assertion that federal banking
regulators are raising capital standards for financial institutions that receive TARP funds.
That is not the case. Funds under TARP are provided to viable banks and thrifts. By
definition, these institutions are considered healthy before receiving TARP support. In
some cases, the OTS is requiring institutions to raise private capital before receiving
TARP support. The additional private capital is necessary for these institutions to be
considered healthy before receiving that support.

¢. Consumer Confidence and Complaints

Because the economic crisis has driven consumer confidence lower, many
consumers are reluctant to borrow for homes, cars, or any other major purchases. In large
part, they are hesitant to spend money on anything beyond daily necessities.

Rising job losses are making some would-be borrowers unable to qualify for
loans. Steep declines in the stock market have reduced many consumers’ ability to make
down payments for home loans and drained consumers’ financial strength. Sliding home
prices are cutting into home equity. In reaction to their declining financial “net worth,”
many consumers are trying to shore up their finances by spending less and saving more.

One key question is whether the recession will prompt consumers to make
lifestyle changes that will continue to have an impact for many years after recovery.
Financial shocks can produce psychological changes that endure. The economic
downturn may shape consumer spending habits for the long term.
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For consumers who continue to seek credit, tight conditions prevail. OTS
consumer complaint data show that consumers seeking extensions of credit from OTS-
regulated thrifts are in some cases experiencing problems and those reported problems
have grown significantly in recent years.

According to OTS data from 2006 to 2008, consumer complaints to the agency
about declines in available credit increased by more than 50 percent from 2006 to 2007
(from 43 complaints to 66 complaints), and by more than 350 percent from 2007 to 2008
(to 301 complaints). By far the largest number of such complaints centered on credit
cards (267 complaints over the three-year period), followed by home equity lines of
credit (101 complaints) and fixed-rate mortgages (25 complaints).

The OTS responds to all consurmer complaints and strives to resolve each one in
an equitable manner. The agency also uses consumer complaint data in important ways
during the supervisory process. Before every comprehensive examination of an OTS-
regulated thrift, the exam team reviews complaint data for the institution to find out
where to look further during the exam. The OTS also analyzes complaint data to spot
trends for problems at individual institutions, as well as trends within the thrift industry.
Patterns in consumer complaints can lead to OTS guidance to the industry, enforcement
actions and agency regulations, such as the recent interagency rule on unfair credit card
practices.

d. Appraisals and Loan Modifications

One question that the Committee asked is whether the federal banking regulators
are requiring appraisals for loan modifications and, if so, whether such a requirement is
hampering the ability of distressed borrowers to obtain modifications.

In fact, loan modifications by savings associations to avoid foreclosure are not
considered “new transactions” under OTS's appraisal regulation and related guidance.
Therefore, thrifts are not required to obtain appraisals for such modifications. An
institution may elect to use other methods to estimate the value of the security property.

When working constructively with a borrower who is in default or whose default
is reasonably foreseeable, a federal savings association is expected to perform a realistic
assessment of the value of the security property. The institution will weigh the cost and
time to modify a mortgage against the need to facilitate a sound and streamlined
modification process. Consistent with sound policies and procedures, savings
associations must be able to demonstrate that the collateral valuation methods used in
loan modifications are appropriate and reliable.

e. Reductions in Home Equity Lines of Credit
A home equity line of credit is a form of revolving credit in which the borrower’s

home serves as collateral. As home prices have declined in communities across the
country and financial institutions are feeling pressure to shrink their balance sheets,
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institutions have been curtailing, suspending, or terminating customers’ home equity lines
of credit, and consumer complaints to the OTS about these actions have been increasing.

The OTS received no consumer complaints about home equity lines in 2006 and
only two such complaints in 2007, according to the agency’s consumer complaint
database. In 2008, the number of such complaints spiked to 99.

Last August, the OTS issued guidance to its regulated institutions emphasizing
that such actions must comply with federal laws and rules designed to protect customers,
including regulations implementing the Truth in Lending Act, Equal Credit Opportunity
Act, Fair Housing Act and the OTS nondiscrimination rule.

The OTS also issued a “CEO letter” to OTS-regulated thrifts on ensuring
consumer protection when institutions cut back on home equity lines of credit, or
HELOCs.

“To actively manage the credit risk within their HELOC portfolios, savings
associations often structure HELOC plans so that the available credit limit may be
reduced, suspended, or terminated,” said the letter by Timothy T. Ward, OTS Deputy
Director for Examinations, Supervision and Consumer Protection. “In carrying out these
actions to manage credit risk, associations must follow the federal laws and rules
designed to protect HELOC customers.”

Specifically, such a credit line can be cut back based on a valuation of the
borrower’s particular home, not more general home prices in the zip code or surrounding
community. The reduction can be based on a home value determined by an automated
valuation model, but the model must be properly calibrated for accuracy and the data fed
into it must be valid; for example, the comparable properties selected for comparison
purposes must be truly comparable. When the home value goes back up, the home equity
line must be restored.

Consumer complaints to the OTS center on issues such as whether the home value
determined by the valuation model is accurate and whether comparable properties chosen
for the valuation are really comparable.

OTS examiners are following up on this guidance by checking whether OTS-
regulated thrifts that cut back on these lines of credit are following the rules. When
examiners find problems, the OTS is noting the issues in exam reports, discussing
remedies with thrift managers and boards of directors and, in some cases when managers
and boards do not rectify problems adequately, taking enforcement actions.

For example, the OTS issued a Notice of Charges against a thrift earlier this
month saying that the institution violated the Truth in Lending Act by sending notices to
nearly 95 percent of its home equity line customers freezing their credit lines without the
required documentation to support its action.
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IV.  Actions That Can Help

As mentioned earlier, the problem of tight credit can be solved fully only when
the economy rebounds. However, there are steps that are being taken now and steps that
can be taken in the future to ease the credit crunch.

One action that the government could take would be to prioritize government
assistance, such as under TARP, to institutions that show a willingness to be active
lenders. The OTS is already collecting information from thrifts applying under TARP on
how they plan to use the funds. The OTS makes recommendations to the Treasury
Department on whether to approve TARP applications but the final decision is up to
Treasury.

Another way to improve the situation is to continue to explore ways of meeting
liquidity needs of all banks and thrifts in these times when credit availability is key to
their lending operations.

The federal government has already taken significant steps to bolster liquidity
through programs including the Capital Purchase Program under TARP, the Commercial
Paper Funding Facility, the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program and the Term Asset-
Backed Securities Loan Facility.

Recent events illustrate that many insured depository institutions need to improve
their liquidity risk management. Deficiencies include insufficient holdings of liquid
assets, funding risky or illiquid asset portfolios with potentially volatile short-term
liabilities, insufficient cash flow projections and a lack of viable contingency funding
plans.

OTS is working with the other U.S. banking agencies to issue updated interagency
guidance on funding liquidity risk management. The revised guidance will incorporate
the recent lessons learned and the liquidity guidance issued by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision. As part of this guidance, the agencies will reiterate the need for
diversified funding sources, stress testing and an unencumbered cushion of highly liquid
assets that are readily available and are not pledged to payment systems or clearing
houses. This increased emphasis on high-quality liquid assets is important because many
firms had a misconception about the extent to which decreases in market and funding
liquidity are mutually reinforcing. As market liquidity erodes, so does the availability of
funding. The regulatory agencies plan to release the revised guidance with a notice for
public comment in the first half of 2009.

OTS is also strengthening its examination and supervision of savings associations
with high-risk business models or reliance on volatile funding sources. In some cases,
OTS is obtaining daily liquidity monitoring reports from financial institutions to identify
cash in-flows and out-flows and the availability of unpledged collateral. We are also
stressing the need for institutions to test the actual availability of lines of credit and to
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work actively with their respective Federal Home Loan Banks to ensure sufficient
borrowing capacity. OTS is also conducting a review of liquidity risk management to
identify best practices and issue guidance to savings associations. The agency is using
the review to develop additional liquidity metrics as a tool for examiners to use to
identify institutions with developing liquidity problems.

The OTS and the other federal banking regulators urged regulated institutions to
make credit more available to consumers in November 2008 by issuing an interagency
statement on meeting the needs of creditworthy borrowers.

The statement emphasized that the Agencies expect banks and thrifts to fulfill
their fundamental role in the economy by providing credit to consumers, businesses and
other creditworthy borrowers. Problems in financial markets were causing the economy
to become increasingly reliant on banking organizations to provide credit that purchasers
of securities formerly provided or facilitated, the statement said.

The statement reminded banks and thrifts to follow prudent lending practices but
warned that excessive tightening in underwriting standards could make market conditions
worse, leading to slower growth, potential damage to the economy, and harm to the long-
term interests and profitability of banks and thrifts.

It may be too soon to determine the effectiveness of the interagency statement.
However, data from the thrift industry’s Thrift Financial Reports show encouraging
trends: a 29 percent decrease in foreclosures in the fourth quarter of 2008 from the third
quarter and a 14 percent increase in troubled debt restructurings.

Extending credit in times of financial and economic stress might require a more
“hands-on approach” to lending by banks and thrifts. The use of models — such as credit
scoring models — has become common for loan originations. However, we have learned
over the past two years that models, and the assumptions used in those models, are not
infallible. Banks should have processes in place to review loans that are “kicked-out” by
loan origination model tools. This would help ensure the accuracy of models and help
ensure that creditworthy borrowers have access to funds. Banks should also have
processes in place to field consumer complaints about being denied credit. The existence
of such processes would serve as a quality check on institutions’ loan origination and
review functions.

V. Conclusion
Thank you again, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to testify today. I look

forward to working with you on these important issues in the future and I am happy to
respond to your questions.
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Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I want to thank you for allowing me
the chance to tell my story. My name is Randall Truckenbrodt, and I am a small
businessman and member of the National Federation of Independent Business. 1
and my employees have felt the economic downturn, and I am doing everything 1

can to stay in business and keep my employees working.

While many policy leaders have talked about improving access to credit for small
business, my problem, like most small businesses, has been just trying to keep doors
open and my employees on the payroll. Unfortunately, my experience with Bank of

America has made that prospect more difficult.

1 started deing business with Bank of America about 7 years ago in Ft. Lauderdale,
Florida. The relationship started with a small line of credit ($250,000) with a
company that was in need of rebuilding. After accomplishing that feat, the lending
officer was impressed and wanted to de more deals. Over the years, we have done

quite a few mortgages with Bank of America.

In August of 2008, I received a call from an executive at the bank’s headquarters
stating that I was in their workout department. The workout department of the
bank is where they work on non-performing or under-performing loans. I asked
why I would be in a workout department since I have never missed a payment on
any loan with Bank of America or for that matter any bank in the 32 years that I
have been in business. The executive stated that I was in the workout department
because one of my companies, American Equipment Rental in Pompano Beach,
Florida, was operating at a loss. To which I replied -- So What? [ reminded him
that I have never missed a payment with the bank and have no intention of stopping

payment going forward.

We discussed the probability of the company making a profit going forward. 1
explained that forecasting a profit is difficult to predict due to the credit markets
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holding up construction projects and the fact that the real estate market was
overcooked for years. I further explained that we were changing some things to help
the recovery process and that I have a pretty good track record of fixing our

businesses when they come under outside pressures.

After several months, Bank of America advised me that it would be sending me
terms for a waiver letter to be issued. I have had 25-30 waiver letters issued by
banks through the years, and they have always been issued at no charge. Waiver
letters protect the bank’s rights while allowing a customer to work their way back

into compliance.

Since late November, Bank of America has sent three proposals explaining their
terms for issuing a waiver letter. In the first letter, the Bank of America executive
indicated he would charge my company $55,000 in fees and require the company to
reappraise all the mortgaged properties (at an estimated cost of $25,000). So the
bank was proposing to impose all these fees on an unprofitable company that he is
measuring profits against. I have never heard of anything so ridiculous. The rest of
the conditions of this waiver terms included a statement that I would agree not to
sue Bank of America. The nataral question is why would I be asked not to sue them

if they are doing things right.

We received three of these demand letters over a period of 6 weeks. Each one
offered to lower the fees in order to get this waiver letter issued. The last letter
indicated that it wonld waive all fees and costs if we would agree to change the
maturity of the loan document from 2025 to April, 2009 and that I had to sign a

statement that I won’t sue Bank of America.

I refused to agree to their terms. One of my concerns was the difficulty in getting
these small business loans placed elsewhere, and what it would cest the business.
These tactics are very troubling, especially since they are directed at a small

business that has always paid its debts. It bothers me that these tactics might be
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directed at small business owners all over the country, some of who might net put

up a fight or even understand that they can fight back.

Imagine if the large banks were doing this to a homeowner who was granted a
mortgage based on a certain income level but then lost his job. Would the bank
then demand additional fees even though the homeowner continued paying his
mortgage from savings? Would the bank start reappraising the property and
charging the homeowner the cost? In my case, it feels as though Bank of America is

doing everything in its power to drive my company towards bankruptey.

Over the past six weeks, the bank has initiated without my consent the reappraisal
of our properties, and they have not communicated any information about these
appraisals after numerous requests. I want to know how the bank intends to use
these appraisals. In 32 years I have never had an appraisal of real estate where a
request for more capital wasn’t the basis (i.e. refinance). Finally, I was instructed
last week that they intend to raid our accounts for the cost of the appraisals. I will
fight these fees in court, if necessary, and have advised Bank of America of my

intent.

Bank of America has received billions of dollars in taxpayer bailout money. It was
my understanding that the money was supposed to be used to help individuals and
businessmen through this rough economy. I have never asked for or expected help
from the government, but I also wasn’t expecting an attack on my business from a
bank where all my bank loans are current. It seems to me that Bank of America is
trying to pull cash out of my business to benefit theirs, and I wonder if I am the only

small business they are doing this to?

Small business has led our country out of past recessions, and we stand ready to do
so again. We are not responsible for the financial mess we find ourselves in, and are
not asking for bailouts and handouts from the government. If we are left to our

own devices, we will make it through the recession and come out stronger.
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Chairman Frank, Ranking Member Bachus and membets of the Committee, my name is
Stephen Wilson, Chaitman and CEO, LCNB Cotp. and LCNB National Bank, Lebanon, Ohio, and
Chairman of the Government Relations Council of the American Bankers Association (ABA). LCNB
National Bank is a full-sexvice bank offering trust and brokerage setvices, along with insurance through
a subsidiary. We have over $650 million in asscts, and out bank has served out community for 131
yeats. I am pleased to be here today on behalf of ABA. ABA works to enhance the competitiveness of
the nation's banking industry and strengthen America’s economy and communities. Its members — the
majotity of which are banks with less than $125 million in assets — represent over 95 percent of the

industty’s $13.9 trilion in assets and employ over 2 million men and women.

‘We appteciate the opportunity to testify on the current status of the Capital Purchase Program
(CPP) and the mixed messages and government policies that on the one hand encourage bank lending
and on the other discourage it. Fveryone is frustrated about the current confused situation — the
public, the Congress, and, T can assure you, traditional banks. We had hoped that the mixed messages
and disincentives would have disappeated by now, but in fact, they ate worse today than they have ever
been. If programs to stimulate the economy ate to reach their full potential, the confusion must be

cladfied and disincentives cortected.

Conflicting messages have characterized the Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP) and CPP
program from the outset. Originally, the TARP funds wete to be used for buying toxic assets. That
focus changed virtually overnight to investment of capital in healthy banks through the CPP program.
The banking industty was - and banks individually were — actively encoutaged by Treasury and banking
regulatots to patticipate. Indeed, many healthy banks decided to participate even though they were
alteady very well capitalized and even though they were nervous at the time that the program

requirements could change dramatically and unilaterally at the will of Treasury or Congtess.

AMERICAN BANKERS ASSOCIATION
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My bank - which is well capitalized — applied for and received V$1 3.4 million of CPP capital on
Januaty 9, 2009. I am proud to point out that we were given the opportunity to receive these funds
because of out past and cutrent performance in providing loans to those in the communities we setve,
We ate strong and secute. The CPP funds add to the $58 million already in ovr bank’s capital account
and enable us to respond to out customers when they need help in the form of loans. In fact, we
continue to make loans, sticking to our traditional commitment to making tesponsible loans that make
good economic sense for both the borrower and our bank. For example, in January 2009 we approved
$11.6 million in loans to individuals, $6.9 million in loans to businesses, and $18.4 million in loans to

municipal governments, and we purchased $25 million in Government Guatantee Mortgages.

My bank, and the other 316 banks that received CPP money before January 23, 2009, paid our
first dividend to Treasuty on February 15, 2009. My dividend payment was $67,000, and the entire 317
banks’ first dividend payment is estitnated to be around $2.4 billion. This dividend payment shows
quite clearly that this program is an investment by government. The government will receive these
dividend payments for several years now, and also have the benefit of warrants to shate in any

appreciation of bank stocks.

. However, over the last few weeks, banks have received messages that are very much
discouraging participation. The government designed the Capital Purchase Program to be available to
evety healthy bank in the country. However, to date only 509 out of the nation’s 8,300 banks have
received funding. Given the public’s growing resentment to the idea of “govemmeni bailouts,” it is
likely that many banks that otherwise would have been interested in the CPP will decide not to
participate. Indeed, several that alrerdy have been approved have decided not to sign contracts and

others that have received funding are trying to return it.

The impact of these unclear messages, however, is not just limited to the banks that have
received the capital injections; the entire industry is unfaitly suffexing from the perception of weakness
perpetuated by the government-created mixed messages. Banks heat the message to continue to lend
to help stimulate the economy. But they also hear messages that pull them back: from field examiners
that may apply overly conservative standards; from FDIC premium assessment rules that penalize
banks that use Federal Home Loan Bank advances for short-term liquidity; and from accounting rules

that overstate economic losses.

I want to take this opportunity to thank this Committee for the bipartisan effort to address the
issue of mark-to-market. Your action can significantly aid in the economic recovery. In response to

yout efforts, the Financial Accounting Standatds Board (FASB) issued two proposals to attempt to

AMERICAN BANKERS ASSOCIATION
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make tepairs that address the problems of “Other Than Temporaty Impairment” (OTTY) ~
unfortunately, the proposals do not go far encugh. Several changes ate still needed: (1) OTTT should
be based on credit impaitment, rather than an estimate of the market's cutrent perception of loss, (2)
the new OTTI rules should apply to existing OT LT rather than futare OTTT, and (3) any recoverdes of
OTTI should be teversed upon recovery.

We are also very concerned about an FDIC proposal to charge banks a2 one-time special
assessment of 20 basis points on total domestic deposits (which is an addition to the regular quarterly
premium payments paid to FDIC). There is no question that the industry stands behind the financial
health of the FDIC, and indeed, has been responsible for all its costs since it was created in 1933, But
the large assessment, totaling over $15 billion in the second quarter of 2009, will significantly reduce
eatnings for most banks — even wiping out all of 2009 carnings in some cases -- making it hardet to
build new capital and raise deposits to fund new loans. This is the ultimate in mixed messages and has

the potential to setiously reduce the effectiveness of other programs.

Any one of these challenges could be bandled on its own, whether it is the impact of misplaced
accounting rules, severe regulatory pressute for asset write-downs, significantly higher FDIC insurance
premiums, or changing rules for CPP participants; but taken collectively, the impact is a nightmare for

banks. All of these forces work against lending that is so critical to our cconomic recovery.

Before I talk about these mixed messages in more detail, let me highlight why clarity is so
important right now. The continued speculation of further government involvement continues to
unnecessatily erode consumet confidence in our nation’s banking system. T cannot say strongly enough
that investment of private capital will not retutn until the fear of further government involvemnent or
dilution of private equity investments in the banking system has significantly abated. Investors will
remain on the sidelines if there is continued specnlation that the government may step in and undercut
their investment. Private capital, rather than taxpayer money, is the foundation of out entire cconomic
system., Mote government involvement is not the solution to the problems in the financial markets. We
believe that this whole discussion, even specalation about “nationalization,” is impairing the financial
sector and making the credit situation worse. This is why it is so critical that the role of the government
be clearly defined and limited. We hope the recent clasification by the Administration and Chairman
Bernanke will help stem this speculation, but further disincentives being considered are sending another

chill through the capital markets.

AMERICAN BANKERS ASSOCIATION
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Let me now turn to address the messages that run counter to encouraging lending today,

including:

3 The application by field examinets of ovetly conscrvative standatds, in spite of the

consistent statements by their agency heads to support prudent lending;

» The significant special assessment proposed by the FDIC assessments will impact earnings,
hinder capital accumulation, and raise the cost of funds for banks — all of which makes it

mote difficult for banks to lend;

> Failure to make repairs to market-to-market rules has, in combination with current market

iltiquidity, resulted in overstating economic losses; and

» The changing natute and requitements of the CPP progtam which ate resulting in

unintended consequences for patticipants and discouraging othets from participating.
T will discuss each of these in turn,

L In the face of a weak economy and falling loan demand, it is ctitical that
the regulators not make things worse by applying overly conservative
standards
The current regulatory environment is unquestionably impacted by the regulatory concerns

flowing from the housing market and economic downturn. A natural reaction is to intensify the
scrutiny of commercial banks’ lending practices. It is extremely impottant, however, that scrutiny does
not discougage lending to creditworthy botrowers, The heads of the banking agencies have consistently
emphasized that the goal of supervision and examination is not to stop new lending, but to assute that
whatever lending is done follows prudent underwriting standards. The agencies have met with the

ABA and other industry representatives to discuss the problems that have emerged and ways they can

be addressed. We appreciate these efforts and are hopeful that this will prevent a regulatory

ovetreaction that can quickly chill an already fragile credit market. However, we continue to hear from
bankers around the countty — and those particulatly in areas where the economy is considerably

stressed — that field examiners are being excessively hard on even the strongest banks in the area.
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The risks are very real. One needs only to look back at the early 1990s to see what can happen
when there is a regulatory ovetteaction to an economic tecession with roots in residential and
commercial real estate problems. At that time, whether intended or not, the loud and clear message
that bankers received from the regulatots and Congress was that only minimal levels of lending risk
would be tolerated. On the surface, this might have seemed reasonable — there is litdle doubt that
economic consequences of a banking system with too much risk ate not acceptable. But just as too
xﬁuch risk is undesirable, a regulatory policy that discourages banks from making good loans to

creditworthy botrowers also has serious economic consequences.

Ovetly-aggressive attempts to wring Regulatory-Induced Credit Crunch
out risk from bank loan portfolios will mean Decreased Bank Business Lending
that only the very best credits will be funded. “CAiLoan Domand  ® CiiLoan Growth Rate
This is cleatly contraty to the curtent public :::f: I
policy goals ~ and the CPP program in 20%
particular — of encouraging lending to 15%
facilitate an economic recovety. The 10:5
regulatoty overreaction in the early 1990s led :;:
to a significant decline in lending in spite of 5%
rising demand for bank loans (see the chart 10% -
on the right). As a consequence, the recovery s Ot

was slower than it might have been.

A comparable scenario may be developing in today’s regulatory envitonment. Accounting rules
and excessive regulatory demands are acting together to limit the ability of banks to make loans and in
somne cases to continue existing funding atrangements. For example, one of the major concetns of the
industry is the prospect of bank examiners appraising banks into insolvency. This could occut from a
number of interrelated causes. We hear reports from our bankers of examiners demanding that banks
obtain new appraisals on properties for fully petforming loans, i.e., loans where the bortowers ate
cutrent and meeting their obligations to the bank. Given existing market prices, it is not surprising to
find that values are down, so that such appraisals could result in banks having to downgrade fully
petforming loans as being in some degree troubled, giving rise to what many refer to as “non-
petforming performing loans.” Together, the tevaluations and downgtades discourage banks from

lending for similat projects.
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In other instances, we hear of examiners forcing banks to mark the value of collateral to current
matket values even though there is little expectation that the bank will be relying on the collateral for
repayment of the loan, A bank can reach the point (as many did in the 1980s and 1990s) whete such
actions significantly reduce bank resources available to fund new loans. Thus, taking a snapshot of a
bank’s assets during the low point of an economic cycle and forcing the bank to reflect the worst-case
scenario on its books runs the risk of bringing about the very consequences that the banks and their
examiners ate trying to prevent - causing the bank to retrench, reducing banking lending overall. To
avoid this outcome, we have been urging the regulators to keep in mind that markets are cyclical and
that not every wotst-case scenario will occur if the market is left to function without inappropriately

restrictive intetventdon.

Fortunately, bank agency heads are sensitive to this potential problem and have pledged to
avoid a repeat of the catly 1990s. The great challenge may be to ensure that the measured approach
expressed by agency leadership is being applied by regulatory personnel ount in the field, Increasingly,
we are heating troubling reports from our membership that regulatory mistakes of a decade ago are
playing out again today. This issue can be addtessed, at least in part, by more communication by the
heads of the agencies to the field examiners — in writing and shated with the entire industry — about
finding the right balance in the examination of a bank and the impottance of preserving relationships
that banks have built up over the years. Banking, and bank examination, requires the application of
judgment to a myriad of different scenatios. Itis important that bankers and examiners alike feel that
they can exercise that judgment in a manner that is consistent with the industry continuing to meet the

needs of communitics even during the hard times.

What the regulatots want for the industry is what the industty wants for itself:” the maintenance
of a strong and safe banking system. To achieve that goal, we need to remember the vital role played
by good lending in restoring economic growth and not allow a credit crunch to stifle economic

recovery,

II.  The FDIC Special Assessments Will Significantly Impact Earnings,
Capital, and Cost of Funds — All of Which Makes it Far More Difficult to Lend
The FDIC is proposing to siphon funds out of the banking system at precisely the same time

that it and other patts of the government are tiying to pump money in, This will significantly

undetmine the effectiveness of the other programs. It would be far better to adopt a plan that will
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enable banks to fund the system at a time when higher insutance premiums will not jeopardize an

already fragile economy.

‘Thete are two key decisions that have been made recently by the FDIC that will surely reduce
lending. First is the special assessment imposed for the second quarter on all banks. Let me be very
cleat here: the banking industty fully supports having a strong FDIC fund and stands behind the
efforts to assure FDIC’s financial health. We appreciate the difficult situation that the FDIC is in and
undesstand that tising losses from bank failutes have created short-term fanding needs. The industry
has always taken our obligation to the FDIC setiously and banks will honor the obligation to support
the FDIC. ‘

However, it is critically important that costs are spread over a longer petiod of time because the
additional cost will have an impact. In fact, the cost is so high that many banks will be less willing to
raise new deposits. With fewer deposits, banks will be unable to renew or make new loans. The high
expenses take it harder to raise new capital, either from tetained carnings or through new investors,
limiting still further the ability to meet customer needs. The money to pay such high expenses cannot
be created out of thin air. It will mean that banks will also be forced to look at ways to Jower the cost
of other expenses, which means less sponsotship of community activities and fewer donations to local
chatities. Some banks have said that it may even mean cutting jobs. The implications for this
significant FDIC charge will impact every community. Alternatives are cleatly needed to help ease this

burden on all banks.

There ate some options emerging that may help to reduce this. For example, the FDIC has said
that if its line of credit to Treasury were expanded from $30 billion to $100 billion, it would have the
necessary access to working capital and, therefore, would not need to obtain as much a buffer from the
industry to offset losses. ABA suppotts this position, and strongly urges that this change be enacted
quickly.

Another option policymakers should consider to help stretch out the repayment pedod for
banks is to use a funding source like the Financial Cotpotation (FICO) bonds that were issued from
1987 to 1989 to pay for the costs incurred by the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation
(FSLIC) from savings association failures in the late 1980s. These wete a seties of 30-yeat bonds with
an aggregate principal of §8.2 billion, This helped to spread out the cost of failuzes at that time.
Another important option that ABA has suggested is a capital investment by banks in the FDIC. This
would provide the necessaty capital to the FDIC without having it being a costly expense against

earnings. Having options in place is important so that there is a viable mechanism to provide the
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FDIC with capital to offset losses, yet have the commitment of the banking industry to repay any

temporary funding needs over a long petiod of time,

The second important decision made by the FDIC relates to changes made in the risk-based
system that will make liquidity more difficult and expensive for some banks. In particular, the FDIC
actions will discourage the use of Federal Home Loan Bank advances. While the FDIC did make some
improvements that will lower the penalty rate, it still means that many banks that have used advances as
a stable and reliable source of funding will pay an extra cost fot these funds. The Federal Home Loan
Banks have played an extremely impottant role throughout the last yeat in providing shott-term
liquidity. FHLB advances are s stable as core deposits, and are not valnerable to shott-tettn
promotions in the local market or sutging tetutns on alternative assets. In fact, we believe that the use
of FHILB advances does not increase the risk of a bank failing, but rather reducesit. Thus, not only is
the FDIC making the cost of deposit fanding more expensive, it is making othet sources of funding

more expensive as well.

III. Failure to make repairs to market-to-matket rules has, in combination with

current market illiquidity, resulted in overstating economic losses

Mixed messages are also emanating from so-called mark-to-market accounting, which has
caused dramatic swings in financial statements that ate completely divorced from the underlying
economic reality. This has led to misleading capital positions and public financial reporting, preventing
existing capital from suppotting additional lending so critical in today’s economy and cteating

unicerrainty in the markets.

ABA believes there are situations when mark-to-market can be useful, such as if an entity’s
business model is based on fair value. However, for entities whose business models ate not based on
buying and selling in the markets, such as traditional commercial banks, mark-to-market is neither the
most relevant nor reliable information; it will not necessaxily reflect the expected cash flows and
earnings; and it will result in misleading the readers of banks’ financial statements. Matk-to-narket
information is already disclosed in footnotes, which are an integral patt of financial statements, and

footnote disclosure is a mote suitable format for providing mark-to-market information.

Recent changes to the definition of fair value, in combination with current market illiquidity,
have resulted in overstating economic losses, and immediate repaits ate needed in these areas: (1) the

definition of fair value, and 2) the definition of “other than tempotasy impairment” or OTTI. Some
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have suggested that these tepairs be made to regulatory capital rules; however, the publicly reported
financial statement reporting must also be improved as soon as possible, as this will have a positive

tesult on both the transparency of financial staternents and on the markets.

In today’s illiquid market, the results of improper OTTI rules can be severe: (1) capital is
artificially eroded despite solid fundamental credit performance, (2) the lending capability of a bank is
reduced as much as $7 for every $1 of needless OTTT, and (3) the accounting formula is driving
econormic outcomes ~ including reduced availability of consumer and small business credit, with a
negative impact on the health of individual institutions - and does not reflect economic reality. The
resulting misleading information is contributing to the uncertainty in the matkets and the freezing of

1

investment.

‘The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has recognized the problems with these issues
and requested in October 2008 that FASB “expeditiously address jssues that have arisen in the
application of the OTTI model.” ABA has provided its recommendations to the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the SEC, and the banking agencies, including the point that U8, accounting rules
generally tesult in higher losses than the international accounting rules, placing U.S. companies at a
disadvantage. Finally, we ate very much in agreement with the recommendations of Group of 30 on
fair value accounting in its Financial Reform: A Framework for Financial Stability that suggests that these

accounting standards be teviewed:

(1) to develop “mote realistic guidelines for dealing with less-liquid insttuments and distressed

markets”;

{2 by “prudential regulators to ensute application in a fashion consistent with safe and sound

operation of [financial] institutions”; and

(3) to be more Bexible “in regatd to the prudential need for tegulated institutions to maintain

adequate credit-loss reserves”.

As I mentioned at the outset, the two proposals of FASB are a step in the right ditection to deal
with the OTTI problem, but do not go far encugh. It is impottant that the following changes be
adopted: (1) OTTI should be based on credit impairment, rather than an estimate of the market's
cuzrent perception of loss, (2) the new OTTI rules should apply to existing OTTI rather than future
OTTI, and (3) any recoveties of OTTT should be teversed upon tecovery.
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1Iv.  Mixed Messages are Severely Impacting the CPP program and
Discouraging Participation

Much of the confusion about the CPP program is a result of the ever-changing nature of TARP
and the various uses of TARP funds. As ABA has stated in several recent heatings before this
committee, the current confusion is hatmful as it continues to erode public confidence and undermines
efforts to tarn around the economy. ABA strongly recommends that Congress and the Administration
establish clear-cut programs within TARP, In patticular, the CPP should be clearly separated from a
program to address potential failutes of systematically important institutions, Only by clearly

identifying the programs can there be proper Congressional oversight and effective policymaking,

The CPP program is different. Itis a program that encourages FDIC-insured banking
institutions that are healthy to sell a specifically designed capital instrument to the government. fis
putpose is to increase the capital position of the banking sector (even though the great majority of
banks are well capitalized) in order to provide the strong foundation on which an economic tecovety
can be built through the increased provision of sound credit. This is a role America’s banks are

committed to carry out.

The announcement of the program really harmed the perception of our banking industry. The
lack of clatity about the progtam since then did nothing to reverse this and the changes made recently
are making the situation even worse. Commentators continue to focus on the government’s
involvement with banks, and investots are sitting on the sidelines because they cannot be sure what
new testrictions will be imposed, or wotse, what additional involvement the government will take in

directing the activities of banks.

It must cleatly be stated that the CPP program is to provide capital to strong banks and its
putpose was to promote the availability of credit. It must be made clear that the institutions that are
voluntarily accepting this new soutce of capital did not create the problems and are the most likely to
be the fixst tesponders to provide ctedit to tetutn out economy to health, This message is getting lost
in the rhetoric about executive compensation and other restrictions and, since no effort is being made
to differentiate the CPP recipients from other systemic risk support under TARP, it only reinforces the

incorrect perception that this capital is a “bailout.”

Unless thete is clarity, thete will not be broad participation. This will limit the effectiveness of
the program. We believe that very few new banks will now participate in light of the recent changes to

the program — which add significant legal and reporting costs — and the increasing risk and negative
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petception suttounding the program, This means that far fewer banks will end up patticipatiog in a
program that was intended to support alf healthy banks. It also has the very real consequence of
depriving some communities that ate served by smallet banks from having additional capital to support
new lending. There ate several illustrations of recent changes that show how even simple changes can

send mixed messages ot have negative unintended consequences.

> Additional Reporting and Record Retention Requitements by SIGTARP
On February 6, 2009, Neil Barofsky, the Special Inspector General, Troubled Asset Relief Program
(SIGTARP), wrote to all CPP-patticipating banks asking for a latge body of data on how CPP
capital is being employed, the banks’ implementation plans, the types of records that tust be kept,
and the need to have the accuracy of all statements cettified. Certainly, the inspector general needs
to have information about the activities of the institutions receiving CPP capital, but the
requirements mandated by the SIGTARP have taised questions about the extent of its ovessight of
a bank’s activity, We ate encouraged that the office of the Special Inspector General is willing to
work with the industty to provide clatity on its role. However, many questions remain. Fox
example; what level of response is expected of the industry to the data collection requested by
SIGTARP? What references to specific sources ate required fot statements made? Would it
include all potentially relevant documents? What is the basis for plans to deal with executive
compensation requirements when there still are conflicting guidelines alteady and rules that have yet
to be promulgated? What authotity does SIGTARP have to examine CPP banks and override the
authority of the bank’s primary regulator?

The potential record retention tequitements ate extensive: “segregate and preserve all
documents referencing your use ot anticipated use of TARP funds such as any internal e-mails,
budgets, or memoranda regarding your anticipated or actual use of TARP funds.” While we
apderstand that the SIGTARP is Iooking for 2 good faith effort to demonstrate how the bank is
leveraging the capital provided by the government, this request signals to many the beginning of a
scrutiny that will be unnecessarily butdensome. In fact, this record retention requirement is similac
to the type of legal holds firms undertake when subject to law suits or othet administrative
enforcement actions. This request leaves the impression that banks will be subject to legal action —
an imptession reinforced by the requirement that the bank “certify the accuracy of all statements,
reptesentation and supporting information provided, subject to the requirements and penalties”

which inctude fines and possible imptisonment.
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Banks are alteady subject to intense supervision by their primaty tegulator; banks already
provide a large amount of data to their regulators; and the largest CPP recipients ate providing
monthly details on how the capital is being deployed, We are concerned that this extra layer of
oversight — in a2 document that explicitly reminds banks of the possibility of criminal sanctions — is

causing sevetal banks to rethink the advisability of accepting the CPP funds.

» Executive compensation rules enacted in the stimulus package are complex and unclear,
Title VII of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA) is vety complex in its
reach and its effect on institutions of all sizes, including small community banks. Thete is great
uncertainty creating nnintended consequences. Our industry is badly in need of immediate

clarification. For example:

Complying with reqiirements for which rules are wot yet promufgated: There Is great confusion about the
effective date of the executive compensation provisions contained in ARRA. We believe that
several of the exccutive compensation and corporate governance provisions ate effective upon the
Treasury’s dssuance of standards, yet other provisions of that Title may be currently in effect.’
This uncertainty has made some banks unwilling to participate, and others that are patticipating to

consider withdrawing from the program.

No clear definition of “Conp fon”" or what exiplayees are affected makes it difffcult to determine which ensployees
7 Py £

are covered:  Lack of clear definition is creating significant problems, For example, banks are unclear
as to whether the provisions apply to bonuses earned in 2008 but paid out after ARRA was signed
into Jaw. Additionally, community banks employ small numbers of employees and ate uncettain
whether the incentive compensation clawback provisions apply even to theit employees who have
no executive, managerial ot policy-making functions, such as branch managers. Moreover, some
bank presidents have no need for written employment contracts as they have invested almost all of
their entire net worth into the institution. This creates inequities relative to those institutions that

have such contracts with their senhior executives and are, thus, not as severely impacted by these

1 Section 7001 of ARRA amends Section 111 of the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (EESA) to provide that
TARP recipients shall be subject to “the standards established by the Secretary” and directs the Secretaty to “require cach

TARP recipient to meet apptopriate standatds for executive comg jon and corp 2 e.” Because the Act des

compliance with the executive compensation provisions directly to standards that have not yet been established and issued

by the Secretary, we believe it is clear that these provisions are not effective until these standards are established.
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provisions. Furthermore, community bank holding companies ate often “shell” holding companies
that only have a few shared employees with the subsidiaty banks. Holding companies may also have
mote than one bank subsidiary. How ate the Act’s resttictions to apply in such cases? How would
the Act’s restrictions apply in the case of 2 non-CPP bank that seeks to acquite a CPP-recipient
bank?

Pension plans will bave to be amended: Changes in compensation can also have dramatic effects on
pension plan agteements. For example, are institutions able to pay death benefits included in a
pension plan to the spouse of a deceased executive employee under the golden parachute payment
prohibition? Without regulatory certainty, our members are put in the position of possibly violating

employee compensation and pension contracts.

Furthermote, do the golden parachute provisions prohibit all severance payments, even those
made to employees who have no management or policy making responsibilities? If so, how does a
bank enforce a non-compete agteement without appropriate consideration? It is very typical for a
community bank to have such provisions to compensate an employee for agtecing to a non-

compete clause in exchange for the severance.

Are employees paid only through comntissions at risk? Many banks have employees that eatn the bulk of
their compensation through commissions, such as loan officers. These individuals could become
the highest compensated employee in the bank for that particulat year, but this would not be
known until the end of the year, Would the restriction on incentive compensation apply in these
situations? Would these employces be expected to give a substantial portion of their commissions
back? These top producers are critical to meeting the community’s credit needs and, in turn,
enhance the profitability of the financial institution. They ate an impottant asset to shareholdets —

including the government.

Will these be SEC-type disclosres utes for non-SEC reporting companies? ARRA tequites that shateholders
be given a nonbinding vote on executive compensation through the proxy process (“say-on-pay”).
This provision is generally applicable for all preliminary and definitve proxy statements filed with
the SEC after the date of the Act’s enactment or February 17, 2009, What is uncleat, however, is
the extent to which the Act’s “say-on-pay” provisions apply to ptivate, non-public companies.
Moreover, public disclosute of senior executive officer compensation could create problems in

small local communities, as neighbors and fellow employces learn what theit friends and colleagues
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are making. This is not fair and certainly not the Intent of restrictions on compensation imagined

by the sponsors of this provision.

Changes may ddive some banks to return CPP capital

These ate only some examples of the kinds of questions that will continue to be radsed. It
serves to point out that regardless of how simple the changes are thought to be, there are considerable
unintended consequences that will impact many individual and institutions that weze not the subject of
the rules. Mote critically, the chilling effect these changes have — rafsing the cost of compliance and
the risk of legal action — will discourage any patticipation in the CPP program. This means that the
benefits hoped for with the program will not be fully realized.

As I mentioned at the outset, some banks have returned and others ate seriously considering
returning the capital they have already received due to the rising risk of government involvement. While
returning capital sounds simple, the reality is that most CPP recipients did put much of that capital into
action immediately upon receiving the funds. Moteover, in other cases, the regulators may not allow it
or would take a long time to approve it, even if the bank would still be well capitalized. The
government expected the capital to be employed qui;:kly, and the banks had a financial intetest to do
50, as they are requited to pay the Treasury a quarterly dividend at a five percent annual rate.

The CPP banks have put this capital to work extending lines of credit, renewing short-term
loans that business borrowers use to meet daily expenses, and making new loans. In fact, while the
media was repotting that loan volumes had decreased slightly in the fourth quatter, the recent Treasury
release for the largest CPP banks shows how impottant it is to get behind those nuinbers to fully
appreciate the impact that banks are having through extending new fines of credit, renewing shost-term
loans that have been repaid, and extending new loans. The Tteasury data show that loan originations
for the top 20 CPP recipients totaled $714 billion in the fourth quatter — over three times the amount
of capital invested by Treasury. Over $226 billion was renewing short-term loans that wete repaid by
businesses and commercial real estate borrowers. This continued support for existing customers to be
able to fund theit opetations is a critical and often overlooked type of lending banks ate doing in this
difficult economic environment. Thus, to pay back the CPP investment would mean that future
leveraging of this capital for lending would be impossible.

Besides the fact that the capital is alteady being deployed and setutning it reduces the benefits
already undenway, there are practical considerations that make returning it difficolt. Fot example, if 2

bank closes on a CPP deal next week, can it really withdraw from the program and repay the
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government the amount invested without first having to replace the funds from other soutces as
provided under the executive compensation provisions contained in the stimulus package? What
conditions are the banking regulators and Treasury likely to impose on any such withdrawal?
Moreover, if a private bank that received its CPP money last week wants to repay it this week, does it
still have to pay the five percent premium built into their warrants, which were exercised at closing by
Treasuty? This additional five-percent consideration was provided as a way to make investments in the
privately held banks equivalent to those made in puoblicly traded companies. However, because there is
a market in the stock of the publicly traded companies, Treasuty had no need to exetcise at closing the
warrants associated with these transactions. With an extea five percent carly repayment cost for private
banks the ability to withdraw may well prove to be more easily attainable for publicly traded CPP

recipients. Placing such a burden on community banks serves absolutely no public policy objective,

Conclusion

There are many mixed messages in the current environment, all of which ate discouraging
patticipation in the CPP program and more generally, lendiag by all banks. The mixed messages
continue on the extent of government involvement in banks, the changing tules and penalties, the
impact of matk-to-market accounting when no reasonable market exists to determine “fait” values, and
the conflict between boosting new lending and overly conservative underwriting emphasized by some

field examinets.

Many banks were interested in patticipating in the CPP as they believed it would help to ensure
greater flexibility in the face of a deteriorating economy. Indeed, the banking regulators strongly
encoutaged participation so that banks could “take advantage of the benefits of the Capital Parchase
Program.” ABA expressed concern when the CPP was introduced that the Treasury could unilaterally
alter the program terms at any timne, which would expose the recipients to greater tisk and higher costs.
Our fears were tealized with the recent changes and the continued confusion swirling around this
program. Now many banks ate wondering if the henefits outweigh the compliance costs, legal dsks,

and continued intervention by the government.

It is important to recognize the much broader implication of the government involvement and
the lack of confidence created by it. Itis also impottant to recognize the unintended consequences that
even seemingly simple changes can have. The recent changes signal to any strong, viable bank —
whether alteady participating or consideting it — that any involvement of the government in the

business of private enterprise brings with it significant risk and costs, not the least of which is the
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potential that the rules can be changed unilaterally, at any time. The intention of the Capital Purchase
Program was to provide capital to healthy, well-tun banks to weather the economic storm and be the
stimulus for new lending. Unless clarity is provided to help limit such risks and stop the mixed

messages, few banks will patticipate and the benefit of the program will fall short of its potential.

The ABA appreciates the opportunity to testify today and we stand ready to wotk with this
Committee in finding ways to bting clarity to the government programs and help restore confidence of

the public and investors in our financial system.
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The Honorable Barney Frank

Chairman, House Financial Services Committee
2252 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Chairman Frank:

On behalf of the National Bankers Association {NBA), | would like to offer a few suggestions for
regulatory reform as it relates to minority banks.

Our first concern, Mr. Chairman, is that our countey’s financial crisis was not caused by minority
and community banks but it appears that the response from federal regulators and examiners are
creating disproportionate burdens for minority and community banks.

From the recently announced Special Assessment tax to new rules governing capital
requirements, minority and community banks, which have fewer resources and who are least guilty of
violating safe and soundness principles, are being asked to shoulder a disproportionate amount of the
burden and endure more scrutiny of their standard banking practices. :

Many of the tending rules that were violated (i.e., subprime lending) occurred primarily with the
nation’s largest financial institutions and, therefore, most regufatory reform should be focused on those
institutions.

in addition, even when federal funds are made available, like the Capital Purchase Program, the
terms and interest rates tend to discourage rather than promaote more lending to consumers, small
businesses and real estate investors in the communities that our bankers serve.

Congress passed the Financial Institution Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act in 1989 and
the Government Accounting Office (GAO) studied the impact of the behavior of federal regulators in
1993. The inescapable reality that minority banks face - even in light of the Congressional mandate to
preserve minority banks and the GAO's findings — regulators still do not appear to calibrate their
examining strategies to reflect the unique challenges of minority banks when they observe
management practices, capital challenges and the compounded burden of serving some of America’s
most economically distressed communities.

The Special Assessment is the most recent example of federal regulators lack of sensitivity to
how their requirements can wreck havoc on the bottom line results {e.g., return on assets} of many
minority and community banks whose profit margins tend to be marginal at best.

1513 P Street, NW,, Washington, D, C. 20005
{282) 588-5432 Fax (202) 588-5443
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March 25, 2009
The Honorable Barney Frank
Page 2

TARP money, because of the strings attached to it — the interest rate of 5%, the time period for
pay back, rules governing executive compensation, the requirement for regulatory approval before early
pay-back is possible and the anxiety surrounding the possibility of some additional regulations to be
imposed on those financial institutions who have taken TARP money ~ have caused a lot of community
banks, who could have used the capital for lending ~ to not accept the funds.

In conclusion, the overarching issue that we present before your hearing today, Mr. Chairman, is
this: large banks {assets in excess of ten billion dollars) operate in a different universe than minority and
community banks. Many of those who contributed to our nation’s financial crisis are the mega-banks. it
is our sincere hope that all efforts at regulatory reform will be measured responses that do not make
minority and community banks suffer unduly because of the misguided practices of the banking
behemoths. While the NBA acknowledges that many of these impacts are unintended consequences
from sincere efforts to reform our nation’s banking system, the reality is that they are having an
injurious effect on this very important segment of the banking industry that is striving to remain strong
and viable.

Thank you for your genuine interest in repairing what has been broken in our country’s financial
infrastructure.

Respectfully,

NATIONAL BANKERS ASSOCIATION

V7N ’ s 3 ’
//(/a%/;e/ A v
Michael A. Grant, 1.D.

President

cc: Robert P. Cooper, Chairman
National Bankers Assaciation
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JOHN 4. DUNCAN, JR.

2nD BisTAICT, TeNNESSEE

COMMITTEES:
TAANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE
SUBCOMMITTEES:

T—— HiHwAYS AND TRANSIT-- RANKING MEMBER

2207 Ravaugn House OFCE BunLoms WaTER RESOURCES AND ERVIRDNSENT

“eemeasre Congress of the WAnited States

Fouse of Representatioes suscommee:

NATIONAL PARKS, FORESTS, AND PUBUC LANDS

800 Manker STaeet, Sume 110 200 £, Broaoway Ave, Suite 414

KnowviLE, TN 37902 e, v amoase:  ADAHINGLOn, WE 205154202

Prons: {865) 523-3772 Fwne: {865} 984-5464
froatseb it PR 1965 880-0521 OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNMENT REFORM
BUBCOMMITTEES:
December 29, 2008 NATIONAL SECURITY AND FOREIGN AFFAIRS.
GOVERNMENT MARAGEMENT, ORGARZATION,
6 EAsT Manison Avenue CoURTHOUSE NG PROCUREMENT

Aviens, TN 373034287
PHONE: (423) 745-4671
Fax: (423] 745-6025
The Honorable John C. Dugan
Comptroller of the Currency
Administrator of National Banks

Washington, D.C. 20218
Dear Comptroller Dugan:

I know most of the top bankers from East Tennessee and several

others throughout the State.

They are all telling me the same thing in stronger terms than I
have ever heard before. As the President of one bank, with which
I have no connection whatever, said, holding one hand up much
higher than the other: “What they are saying at the top is not
getting down here to the bottom.”

In other words, wheén the Pregident, the Secretary of the

Treasury and other top officials are trying to unfreeze the

credit market and urging banks to make loans, the bank examiners
. at the local level are making it almost impossible to do so.

The examiners, almost none of whom have ever been in the banking
business and thus do not fully appreciate how difficult it is,
are writing up the best, safest loans on the books. They are
doing this even though all payments are current and even on
loans to upper--incomer people who have more than sufficient
assets to cover the loan.

A banker who used to do a lot of business with Senator Corker in
Chattanocoga when the Senator was in business there said he
talked to him about it and gave him some specific examples. But
when Sen. Corker asked him to put it in writing he said he could
not because the examiners then would have destroyed his bank.

Another.bank..official told me this past Saturday that there are

230-banks I Tennessee. that .are having serious.-problams. Now .I
believe he probably was exaggerating-but - someone from almost

E-MAIL: www . house.goviwriterep PRINTED ON RECYCLED PAPER HTTP:/hanaw house.goviduncan/
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every bank in East Tennessee has told me over the last three
months or so that the examiners have just gotten ridiculous.

Another banker said banks cannot make even very good loans now
“strictly because of the examiners” and their “CYA” attitude.

In 2000, Fortune Magazine sgaid the Knoxville area had become the
most popular place to move to in the whole Country based on the
number moving in in relation to the number moving out. Almost
all of East Tennessee has very large numbers moving here from
the Midwest and Florida.

The economy here is still strong and will continue to be unless
these Dbank examiners shut wus down. If you think I am
exaggerating, please have some independent polling £firm. ask
bankers all over the Nation to tell you their stories in a way
they can be assured there will not later be repercussions!

If you do not do this, I am afraid the troubles we are having
now are going to grow much worse.

With kindest regards, I am
Yours truly,

L

OHN J N\ JUNCAN, JR.
Member of Congress

JID:3g
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JOHN J. DUNCAN, R, COMMITTEES:
N0 DisTRICY, TENNESSEE. TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE

SURCOMMITTEES:
HiGhways anp TransT—~Rankvg Memaes
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SEERESEST Congress of the Anited States e
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Aouse of Representatives suncouvrss:
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14 2 {8 23-3772 PHONE: [865) 984-5484
o ey bor ooms Fasc 965) 984.0521 OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNMENT REFORM
March 23, 2009 SUBCOMMITTEES:

NATIONAL SECURITY AND FOREIGN AFFAINS
GOVERNMENT MANAGEMENT, ORGANIZATION,
§ EAST MADISON AVENUE COURTHOUSE AND PROCLREMENT
Arnens, TN 373034297
PronE: (423) 7454671
Fax: {423) 745-6025
The Honorable Spencer Bachus
Ranking Member
House Committee on Financial Services
B37la Rayburn House Office Building

Washington, D.C. 20515
Dear Ranking Member Bachus:

As you prepare for your upcoming hearing, “Increased Credit vs.
Lending Standards,” I would like to call to your attention a
letter I recently sent to the top four federal banking and
financial industry regulators - the Federal Reserve, the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the 0Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (0CC), and the COffice of Thrift
Supervision {0TS). I am enclosing a copy of one of these
letters.

I am not opposed to bank regulators and examiners doing their
jobs, but they need to be reasonable and do their part in
allowing banks and other lenders to make loans. It is very
simple ~ banks need to be lending and businesses and individuals
need the loans to get our struggling economy back on track.

I appreciate your consideration of these matters and I hope that
you will keep my thoughts in mind during your upcoming Committee

hearing.

With kindest regards, I am

Yours truly,

JIb:lp

E-MAIL: www.house.goviwritered PRINTED ON RECYCLED PAPER HTTPdAwww.housa.goviduncar/
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Response to questions from the Honorable Alan Grayson
by Martin J. Gruenberg, Vice Chairman,
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Q1. How many new bank charters have you issued since January 1, 2009?

Al. While the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Office of Thrift
Supervision, and the various State Authorities hold the authority to grant bank or thrift
charters, the FDIC is solely authorized to make determinations regarding deposit
insurance. The table below presents the number of deposit insurance applications
approved during 2006, 2007, 2008, and through March 31, 2009. The table aiso includes
information regarding the number of approved applications that have consummated since
approval; for ease of comparison, the number of applications consummated is attributed
to the year the respective applications were approved rather than the year consummated.

Deposit Insurance Applications
2006 2007 2008 3/31/2009
Approved 183 191 101 7
Consummated 183 186 79 2

Q2. What are you doing to make sure that developers who hold land loans and
inventory and are current on all their interest charges are not forced to pay down
principal before the properties are sold or developed?

A2. The FDIC understands the strain that builders and developers are under during this
challenging environment, and we have encouraged banks to work with these borrowers
given the sluggish demand for real estate at this time. Over the past year, we have issued
guidance to FDIC-supervised institutions encouraging them to continue making loans
available to creditworthy borrowers and to work with borrowers experiencing difficulty.
The following directives issued to FDIC-supervised institutions are attached to this
document:

FDIC Financial Institution Letter 128-08, Interagency Statement on Meeting the Needs of
Creditworthy Borrowers
http://www.fdic. gov/news/mews/financial/2008/£i108128 html

FDIC Financial Institution Letter 22-08, Managing Commercial Real Estate
Concentrations in a Challenging Environment
http://www.fdic.gov/news/news/financial/2008/{1108022 htm]
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FDIC

Federai Deposit insurance Corporation
550 17th Street NW, Washington, D.C. 20429-9930

Financial Institution Letter
FiL-128-2008
November 12, 2008

INTERAGENCY STATEMENT ON MEETING THE NEEDS OF
CREDITWORTHY BORROWERS

Summary: The FDIC joined the other federal banking agencies in issuing the attached “Interagency
Statement on Meeting the Needs of Creditworthy Borrowers” on November 12, 2008.

Distribution:
FDIC-Supervised Institutions

Suggested Routing:
Chief Executive Officer
Senior Credit Officer

Attachment:
“Interagency Statement on Meeting the
Needs of Creditworthy Borrowers™

Contact:

Institution’s contact person {Case Manager
or Field Supervisor) at applicable FDIC
Regional Office, or Associate Director
Steven D. Fritts in Washington at 202.898-
3723 and oy

Note:
FDIC financial institution letters (FILs) may
be accessed from the FDIC's Web site at

Gy Ty < GDEN

il

To receive Fi

Ls efectronically, please visit

Paper copies of FDIC financial institution
letters may be obtained through the
FDIC's Public Information Center, 3501
Fairfax Drive, E-1002, Adington, VA
22226,

Highlights:

Several federal programs have recently been instituted to promote
financial stability and mitigate the effects of current market conditions on
insured depository institutions. These efforts are designed to improve the
functioning of credit markets and strengthen capital in our financial
system to improve banks' capacity to engage in prudent lending during
these times of economic distress.

The agencies expect all banking organizations fo fulfilf their fundamentai
role in the economy as intermediaries of credit to businesses, consumers,
and other creditworthy borrowers. Lending to creditworthy borrowers
provides sustainable returns for the organization and is constructive for
the economy as a whole.

The agencies urge all lenders and servicers to adopt systematic,
proactive, and streamlined mortgage loan modification protocols and to
review troubled loans using these protocols. Lenders and servicers
should first determine whether a loan modification would enhance the net
present value of the loan before proceeding to foreclosure, and they
should ensure that loans currently in foreclosure have been subject to
such analysis.

In implementing this Statement, the FDIC encourages institutions it
supervises to:
« tend prudently and responsibly to creditworthy borrowers;
= work with borrowers to preserve homeownership and avoid
preventable foreclosures;
+ adjust dividend policies to preserve capital and lending capacity;
and
« employ compensation structures that encourage prudent lending.

State nonmember institutions’ adherence to these expectations will be
reflected in examination ratings the FDIC assigns for purposes of
assessing safety and soundness, their compliance with laws and
regulations, and their performance in meeting the requirements of the
Community Reinvestment Act (CRA).
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FDIC

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
550 17th Street NW, Washington, D.C, 20423-9390

Financial Institution Letter
FIL-22-2008
March 17, 2008

MANAGING COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE
CONCENTRATIONS IN A CHALLENGING

ENVIRONMENT

Summary: The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) is re-emphasizing the importance of
strong capital and loan loss allowance levels, and robust credit risk-management practices for state
nonmember institutions with significant commercial real estate (CRE) and construction and

development (C&D) loan concentrations.

Distribution:
FDIC-Supervised Institutions (Commercial and
Savings)

Suggested Routing:
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Lending Officer

Related Topics:
Guidance on Concentralions in CRE Lending
Interagency Statement on the ALLL

Attachment:
Appendix

Contact:
Sr. Examination Specialist William R. Baxter
32, 202.898.8514

Note:
FDIC financial institution letters (FiLs) may be
accessed from the FDIC's Web site at

ST aces bl

To receive FiLs electronically, please visit

dasorintions bl

Paper copies of FDIC financial institution letters
may be obtained through the FDIC's Public
Information Center, 3501 Fairfax Drive, £-1002,
Ardington, VA 22226 (1-877-275-3342 or 703-562-
2200}

Highlights:

The FDIC is issuing this FIL to re-emphasize the
importance of strong capital and loan loss
allowance levels, and robust credit risk-
management practices for institutions with
concentrated CRE exposures, consistent with the
December 6, 2008, interagency guidance on CRE
lending and the December 13, 20086, interagency
policy statement on the allowance for ioan and
lease losses {(ALLL).

Institutions with significant CRE concentrations
should consult the 2006 CRE and ALLL guidance
and should maintain or implement processes to:

> increase or maintain strong capital levels,

» Ensure that loan loss allowances are
appropriately strong ,

» Manage C&D and CRE ioan portfolios
closely,

> Maintain updated financial and analytical

information, and
» Bolster the loan workout infrastructure.

institutions are encouraged ‘o continue making
C&D and CRE credit available in their
communities using prudent lending standards.
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Financial Institution Letter
FIL-22-2008
March 17, 2008

Managing Commercial Real Estate Concentrations
in a Challenging Environment

Recent weakness in the housing and the construction and development (C&D) markets have
increased the FDIC’s overall concern for state nonmember institutions with concentrations in
commercial real estate (CRE) loans, and in particular, C&D loans. The purpose of this Financial
Institution Letter is to re-emphasize the importance of strong capital and loan loss allowance
levels, robust credit risk-management practices, and to recommend several key risk-management
processes to help institutions manage CRE loan concentrations in this challenging environment.

On December 6, 2006, the FDIC joined the Federal Reserve Board and the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (the agencics) in issuing final guidance on CRE entitled
Concentrations in Commercial Real Estate Lending, Sound Risk Management Practices (CRE
Guidance). It was intended to help ensure that institutions pursuing a significant commercial real
estate lending strategy remain healthy and profitable while continuing to serve the credit needs of
the community. The CRE Guidance provided a framework for assessing CRE concentrations;
risk management, including board and management oversight, portfolio management,
management information systems, market analysis and stress testing, underwriting and credit risk
review; and supervisory oversight, including CRE concentration management and an assessment
of capital adequacy. The CRE Guidance was issued at a time when there was abundant liquidity
in the credit markets, a strong global economy, and a number of what became known as “hot real
estate markets” in major metropolitan areas. These factors led to a significant increase in CRE
lending, especially in the C&D sector. The favorable market conditions led to relatively low
borrowing costs, an overall boom in construction and sales activity, particularly in the residential
and condominium sectors, and many institutions chose to relax loan terms and covenants to
compete in the CRE mortgage market.

In addition, on December 13, 2006, the agencies and the Office of Thrift Supervision issued an
Interagency Policy Statement on the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses (ALLL Policy
Statement) to revise and replace a 1993 policy statement on this subject. The ALLL Policy
Staterment reiterates key concepts and requirements pertaining to the allowance for loan and lease
losses (ALLL) included in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and existing
supervisory guidance. [t describes the nature and purpose of the ALLL; the responsibilities of
boards of directors, management, and examiners; factors to be considered in the estimation of the
ALLL; and the objectives and elements of an effective loan review system, including a sound
credit grading system. The ALLL Policy Statement notes that determining the appropriate level
for the ALLL is inevitably imprecise and requires a high degree of management judgment. An
institution’s process for determining the ALLL should be based on a comprehensive, well-
documented, and consistently applied analysis of its loan portfolio that considers all significant
factors that affect collectibility. That analysis should include an assessment of changes in
economic conditions and collateral values and their direct impact on credit quality. If declining
credit quality trends relevant to the types of loans in an institution’s portfolio are evident, the
ALLL level as a percentage of the portfolio should generally increase, barring unusual charge-off’
activity.
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Since the CRE Guidance and ALLL Policy Statement were issued, market conditions have
weakened, most notably in the C&D sector. The housing market is experiencing a slowdown,
credit market liquidity has deteriorated, lending terms have tightened, and certain residential
markets in the United States are overbuilt. While the vast majority of FDIC-insured
institutions are well-capitalized, some institutions have significant CRE concentrations in areas
with surplus housing units amid declining home prices. In addition, examiners have noted a
few instances of potential underwriting weakness whereby institutions are inappropriately
adding extra interest reserves on loans where the underlying real estate project is not
performing as expected. This practice can erode collateral protection and mask loans that
would otherwise be reported as delinquent.

The FDIC is increasingly concerned that institutions with concentrated CRE exposures may be
vulnerable to a sustained downturn in real estate and should ensure that capital and ALLL levels
are strong, and that credit risk management and workout processes are robust. It is strongly
recommended that, as market conditions warrant, institutions with CRE concentrations
(particularly in C&D lending) should increase capital to provide ample protection from
unexpected losses if market conditions deteriorate further.

Recommendations for Managing CRE Concentrations

Institutions with significant CRE concentrations are reminded that strong capital and ALLL
levels are needed, and that overall credit risk-management processes should reflect the principles
of the 2006 CRE Guidance. Institutions with significant CRE concentrations are described in the
CRE Guidance as those institutions reporting loans for construction, land development, and other
land representing 100 percent or more of Total Capital; or institutions reporting total CRE loans
representing 300 percent or more of Total Capital where the outstanding balance of CRE has
increased by 50 percent or more during the prior 36 months.'

The FDIC suggests five key risk management processes to help institutions with significant C&D
and CRE concentrations manage through changes in market conditions:

1. Inmcrease or Maintain Strong Capital Levels — Capital provides institutions
with protection against unexpected losses, particularly in stressed markets.
Institutions with significant C&D and CRE exposures may require more
capital because of uncertainty about market conditions, causing an elevated
risk of unexpected losses. As market conditions warrant, directorates and
management should take steps to increase capital levels to support significant
CRE concentrations. Capital protection for C&D and CRE concentrations
should be a strategic priority when contemplating the declaration of cash
dividends.

2. Ensure that Loan Loss Allowances are Appropriately Strong — Institutions
are expected to determine their ALLL in accordance with GAAP, their stated
policies and procedures, management’s best judgment, and relevant
supervisory guidance. At least quarterly, institutions should analyze the
collectibility of CRE and all other exposures and maintain an ALLL at a level
that is appropriate to cover estimated credit losses on individually evaluated
loans that are determined to be impaired as well as estimated credit losses in

! For the purposes of this FIL, C&D and CRE concentrations have the same meaning as stated in the CRE
Guidance,
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the remainder of the loan portfolio. In reviewing their ALLL methodology,
institutions with significant C&D and CRE concentrations should consult
recent supervisory guidance.’

3. Manage C&D and CRE Loan Portfolios Closely — Institutions should
maintain prudent, time-tested lending policies and understand C&D and CRE
concentrations. Management information systems should provide the board
and management with effective data resources on concentrations levels and
market conditions. A strong credit review and risk rating system that
identifies deteriorating credit trends early should be enhanced or implemented.
Institutions should also effectively manage interest reserve and loan extension
accommodations, reflecting the borrower’s condition accurately in loan
ratings and documented reviews.

4. Maintain Updated Financial and Analytical Information — Institutions

with CRE concentrations should maintain recent borrower financial
statements, including property cash flow statements, rent rolls, guarantor
personal statements, tax return data, global builder and other income property
performance information. Global financial analysis of obligors should be
emphasized, as well as the concentration of individual builders or developers
in a loan portfolio. As real estate market conditions change, management
should consider the continued relevance of appraisals performed during high
growth periods, and update appraisal reports as necessary.

5. Bolster the Loan Workout Infrastructure — [nstitutions should ensure they
have sufficient staff and appropriate skill sets to properly manage an increase
in problem loans and workouts. Management should develop a ready network
of legal, appraisal, real estate brokerage, and property management
professionals to handle additional prospective workouts.

The FDIC believes that CRE can be a profitable business line for institutions; however, as with
any asset exposure, significant concentrations can lead to losses and capital deficiencies in a
stressed environment. The Corporation’s examiners recognize the challenges facing institutions
in the current CRE environment, and will expect each board of directors and management team
to strive for strong capital and loan loss allowance levels, and implement robust credit risk-
management practices. Institutions are encouraged to continue making C&D and CRE credit
available in their communities using prudent, time-tested lending standards that rely on strong
underwriting and loan administration practices.

Sandra L. Thompson
Director
Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection

? Institutions should refer to the ALLL Policy Statement, and the July 6, 2001, Policy Statement on Allowance
Jor Loan and Lease Losses Methodologies and Documentation for Institutions and Savings Institutions.

> All appraisals should be consistent with the FDIC’s appraisal rules in Part 323 of the FDIC's Rules and
Regulations, 12 CFR 323.
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APPENDIX

The following guidance and information should be consulted for additional details about
matters discussed in this Financial Institution Letter.

Supervision

e Concentrations in Commercial Real Estate Lending, Sound Risk Management
Practices, December 6, 2006,

e [nteragency Policy Statement on the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses,
December 13, 2006, hup: wiwvw. fdic govinews news press/ 2006/ pr6 LS himd

e Policy Statement on Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses Methodologies and
Documentation for Institutions and Savings Institutions, July 6, 2001,
hups www [diceovinewsnews financl 200 06101603 hund
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Response to questions from the Honorable Erik Paulsen
by Martin J. Gruenberg, Vice Chairman,
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

1t is my understanding that discussions are underway between the FDIC and the
SEC staffs seeking to resolve issues associated with the ability of broker-dealers to
invest client cash held in Special Reserve Accounts in the Temporary Liquidity
Guarantee Program (TLGP) Notes. This type of multi-agency collaboration can
result in constructive solutions so critical as we address the economic challenges
facing our nation. For instance, the SEC affirming that TLGP Notes are qualified
securities and eligible for investment of Broker-Dealers’ Special Reserve Accounts
will provide additional earning with minimal risk for these financial institutions
while enhancing the market for insured institutions’ debt. I believe this is consistent
with the FDIC’s ongoing stabilization initiatives.

1 am hopeful [the FDIC and the SEC] can quickly expedite a favorable resolution on
this matter.

Q1: Do you concur? When do you think we could expect a resolution on this
matter?

Q2: What other steps need to be taken/who else needs to be involved?

Q3: Could you please keep me apprised as this issue progresses?

Answer: Thank you for your interest in the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s
Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program (TLGP). As you noted, staff members from
both the FDIC and the SEC have been discussing whether debt securities guaranteed by
the FDIC under the TLGP constitute a “qualified security” for purposes of SEC Rule
15¢3-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our understanding, based on
discussions with staff of the SEC’s Division of Trading and Markets, is that registered
broker-dealers are required to maintain special reserve accounts {(SRAs) for the benefit of
their customers, and that such SRAs are required to consist of cash and “qualified
securities.” Qualified securities include securities issued by the United States and
securitics “in respect of which principal and interest are guaranteed by the United States.”
The FDIC has been responding to the SEC’s questions concerning the TLGP, including
questions concerning the operation of the FDIC’s guarantee, the risk-based capital
treatment afforded to FDIC-guaranteed debt, and how payment would be made in the
event of default. While the FDIC recognizes that it is up to the SEC to interpret its own
statute and regulations, the FDIC is hopeful that the SEC and the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority, the self-regulatory organization for securities firms, will agree that
FDIC-guaranteed debt constitutes a qualified security and that broker-dealers will
therefore be permitted to keep a significant percentage of their SRAs in FDIC-guaranteed
debt.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS
OF THE

FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM
WASHINGTON, D. €. 20551

ELIZABETH A QUKE

March 30,2009 MEMBER OF THE BOAROD

The Honorable Bill Posey
House of Representatives
Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Congressman:

1 am writing to provide further clarification about the approval process for new bank
charters that you raised during the recent hearing on “Exploring the Balance between Increased
Credit Availability and Prudent Lending Standards” before the U.S. House Financial Services
Committee.

While the Federal Reserve does not issue bank charters, it does approve Federal Reserve
System membership applications associated with new bank charters. Generally, our analysis is
completed within 60 days. However, the Federal Reserve does not issue an approval until the
chartering aunthority (State Banking Agency for state charters, or the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency or the Office of Thrift Supervision for national charters) has issued a preliminary
approval and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) has indicated that it will grant
approval of the related insurance application.

In normal times, the chartering process can take from nine months to a year but recently
with the economic downturn, the processing of new bank charters has taken considerably longer.
The Federal Reserve approved five membership applications associated with de novo banks in
2008 and one in 2009. Currently, there are four pending membership applications associated
with de novo banks.

You may be interested to know that a new expedited process has been established for
organizations that do not currently own a bank to apply for a “shelf charter.” This is an inactive
charter that can be used to bid on failing banks. If a shelf charter wins a bid it becomes active
when it acquires the failing bank.

The chartering agencies, FDIC and the Federal Reserve have been closely coordinating
on these proposals so that a shelf charter can be issued in 45-60 days due to the overriding public
benefit associated with a failing bank acquisition. A formal bank holding company application is
not required to establish a shelf charter as it is not an active bank. However, we do receive
information regarding the ownership structure of the organization and its proposed business plan
in order to identify and resolve any potential issues. The Federal Reserve would receive a bank
holding company application if the shelf charter wins a bid on a failing bank. Due to the nature
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The Honorable Bill Posey
Page Two

of the bidding process, we usually have two to three days in which to act on the application so
that is why we try to work out any potential issues during the processing of the shelf charter.

I hope that this clarification is helpful to you. Please let me, or Federal Reserve staff,
know if you need further information.

Sincerely,

W@M
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